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EXPLANATORY NOTE

 
Due to certain circumstances related to COVID-19, on March 27, 2020, we filed a Current Report on Form 8-K to avail our company of an extension to file this Annual

Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”), which was originally due on March 30, 2020. Specifically, we relied on an order issued on March 25, 2020 (which extended and
superseded a prior order issued on March 4, 2020) by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), pursuant to Section 36 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (Release No. 34-88465) (the “Order”), regarding exemptions granted to certain public companies. The Order allows a registrant up to an additional 45 days after the
original due date of certain reports required to be filed with the SEC if a registrant’s ability to file such report timely is affected due to COVID-19.

 
As previously announced in our Notification of Late Filing on Form 12b-25, which was filed with the SEC on May 14, 2020, this Annual Report could not be filed within

the 45-day extension provided by the Order without unreasonable effort and expense. The five acquisitions completed by our subsidiary, ComSovereign Corp., as a privately-held
company in 2019, required complex outside valuations and purchase price allocations in order to comply with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“U.S.
GAAP”). This involved considerable effort, time and expense outside the normal course of our annual public company accounting and reporting practices. These complexities were
further compounded by the delays and challenges caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on our day-to-day operations, including limited access to our facilities and
limited support from our staff and professional advisors. In light of the above, we required additional time beyond the initial 45-day extension to review and prepare certain
information for our audited financial statements, but were unable to file this Annual Report within the time period permitted by SEC Rule 12b-25.
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

 
This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”) contains “forward-looking statements” that represent our beliefs, projections and predictions about future

events. From time to time in the future, we may make additional forward-looking statements in presentations, at conferences, in press releases, in other reports and filings and
otherwise. Forward-looking statements are all statements other than statements of historical fact, including statements that refer to plans, intentions, objectives, goals, targets,
strategies, hopes, beliefs, projections, prospects, expectations or other characterizations of future events or performance, and assumptions underlying the foregoing. The words
“may,” “could,” “should,” “would,” “will,” “project,” “intend,” “continue,” “believe,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “forecast,” “expect,” “plan,” “potential,” “opportunity,”
“scheduled,” “goal,” “target,” and “future,” variations of such words, and other comparable terminology and similar expressions and references to future periods are often, but not
always, used to identify forward-looking statements. Examples of forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about the following: 

 
 ● our prospects, including our future business, revenues, expenses, net income, earnings per share, gross margins, profitability, cash flows, cash position, liquidity,

financial condition and results of operations, backlog of orders and revenue, our targeted growth rate, our goals for future revenues and earnings, and our
expectations about realizing the revenues in our backlog and in our sales pipeline;

 
 ● the potential impact of COVID-19 on our business and results of operations;

 
 ● the effects on our business, financial condition and results of operations of current and future economic, business, market and regulatory conditions, including the

current economic and market conditions and their effects on our customers and their capital spending and ability to finance purchases of our products, services,
technologies and systems;

 
 ● the effects of fluctuations in sales on our business, revenues, expenses, net income, earnings per share, margins, profitability, cash flows, capital expenditures,

liquidity, financial condition and results of operations;
 

 ● our products, services, technologies and systems, including their quality and performance in absolute terms and as compared to competitive alternatives, their
benefits to our customers and their ability to meet our customers’ requirements, and our ability to successfully develop and market new products, services,
technologies and systems;

 
 ● our markets, including our market position and our market share;

 
 ● our ability to successfully develop, operate, grow and diversify our operations and businesses;

 
 ● our business plans, strategies, goals and objectives, and our ability to successfully achieve them;

 
 ● the sufficiency of our capital resources, including our cash and cash equivalents, funds generated from operations, availability of borrowings under our credit and

financing arrangements and other capital resources, to meet our future working capital, capital expenditure, lease and debt service and business growth needs;
 

 ● the value of our assets and businesses, including the revenues, profits and cash flows they are capable of delivering in the future;
 

 ● the effects on our business operations, financial results, and prospects of business acquisitions, combinations, sales, alliances, ventures and other similar business
transactions and relationships;

 
 ● industry trends and customer preferences and the demand for our products, services, technologies and systems; and

 
 ● the nature and intensity of our competition, and our ability to successfully compete in our markets.

 
These statements are necessarily subjective, are based upon our current plans, intentions, objectives, goals, strategies, beliefs, projections and expectations, and involve

known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other important factors that could cause our actual results, performance or achievements, or industry results, to differ materially from
any future results, performance or achievements described in or implied by such statements. Actual results may differ materially from expected results described in our forward-
looking statements, including with respect to correct measurement and identification of factors affecting our business or the extent of their likely impact, the accuracy and
completeness of the publicly-available information with respect to the factors upon which our business strategy is based, or the success of our business. Furthermore, industry
forecasts are likely to be inaccurate, especially over long periods of time. Factors that may cause actual results, our performance or achievements, or industry results to differ
materially from those contemplated by such forward-looking statements include, without limitation, those discussed in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” of this Annual Report.  

 
Forward-looking statements should not be read as a guarantee of future performance or results and will not necessarily be accurate indications of whether, or the times by

which, our performance or results may be achieved. Forward-looking statements are based on information available at the time those statements are made and management’s belief
as of that time with respect to future events and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual performance or results to differ materially from those expressed in or
suggested by the forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause such differences include, but are not limited to, those factors discussed in “Item 1A. Risk
Factors” of this Annual Report and elsewhere in this Annual Report.
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PART I

 
Item 1. Business

 
Overview

 
COMSovereign Holding Corp. (together with its subsidiaries, the “Company,” “we,” “our,” “us” or “our company”) is a provider of technologically-advanced telecom

solutions to network operators, mobile device carriers, governmental units and other enterprises worldwide. We have assembled a portfolio of communications, power and niche
technologies, capabilities and products that enable the upgrading of latent 3G networks to 4G and 4G-LTE networks and will facilitate the rapid roll out of the 5G and “next-
Generation” (“nG”) networks of the future. We focus on special capabilities, including signal modulations, antennae, software, hardware and firmware technologies that enable
increasingly efficient data transmission across the radio-frequency spectrum. Our product solutions are complemented by a broad array of services, including technical support,
systems design and integration, and sophisticated research and development programs. While we compete globally on the basis of our innovative technology, broad product
offerings, high-quality and cost-effective customer solutions, as well as the scale of our global customer base and distribution, our primary focus is on the North American telecom
infrastructure and service market. In addition, we believe we are in a unique position to rapidly increase our near-term domestic sales as we are among the few U.S.-based providers
of telecommunications equipment and services.

 
We provide the following categories of product offerings and solutions to our customers:

 
● Telecom and Network Products and Solutions. We design, develop, market and sell technologically-advanced products for telecom network operators, mobile

device carriers and other enterprises, including the following:
 

● Backhaul Telecom Radios. We offer a line of high-capacity packet microwave solutions that drive next-generation IP networks. Our carrier-grade point-to-
point packet microwave systems transmit broadband voice, video and data, enabling service providers, government agencies, enterprises and other
organizations to meet their increasing bandwidth requirements rapidly and affordably. The principal application of our product portfolio is wireless network
backhaul, including a range of products ideally suited to support the emergence of underlying small cell networks. Additional solutions include leased-line
replacement, last mile fiber extension and enterprise networks. 

 
● In-Band Full-Duplex Technologies. We have developed proprietary wireless transmission technologies that alleviate the performance limitations of the

principal transmission technologies used by most networks today. Time Division Duplex (TDD) transmission technology used by many communications
systems utilizes a single channel for transmission of data alternating between downlink or uplink, which limits capacity/throughput. Frequency Division
Duplex (FDD) technologies in the marketplace today use two independent channels for downlink and uplink but require twice the spectrum. Neither TDD nor
FDD can simultaneously transmit and receive on a single channel - a limitation that network advancements and 5G will require for optimal performance. In
early 2021, we intend to commence offering products incorporating our proprietary In-Band Full-Duplex technologies that simultaneously transmit and
receive data on a single channel, which resolves the limitation of current TDD and FDD transmissions by increasing network performance
and doubling spectrum efficiency.

 
● Intelligent Batteries and Back-Up Power Solutions. We are developing for the telecom industry a full line of environmentally-friendly, non-volatile advanced

intelligent lithium ion batteries and back-up power units that charge quickly, have a life span approximately five times longer than conventional lead-acid
batteries and can be monitored remotely. We are also currently offering and developing models that provide power for a wide range of applications, including
cellular towers and other radio access network (RAN) infrastructures, automobiles, boats, spacecraft and other vehicles.

 
● Tethered Drones and Aerostats. We design, manufacture, sell and provide logistical services for specialized tethered aerial monitoring and communications

platforms serving national defense and security customers for use in applications such as intelligence, surveillance and reconnaissance (“ISR”) and
communications. We focus primarily on the development of a tethered aerostat known as the Winch Aerostat Small Platform (“WASP”), which is principally
designed for military and security applications where they can provide secure and reliable aerial monitoring for extended durations while being tethered to the
ground via a high-strength armored tether.
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We are also developing processes that we believe will significantly advance the state-of-the-art in silicon photonic (SiP) devices for use in advanced data interconnects,

communication networks and computing systems. We believe our novel approach will allow us to overcome the limitations of current SiP modulators, dramatically increase
computing bandwidth and reduce drive power while offering lower operating costs.

 
Our engineering and management teams have extensive experience in optical systems and networking, digital signal processing, large-scale application-specific integrated

circuit (ASIC) design and verification, SiP design and integration, system software development, hardware design, high-speed electronics design and network planning,
installation, maintenance and servicing. This broad expertise in a wide range of advanced technologies, methodologies and processes enhances our innovation, design and
development capabilities, and has enabled us, and we believe will continue to enable us, to develop and introduce future-generation communications and computing technologies.
In the course of our product development cycles, we engage with our customers as they design their current and next-generation network equipment in order to gauge current and
future market needs.

 
Our more than 700 customers include a majority of the leading global telecommunication operators, as well as many data center managers and leading multi-system

operators (MSOs), and hundreds of enterprise customers, including many Fortune 500 companies. We have long-standing, direct relationships with our customers and serve them
through a direct sales force and a global network of channel partners.
 
Recent Developments

 
On November 27, 2019, we completed the acquisition (the “ComSovereign Acquisition”) of COMSovereign Corp. (“ComSovereign”) in a stock-for-stock transaction with a

total purchase price of approximately $75 million. Management expects our combined company to drive profitable growth in new markets, help shape the future of wireless
communications and be in a position to benefit from key industry trends, including network convergence, fiber and mobility everywhere, 5G infrastructures, Internet of Things
(IoT) and rapidly-changing network and technology architectures. The ComSovereign Acquisition was treated as a reverse merger for accounting purposes with ComSovereign as
the accounting acquirer and our company as the accounting acquiree. As such, the operations of ComSovereign are included in our consolidated operating results for fiscal 2019
from the date of its incorporation (January 10, 2019) through December 31, 2019. The operations of our pre-acquisition business are included in our consolidated operating results
from the date of acquisition of ComSovereign, November 27, 2019. In addition, on November 30, 2019 we changed our corporate name to “COMSovereign Holding Corp.” For
discussion of our financial results, see Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report.

 
On May 21, 2020, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization dated as of May 21, 2020 among our company and our wholly-owned

subsidiaries, CHC Merger Sub 7, Inc. and VNC Acquisition LLC, Virtual Network Communications Inc., a Virginia corporation (“VNC”), and Mohan Tammisetti, solely in his
capacity as the representative of the security holders of VNC, pursuant to which, subject to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement and as part of a two-step merger
transaction, we have agreed to acquire VNC.  VNC is an EDGE telecom access radio developer and provider of both 4G LTE/Advanced and 5G capable radio equipment.
Additionally, VNC has virtualized and patented an entire LTE Advanced network core solution that we believe eliminates much of the costly backbone equipment of telecom
networks. VNC also has developed and is currently selling a rapidly-deployable network system that can be combined with the tethered aerostats and drones offered by our Drone
Aviation subsidiary and enabled and operated in nearly any location in the world.
 

Our proposed acquisition of VNC is subject to the condition that we raise at least $3 million of gross proceeds from the sale of our equity or debt securities and certain
other customary closing conditions.  Additional information regarding our proposed acquisition of VNC is set forth in our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May
22, 2020.
 
Our Operating Units
 

Through a series of acquisitions, we and our operating subsidiaries have expanded our service offerings and geographic reach over the past two years. Our company is
comprised of the following principal operating units, each of which was acquired to address a different opportunity or element of the North American telecom infrastructure and
service market:

 
● DragonWave-X LLC. DragonWave-X, LLC and its operating subsidiaries, DragonWave Corp. and DragonWave-X Canada, Inc. (collectively, “DragonWave”), a

Dallas-based manufacturer of high-capacity microwave and millimeter point-to-point telecom backhaul radio units, was acquired by ComSovereign in April 2019.
DragonWave and its predecessor have been selling telecom backhaul radios since 2012 and its microwave radios have been installed in over 330,000 locations in
more than 100 countries worldwide. According to a report of the U.S. Federal Communications Commission, as of December 2019, DragonWave was the second
largest provider of licensed point-to-point microwave backhaul radios in North America.
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● Drone Aviation. Lighter Than Air Systems Corp., which does business under the name Drone Aviation (“Drone Aviation”), is based in Jacksonville, Florida and

develops and manufactures cost-effective, compact and enhanced tethered unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs), including lighter-than-air aerostats and drones that
support surveillance sensors and communications networks. We acquired Drone Aviation in June 2014.

 
● InduraPower, Inc. InduraPower Inc. (“InduraPower”) is a Tucson, Arizona-based developer and manufacturer of intelligent batteries and back-up power

supplies for network systems and telecom nodes. It also provides power designs and batteries for the aerospace, marine and automotive industries.
ComSovereign acquired InduraPower in January 2019.
 

● Silver Bullet Technology, Inc. Silver Bullet Technology, Inc. (“Silver Bullet”) is a California-based engineering firm that designs and develops next generation
network systems and components, including large-scale network protocol development, software-defined radio systems and wireless network designs.
ComSovereign acquired Silver Bullet in March 2019.
 

● Lextrum, Inc. Lextrum, Inc. (“Lextrum”) is a Tucson, Arizona-based developer of full-duplex wireless technologies and components, including multi-
reconfigurable radio frequency (RF) antennae and software programs. This technology enables the doubling of a given spectrum band by allowing simultaneous
transmission and receipt of radio signals on the same frequencies. ComSovereign acquired Lextrum in April 2019.
 

● VEO (“VEO”), based in San Diego, California, is a research and development company innovating SiP technologies for use in copper-to-fiber-to-copper
switching, high-speed computing, high-speed ethernet, autonomous vehicle applications, mobile devices and 5G wireless equipment. ComSovereign acquired
VEO in January 2019.
 

● Sovereign Plastics LLC. Sovereign Plastics LLC (“Sovereign Plastics”), based in Colorado Springs, Colorado, operates as the material, component
manufacturing and supply chain source for all of our subsidiaries, and also provides plastic and metal components to third-party manufacturers. Its ability to
rapidly prototype new product offerings and machine moldings, metals and plastic castings has reduced the production cycle for many of our components from
months to days. We acquired the business currently conducted by Sovereign Plastics in March 2020.
 

Our Industry
 

We participate in the large and growing global market for connectivity and essential communications infrastructure. This market is being driven by the growth in demand
for data-intensive bandwidth and the necessity for reduced latency (the time it takes to send data from one point to another) associated with the continued demand of
smartphones, tablets and machine-to-machine (M2M) communication, as well as the proliferation of data centers, big data, cloud-based services, streaming media content and IoT.
In addition, video and gaming distribution over the broadband IP network is transforming how content is managed and consumed overall. This increase in data usage and demand
is taxing available broadband of many service providers, which requires far more efficient technologies to meet demand. For example, in reaction to the COVID-19 pandemic, Netflix
reduced the quality of videos from high definition to standard definition in order to free up additional bandwidth required by workers performing online functions from their homes.
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Today’s cellular networks are predominantly based on 4G technologies. These networks constantly undergo expansion of coverage and densification with additional sites

to cater to higher demands for speeds and to make more services available per given area. According to recent publications and as of the fourth quarter 2019, 33 operators across
18 countries, representing 8% of the global mobile connections base (excluding cellular IoT), have launched commercial 5G mobile services, and 77 operators have announced
plans to launch 5G services in the coming months. These investments in 5G radio network infrastructure, and consequently, associated wireless data hauling, are expected to
gradually increase during the next several years. In order to allocate spectrum resources for 4G and 5G, some operators are shutting down their 2G and/or 3G network (a “network
sunset”) in order to re-allocate radio access network frequency bands to 4.5 and 5G services. These market dynamics of network expansion and densification have resulted in
higher demand for wireless hauling capacity at increased density, requiring more sophisticated services over the network at far higher volumes than were available in recent years.
Such services include the many 5G use cases, which among others, include enhanced mobile broadband, mission critical services, IoT and Industrial IoT, gigabit broadband to
homes, multi gigabits services to enterprises and more.

 
The term “5G” is misunderstood by most consumers who believe it is simply another layer of technology over the top of current 4G LTE infrastructures. However, this is

not the case. While 4G LTE Advanced is a part of a large platform upon which 5G rests, according to many industry studies, significantly more 4G LTE/A will be required before 5G
becomes a reality. 5G is an entirely new infrastructure that must be standardized for widespread adoption and must be agile enough to accommodate wireless devices of all kinds,
not just cellular smartphones. This new 5G “IoT” will enable the connection of the internet to telemedical devices, gaming, video and television, smart-home devices, such as
thermostats, alarms, lighting and garage doors, smartphones, driverless cars and traffic signals, laptops, desktops, Wi-Fi, logistic reporting devices on semi-tractor trucks and
trains and a plethora of other use cases. It must do so seamlessly and with a fraction of the current “round-trip” response time of data. This requires that data centers be closer to
this “edge” where the devices connect to the wireless small cells. As a result, data centers and many of the other functions will require virtualization and eventually artificial
intelligence (AI) algorithms and machine learning to route data requests to these virtualized data centers to keep latency to a minimum.

 
There are several major trends that we expect to drive network deployments and investment. The GSM Association (“GSMA”), a mobile telecom association to which

most large infrastructure participants and mobile carriers are members, nearly mirrors our findings and impressions in its report on the state of mobile internet connectivity. Many of
these trends and findings follow.

 
The Challenges of Connectedness

 
It is said in business that to remain static is to die. To understand the need for technological advancements and infrastructure growth in the cellular telecommunications

industry, one must first understand the market factors driving these changes. In 2018, nearly 300 million people connected to mobile internet data for the first time. This increased
the total number of internet connected users to more than 3.5 billion people worldwide. This type of connectivity now drives the global economy as more and more diverse
commerce is conducted through wireless data access. However, since lower-income countries and regions have only approximately 40% of their population connected to the
internet compared to 75% in high-income regions, these lower income areas are finding it increasingly difficult to raise their social and economic status. Getting these deficient
regions (and the approximately 4 billion people inhabiting those regions who are unable to connect to the internet) connected is only one challenge. The other and equally difficult
challenge is the density of urban areas in the higher income areas and the sophistication of the electronic communications and computing devices in those areas that require
increasingly faster data. We are targeting both challenges by providing economical solutions and infrastructure building blocks to lower-income geographic areas around the
world, while leading the world in innovative new technologies to make the realization of 5G and nG a reality.

 
Evolving Network Architecture and Technology
 

The pace of change in networking has increased in recent years as consumers and data-driven businesses utilize more bandwidth with increasingly-complex mobile and
connected devices. Cellular networks are now experiencing exponential growth in network infrastructures, which is revolutionizing how consumers connect to each other and
changing the network architecture needed to support consumer demand. This trend requires better network coverage, greater broadband access, increased capacity and larger data
storage capacity.
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Our customers are working to transition their networks to become faster, more responsive and more efficient. We believe the following findings will continue to impact our

company and the industry during 2020 and beyond.
 

(1) Coverage Gaps Declining: Less than 10% of people globally (approximately 750 million) now have no access to a mobile broadband network as compared to
approximately 24% only five years ago.

 
(2) Usage Gaps an Issue: Approximately 3.3 billion people live in areas in which internet coverage exists but do utilize it. In other words, the usage gap is four times

greater than the coverage gap.
 
(3) Affordability: Mobile broadband usage is becoming more affordable across all regions, but its affordability is still short of the desired 2% or less of monthly per

capita income. This cost of usage is keeping some users from participating online. There is also a perception in many low-income regions that internet usage will
not contribute enough to their security, safety and commerce to warrant the expense. In addition, device cost remains high and thus a barrier to entry.

 
(4) Prevalence of Use: Social media and instant messaging account for the majority of mobile usage. Online calls, news links, YouTube and Vimeo videos, and

gaming are the other most prevalent activities.
 
(5) Macro Level: The mobile industry contributed $4 trillion dollars to the global gross domestic product (GDP) last year (or almost 5% of the total GDP). A recent

study conducted by Dr. Raul Katz and Fernando Collorda for the International Telecommunication Union, a specialized agency of the United Nations for
information and communication technologies, concluded that a 10% increase in mobile broadband connectivity would lead to an increase in GDP of roughly 2%
in both developed and underdeveloped regions.

 
(6) Micro Level: Gallup and GSMA polls both found that mobile ownership and internet connectivity is associated with an improvement in people’s lives, as

evidence by increases in net positive emotions and average life evaluations (not the same as longevity).
 

Transition from Traditional to the IoT
 

The IoT wireless dream is evolving from an industry vision toward a tangible, next-generation wireless technology. Many operators have begun early transitions, or
perhaps more accurately – are beginning to build a framework, to operable 5G networks and have announced trials and pre-standard deployments of 5G technology. This
technology is primarily higher frequency, millimeter wave radios and higher order (more efficient) modulation methods, such as 4096 QAM. The number of 5G-enabled devices is
expected to continue to increase during 2020 and accelerate beyond that. The primary benefits of 5G are expected to include:

 
● enhanced mobile broadband to support significant improvement in data rates and user experience in both the uplink and downlink;

 
● IoT communications to support the expected billions of connections between machines as well as short bursts of information to other systems; and

 
● low latency, high-reliability to support applications that are critical or are needed in real time, like factory machines, virtual reality and augmentation.

 
Wireless operators will need to both acquire and launch new spectrum for 5G, as well as continue their strategy of re-allocation of spectrum from one generation to

another. Some of this spectrum will be at much higher frequencies and will use new technologies to deliver exceptional amounts of bandwidth to subscribers. 5G also requires
significant fiber infrastructure to connect wireless access points to each other to improve the response time of the network. As wireless operators transition toward 5G, they must
also manage the fundamental network deployment issues of site acquisition, power, backhaul and in-building wireless proliferation.

 
In addition to investment required by wireless operators, the transition to 5G could also spark an investment cycle by cable operators as they upgrade their networks to

compete with fixed wireless broadband, which could become a viable alternative to traditional broadband internet access.
 

5 



 

 
Our Growth Strategy
 

Under the leadership of our senior management team, we intend to address and exploit the large and growing market for internet connectivity and essential
communications infrastructure as we begin to build our sales, marketing and operations groups to support our planned growth while focusing on increasing operating margins
through cost control measures. While organic growth will be our primary focus in driving our business forward, we expect acquisitions and select teaming and partnering
arrangements with other companies will play a strategic role in strengthening our existing product and service lines and providing cross-selling opportunities. We are pursuing
several growth strategies, including:

 
● Continue to Innovate and Extend our Technology Leadership. Mobile broadband infrastructure innovations are required to dramatically improve the

commercial viability of both the 4G LTE and 5G buildouts. It is well documented that more 4G infrastructure is required for 5G to be viable. However, with the
huge increase in front edge access radios required for an IoT/5G buildout, relative capital costs must come down to allow data to remain affordable. This requires
doing more with less through “innovation.” We expect our continued investments in research and development will enable us to continue to provide innovative
products to the marketplace. For example, early next year we expect to roll out our initial products incorporating our patented In-Band Full-Duplex technology,
which doubles the efficiency, and as a result, the data throughput, of wireless spectrum channels. We also continue to pursue VEO’s SiP research, discoveries
and developments, which we believe will not only eliminate the current log-jam many internet providers and data centers experience by providing significantly
greater data speed and throughput in the switch that converts data bits from voltage modulations in the copper used in radios to light modulations that are used
in fiber, and vice versa, but will also form the technological basis for the future of chip-to-chip light computing.
 

● Enhance Sales Growth. We intend to generate additional growth opportunities by:
 

● Growing our customer base and geographic markets. We intend to drive new customer growth by expanding our direct sales force focused on the mobile
infrastructure markets. The initial focus of our direct sales program will be North America, with foreign sales coming through licensed channel partners and
advisory personnel. In addition, we expect to leverage our existing base of resellers and more than 700-plus existing customers to help proliferate the
knowledge globally of our technical superiorities and increase our customer base.
 

● Increasing penetration within existing customers. We plan to continue to increase our product penetration within our existing customer base by expanding
the breadth of our product and service offerings to provide for continued cross-selling opportunities. For example, while we believe DragonWave is well
known for its microwave backhaul radio products, we have recently added additional millimeter wave frequency designs that can be offered to existing
customers, as well as new customers. Similarly, we will seek to cross-sell the back-up power supply units of our InduraPower subsidiary and the rapid
deployable networks offered by our Drone Aviation subsidiary.
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● Focus on Innovation to Solve Critical Problems. We plan to build on our legacy of innovation and on our worldwide portfolio of patents and patent

applications by continuing to invest in research and development. We expect to focus on expanding the functionality of our backhaul and access equipment
products, while investing in capabilities that address new market opportunities. We believe this strategy will enable new high-growth opportunities and allow us
to continue to deliver differentiated high-value products and services to our customers. We also intend to utilize our deep industry expertise to offer unique
perspectives to solve customers’ challenges. We intend to focus our investment on high-growth markets.
 

● Become a Preferred Partner to our Customers. We plan to expand our position within the telecom industry by developing and enhancing value-creating partner
relationships with our customers, suppliers and distributors, as well as our channel and technology partners. We intend to expand these relationships by
innovating, collaborating and selling with our customers. We expect to meet our commitments and maintain our product quality while collaborating with our
customers to ensure we are providing solutions to their key network challenges.
 

● Pursue Strategic Relationships. We expect to continue to pursue strategic technology and distribution relationships, alliances and acquisitions that will help us
align with the strategic priorities of our customers. We intend to continue to invest in technologies to ensure interoperability across the ecosystems that support
our customers’ most critical business processes through our partner programs. We continue to work with current industry partners while exploring a range of
new partnerships to expand the products and services we offer.
 

● Grow Revenues and Market Share through Selective Acquisitions. We plan to continue to acquire private companies or technologies that will enhance our
earnings and offer complementary products and services or expand our geographic and industry reach. We believe such acquisitions will help us to accelerate
our revenue growth, leverage our existing strengths and capture and retain more work in-house as a prime contractor for our customers, thereby contributing to
our profitability. We also believe that increased scale will enable us to bid and take on larger contracts.

 
● Increase Operating Margins by Leveraging Operating Efficiencies. We believe that by centralizing administrative functions, consolidating insurance coverage

and eliminating redundancies across our newly-acquired businesses, we will be positioned to offer more integrated end-to-end solutions and improve operating
margins. We will also seek to reduce our manufacturing costs to increase our margins. For example, in March 2020, we acquired Sovereign Plastics, a supply
chain company that will allow us to reduce our costs for metal and plastics used in our product manufacturing by up to 45% for certain products we manufacture,
such as battery housings, and allow us to implement a just-in-time supply chain program that will significantly reduce our overall inventory sizes and hold times
for those components.
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Our Products
 

All of our products enhance or directly contribute to the overall telecommunication infrastructure, and fall within the following three product groups:
 

Micro and Millimeter Microwave Technologies and Products
 

Through our DragonWave subsidiary, we design, manufacture and sell best-in-class (as defined by power, signal efficiency and range), microwave packet radio
equipment for telecommunications and data. In addition to certain 3G legacy equipment that we offer under our Horizon-branded line of backhaul radios, we offer our Harmony-
branded line of backhaul radios that are the most data efficient in existence and offer the most powerful, longest-range solution for backhaul in the industry. The Harmony
Enhanced and the Harmony MC (for “Multi-Channel”) radios have the following characteristics:
 

● Harmony Enhanced: Our Harmony Enhanced radios are high capacity, long reach, multi-service radios operating in the 6-42 gigahertz (GHz) spectrum bands.
Each is a compact, all-outdoor radio that allows operators to cost effectively scale their networks with the industry’s leading system gain, highest spectral
efficiency and increased capacity that is enabled through 112-megahertz (MHz) channel support, 4096QAM capability, Bandwidth Accelerator+ and multiple-
input and multiple-output (MIMO).  These capabilities allow our Harmony Enhanced radios to deliver more than two billion bits per second (Gbps) in a single
radio, with scalability to four Gbps via MIMO in a single channel. Bandwidth Accelerator+ provides more than two times throughput improvements with the
inclusion of header optimization and the industry’s only bulk compression working in tandem. These radios also provide the highest output power in an all-
outdoor microwave system, and leverage generative adversarial networks (GAN) technology to increase reach by more than 30%. Additionally, integrated
ethernet switching with weighted random early detection (WRED) queuing, E-LINE and E-LAN support and upgradability to MPLS-TP, enables a true all-outdoor
installation without the need for an additional access switch. 

 
● Harmony MC: Our Harmony MC radios are high capacity packet microwave radios that build upon the Harmony Enhanced family of radios by delivering a multi-

carrier channel system and doubling the capacity available in a single microwave outdoor unit. Because the radio and modem are integrated into a single highly-
compact outdoor unit, Harmony EnhancedMC is a zero-footprint solution that eliminates rack congestion and minimizes colocation space. The ultra-high power
increases the overall system gain and allows for deployment of smaller dishes, higher order modulations or increased link availability. Our Harmony MC radios
also achieve the highest degree of spectral efficiency (through 4096 QAM, 4 x 4 MIMO and wider channels) in the marketplace, delivering more capacity per
channel with a longer reach than any other all-outdoor microwave system. Our Harmony EnhancedMC radios also deliver capacities up to four Gbps in a single
radio and eight Gbps in a single channel with MIMO or a single antenna with cross polarization interference cancellation (XPIC)

 
Engineering efforts are underway now with two additional enhancements – full-duplex and transpositional modulation waveforms that will be programmed to nearly triple

the spectral efficiency of our microwave radios, which would far exceed our competitor’s offerings. These enhancements have the following characteristics:
 

● In-Band Full-Duplex Technology: In early 2021, we expect to introduce our first microwave products incorporating our proprietary in-band full-duplex
technology that was innovated by our Lextrum subsidiary. This technology, which is useful in almost any wireless communication system, functions by
essentially doubling the data throughput on existing antennae by sending and receiving simultaneously on the same frequency. This capability is critical in
backhaul networks (tower-to-tower applications) and is a fundamental component of 5G wireless technology if it is to operate most efficiently. Following
commercial rollout of this technology in our own products, Lextrum will begin licensing its use to other radio designers and manufacturers, which we believe will
generate license and royalty fee revenues commencing in 2021.

 
● Transpositional Modulation Technology: In the first quarter of 2021, we also expect to introduce our first microwave products incorporating the transpositional

modulation (TM) technology. This technology dramatically increases the capacity of an existing network through unique patented engineering and algorithm
solutions while not requiring a new standard for integration. Its performance has been shown to increase waveform speed and capacity, and it can be used
simultaneously and transparently with existing telecom waveforms with no appreciable interference with any co-existing modulation type. TM technology is the
only known form of modulation that allows a single carrier to transmit two or more independent signals simultaneously in the same wave without destroying the
integrity of the individual bit streams, thereby enabling transmission of significantly more data than existing modulations.
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Intelligent Batteries and Back-up Power Solutions

Through our InduraPower subsidiary, we offer and are further developing a line of environmentally-friendly, non-volatile advanced intelligent lithium ion batteries and
back-up power units that charge quickly, have a life span approximately five times longer than conventional lead-acid batteries, can be monitored remotely and can provide power
for a wide range of applications, including cellular towers and other RAN infrastructures, as well as automotive, aerospace and marine vehicles. Used in conjunction with our
microwave radios, our batteries and back-up power solutions would ensure their seamless operation in the event of a power grid or local electrical failure or interruption. The use of
lithium-ion phosphate chemistry in our batteries provides for an approximate 70% reduction in weight and 30% to 40% reduction in size over current lead-acid/ absorbent glass mat
(AGM)-driven power supplies.

Tethered Drones and Aerostats
 

Through our Drone Aviation subsidiary, we design, develop, market, sell and provide logistical services for specialized tethered aerial monitoring and communications
platforms serving national defense and security customers for use in applications including ISR and communications. We focus primarily on the development of a tethered aerostat
known as the WASP, which is principally designed for military and security applications where they can provide secure and reliable aerial monitoring for extended durations while
being tethered to the ground via a high strength armored tether.
 

Our core aerostat products are designed to provide real-time, semi-persistent situational awareness to various military and national security customers such as the U.S.
Department of Defense and units of the U.S. Department of Homeland Security, such as the U.S. Customs and Border Protection, to improve security at the nation’s ports and
borders. The WASP tethered aerostat system provides customers with tactical, highly mobile and cost-effective aerial monitoring and communications capabilities in remote or
austere locations where existing infrastructure is lacking or not accessible. Current WASP products include the WASP tactical aerostat and WASP Lite, a rapidly deployable,
compact aerostat system. WASP aerostats are either self-contained on a trailer that can be towed by a military all-terrain vehicle (MATV) or mine-resistant ambush-protected
vehicle (MRAP) or other standard vehicle, operated from the bed of a pickup truck, UTV or mounted to a building rooftop. They are designed to provide semi-persistent, mobile,
real-time day/night high definition video for ISR, detection of improvised explosive devices, border security and other governmental and civilian uses. We believe that all of our
products can also be utilized for disaster response missions by supporting two-way and cellular communications and acting as a repeater or provider of wireless networking.

 
Both the WASP and WASP Lite aerostat systems employ a tethered envelope filled with helium gas for lift to carry either a stabilized ISR or communications payload,

portable ground control station and a datalink between the ground station and the envelope. Hovering between 500 and 1,500 feet above the ground, the systems provide
surveillance and communications capabilities with relatively low acquisition and operating costs. The systems require an operational crew of a minimum of two people, have
relatively simple maintenance procedures, and feature quick retrieval and helium top-off for re-inflation.
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Our Services
 

In addition to our products, we offer maintenance and support services, as well as a selection of other professional services. We utilize a multi-tiered support model to
deliver services that leverage the capabilities of our own direct resources, channels partners and other third-party organizations.

 
Our professional services are provided primarily by our Silver Bullet subsidiary, which engineers, designs and develops a broad range of next-generation network systems

and system components, including:
 

● hardware and software design and development, including ISR, embedded designs, high-speed digital and radio frequency (RF), printed circuit board design,
field-programmable gate array (FPGA) and application-specific integrated circuit (ASIC) designs;
 

● large-scale network protocol development and software-defined radio systems; and
 

● wireless communications designs in tactical communication systems, automotive telematics, cellular communication systems, municipal Wi-Fi/WiMAX, security
systems, seismic detection and consumer electronics.
 

We believe a broad range of services is essential to the successful customer deployment and ongoing support of our products, and we employ remote technical support
engineers, spare parts planning and logistics staff and professional services consultants with proven network experience to provide our services.

 
Customers
 

We manufacture and sell our portfolio of telecommunications-related products on a global basis to over 700 customers. Our customers include a large percentage of mobile
cellular carriers, large international corporations, governments and private network users. Some of the relationships with customers, such as within our DragonWave subsidiary,
typically date back many years. We believe our diversified customer base provides us an opportunity to leverage our skills, experience and varied product lines across markets and
reduces our exposure to a single end market. Additionally, we believe the diversity of our customer base is an important strength of our company.

 
We believe there has been a trend on the part of customers to consolidate their lists of qualified suppliers to companies that have the ability to meet certain technical,

quality, delivery and other standards while maintaining competitive prices. We believe we have positioned our offerings and resources to compete effectively in this environment.
As an industry participant in the telecommunications microwave backhaul segment, we have established close working relationships with many of our customers on a global basis.
These relationships allow us to better anticipate and respond to the needs of these customer when designing new products and technical solutions. By working with customers in
developing new products and technologies, we are able to identify and act on trends and leverage knowledge about next-generation technology across our portfolio of products.
In addition, we have concentrated our efforts on service, procurement and manufacturing improvements designed to increase product quality and performance and lower product
lead-time and cost.
 
Manufacturing, Suppliers and Vendors

 
The manufacturing of our microwave radios and other network communications products is outsourced to principally one third-party contract manufacturer, Benchmark

Electronics, Inc. (“Benchmark”), a well-established contract manufacturer with expertise in the telecom equipment industry. This approach allows us to reduce our costs as it
reduces our manufacturing overhead and inventory and also allows us to adjust quickly to changing customer demand. Benchmark assembles our products using design
specifications, quality assurance programs and standards that we establish, and it procures components and assembles our products based on our demand forecasts. These
forecasts represent our estimates of future demand for our products based upon historical trends and analysis from our sales and product management functions as adjusted for
overall market conditions.

 
The manufacturing agreement we entered into with Benchmark does not provide for any minimum purchase commitments and had an initial term of two years, which now

automatically renews for one-year terms, unless either party gives written notice to the other party not less than 90 days prior to the last day of the applicable term. Additionally,
this agreement may be terminated by either party (i) with advance written notice provided to the other party, subject to certain notice period limitations, or (ii) with written notice,
subject to applicable cure periods, if the other party has materially breached its obligations under the agreement.

 
We believe that this contract manufacturing relationship allows us to operate our business efficiently by focusing our internal efforts on the development of our

technologies and products, and provides us with substantial scale-up capacity. We regularly test quality on-site at Benchmark’s facility, and we obtain full quality inspection
reports. We also maintain a non-disclosure agreement with Benchmark.
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We and our contract manufacturing partner purchase a wide variety of raw materials for the manufacture of our network communications products, including (i) precious

metals such as gold, silver and palladium, (ii) aluminum, steel, copper, titanium and metal alloy products and (iii) plastic materials. We also purchase a wide variety of mechanical
and electronic components for the manufacturing of such products. Such raw materials and components are generally available throughout the world and are purchased
domestically when possible from a variety of suppliers. We are generally not dependent upon any one source for raw materials or components. We do not anticipate any
difficulties in obtaining raw materials or components necessary for the production of our network communications products.
 

However, certain materials and equipment for our Drone Aviation products are custom made for those products and are available only from a limited number of suppliers.
Failure of a supplier could cause delays in delivery of the products if another supplier cannot promptly be found or if the quality of such replacement supplier’s components is
inferior or unacceptable. For a discussion of certain risks related to raw materials and components, see Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in this Annual Report.

 
Competition
 

The telecommunications and mobile broadband markets are highly competitive and rapidly evolving. We compete with domestic and international companies, many of
which have substantially greater financial and other resources than we do. We encounter substantial competition in most of our markets, although we believe we have few
competitors that compete with us in performance capabilities across all our product lines and markets. Our principal competitors in one or more of our product lines or markets
include Ericsson, Nokia, Cambium, Ceragon, Aviat and Huawei. We also compete with internally developed network solutions of certain network equipment manufacturers,
including Facebook, Google, AT&T, Verizon and T-Mobile. Finally, we face competition from working groups and associations that are the result of joint developments among
certain of the competitors listed above. Consolidation in the telecommunications and mobile broadband industry has increased in recent years, and future consolidation could
further intensify the competitive pressures that we face.

 
The principal competitive factors upon which we compete include performance, low power consumption, rapid innovation, breadth of product line, availability, product

reliability, reputation, level of integration and cost, multi-sourcing and selling price. We believe that we compete effectively by offering high levels of customer value through high
speed, high density, low power consumption, broad integration of wireless radio functions, software intelligence for configuration, control and monitoring, cost-efficiency, ease of
deployment and collaborative product design. We cannot be certain we will continue to compete effectively.

 
We may also face competition from companies that may expand into our industry and introduce additional competitive products. The same standardization that allows for

the integration of our products into wireless infrastructure systems carries the side effect of lowing the competitive threshold for new market entrants. Existing and potential
customers and strategic partners are also potential competitors. These customers may internally develop or acquire additional competitive products or technologies, selectively, or
through consolidation of the companies in our industry, which may cause them to reduce or cease their purchases from us.

 
Research and Development
 

We generally implement our product development strategy through product design teams and collaborative initiatives with customers, which can also result in our
company obtaining approved vendor status for our customers’ new products and programs. We focus our research and development efforts primarily on those product areas that
we believe have the potential for broad market applications and significant sales within a one–to–three–year period. We seek to have our products become widely accepted within
the industry for similar applications and products manufactured by other potential customers, which we believe will provide additional sources of future revenue. By developing
application specific products, we are able to decrease our exposure to standard products, which are more likely to experience greater pricing pressure. At the end of 2019, our
research, development and engineering efforts, which relate to the creation of new and improved products and processes, were supported by approximately 15 employees and
consultants, of which 80% were engineers with advanced degrees. Our research and development activities are generally performed by individual operating units of our company
focused on specific markets and product technologies.

 
Intellectual Property
 

Our success and ability to compete depend substantially upon our core technology and intellectual property rights. We generally rely on patent, trademark and copyright
laws, trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect our intellectual property rights. In addition, we generally require employees and consultants to execute
appropriate nondisclosure and proprietary rights agreements. These agreements acknowledge our exclusive ownership of intellectual property developed for us and require that all
proprietary information remain confidential.
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We maintain a program designed to identify technology that is appropriate for patent and trade secret protection, and we file patent applications in the United States and,

when appropriate, certain other countries for inventions that we consider significant. As of December 31, 2019, we had 72 patents granted in the United States and foreign
jurisdictions. As of such date, we also had six patent applications pending in the United States and foreign jurisdictions. Although our business is not materially dependent upon
any one patent, our patent rights and the products made and sold under our patents, taken as a whole, are a significant element of our business. In addition to patents, we also
possess other intellectual property, including trademarks, know-how, trade secrets, design rights and copyrights. We control access to and use of our software, technology and
other proprietary information through internal and external controls, including contractual protections with employees, contractors, customers and partners. Our software is
protected by U.S. and international copyright, patent and trade secret laws. Despite our efforts to protect our software, technology and other proprietary information, unauthorized
parties may still copy or otherwise obtain and use our software, technology and other proprietary information. In addition, we have expanded our international operations, and
effective patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret protection may not be available or may be limited in foreign countries.

 
Companies in the industry in which we operate frequently are sued or receive informal claims of patent infringement or infringement of other intellectual property rights.

We may receive such claims from companies, including from competitors and customers, some of which have substantially more resources and have been developing relevant
technology similar to ours. As and if we become more successful, we believe that competitors will be more likely to try to develop products that are similar to ours and that may
infringe on our proprietary rights. It may also be more likely that competitors or other third parties will claim that our products infringe their proprietary rights. Successful claims of
infringement by a third party, if any, could result in significant penalties or injunctions that could prevent us from selling some of our products in certain markets, result in
settlements or judgments that require payment of significant royalties or damages or require us to expend time and money to develop non-infringing products. We cannot assure
you that we do not currently infringe, or that we will not in the future infringe, upon any third-party patents or other proprietary rights, but will not and have never done so
intentionally.

 
Regulation
 

As our customers operate around the world and, to a limited degree, we rely upon non-U.S. manufacturers to make our products, our business and ability to successfully
compete for business in our industry may become dependent upon global, supply, manufacturing and customer relationships that are affected by the trade and tariff policies of
each country in which we operate. Increased tariffs on parts and components imposed by the countries in which our product components may be sourced can increase our
production costs, and increased tariffs imposed by the countries in which our products are sold can increase the cost of our products to our customers.

 
Certain of our products and services are subject to export controls, including the Export Administration Regulations of the U.S. Department of Commerce and economic

and trade sanctions regulations administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Controls of the U.S. Treasury Department, and similar laws and regulations that apply in other
jurisdictions in which we distribute or sell our products and services. Export control and economic sanctions laws and regulations include restrictions and prohibitions on the sale
or supply of certain products and services and on the transfer of parts, components and related technical information and know-how to certain countries, regions, governments,
persons and entities. U.S. regulators may also impose new restrictions on previously non-controlled emerging or foundational items and technologies for which exports to
countries such as China are deemed to present undesirable national security risks. Even without such legislative or regulatory action, we would be prohibited from exporting our
products to any foreign recipient if we have knowledge that a violation of U.S. export regulations has occurred, is about to occur or is intended to occur in connection with the
item. Different countries may implement their own export control regulatory systems, which can affect the flow of parts, components, finished products and related technologies
throughout the supply chain to and from suppliers, manufacturers, distributors and customers. In 2019, China published a proposed new comprehensive export control law that
would, if adopted, create a system through which China may selectively restrict exports of products and technologies from China, perhaps in response to regulatory actions
affecting China that may be imposed by adversary trading partners, such as the United States.
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In addition, various countries regulate imports of certain products through permitting, licensing and transaction review procedures, and may enact laws that could limit

our ability to produce or distribute our products or the ability of our customers to produce or distribute products into which our products are incorporated. The exportation, re-
exportation, transfers within foreign countries and importation of our products and the parts, components and technologies necessary to manufacture our products, including by
our partners, must comply with these laws and regulations. Among these regulations are rules in the United States and other countries that prohibit companies such as Huawei
from supplying products and services for national 5G telecommunications networks. Pursuant to an executive order issued in May 2019, the U.S. government is developing a new
regulatory mechanism through which it may block imports into the United States of certain information and communications products and services designed, developed,
manufactured or supplied by entities owned by, controlled by or subject to the jurisdiction or direction of a foreign adversary where the transaction presents an undue risk to U.S.
information and communications technology or services, critical infrastructure or the digital economy of the United States, or other unacceptable risks to the national security of
the United States or the security and safety of United States persons. U.S. government procurement supply chain risk management regulations prohibit U.S. government agencies
from directly or indirectly contracting to obtain certain telecommunications and video surveillance equipment, systems or services produced or performed by certain designated
Chinese companies, and this prohibition is expected to be extended to prohibit U.S. government agencies from contracting with entities that use such equipment, systems or
services, and to prohibit the use of U.S. government grant or loan proceeds to acquire such equipment, systems or services.

 
We are also subject to various domestic and international anti-corruption laws, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar anti-bribery and anti-kickback

laws and regulations in other places where we do business. These laws and regulations generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from offering or making improper
payments to governmental, political and certain international organization officials for the purpose of obtaining, retaining or directing business. Our exposure for violating these
laws and regulations increases as our international presence expands and as we increase sales and operations in foreign jurisdictions.

 
In addition, we are subject to, or are expected to facilitate our customers’ compliance with, environmental, health and safety laws and regulations in each of the

jurisdictions in which we operate or sell our products. These laws and regulations govern, among other things, the handling and disposal of hazardous substances and wastes,
employee health and safety and the use of hazardous materials in, and the recycling of, our products.

 
Employees
 

As of December 31, 2019, we employed 80 full-time employees, consisting of 24 employees in research and development, 26 employees in operations, which includes
manufacturing, supply chain, quality control and assurance, and 30 employees in executive, sales, general and administrative. We have no part-time employees. We have never had
a work stoppage, and none of our employees is represented by a labor organization or under any collective bargaining arrangements. We consider our employee relations to be
good. All employees are subject to contractual agreements that specify requirements on confidentiality and restrictions on working for competitors, as well as other standard
matters.

 
Our Corporate Information
 

We were incorporated as Drone Aviation Holding Corp. in the State of Nevada on April 17, 2014. An amendment to our Articles of Incorporation changing our name to
COMSovereign Holding Corp. was effected on November 30, 2019. Our principal executive offices are located at 5000 Quorum Drive, Suite 400, Dallas, Texas 75254, and our
telephone number is (904) 834-4400. Our website address is www.COMSovereign.com, and many of our subsidiaries also have their own websites linked to and that may be
accessed from our principal corporate website.

 
Available Information
 

We make available free of charge through our website our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments
to those reports filed or furnished to the SEC. We make these reports available through our website as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such reports with,
or furnish such reports to, the SEC. The information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website is neither a part of, nor incorporated by reference in this Report.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors 
 

Investors should carefully consider the risks described below as well as other information provided in this Annual Report. Our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows could be materially adversely affected, the value of our common stock could decline and investors may lose all or part of their investment as a result
of these risks.

 
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

 
Since our recent acquisition of ComSovereign in November 2019, we lack an established operating history on which to evaluate our consolidated business and determine if
we will be able to execute our business plan, and we can give no assurance that our operations will result in profits.
 

While we have conducted our Drone Aviation business operations since 2014, we consummated the acquisition of our ComSovereign subsidiary and its various lines of
business, which are diverse and involve a number of different proposed and existing product offerings, in November 2019. As a result, we have a limited operating history as a
consolidated company upon which you may evaluate our business and prospects. Our business operations are subject to numerous risks, uncertainties, expenses and difficulties
associated with early stage enterprises. You should consider an investment in our company in light of these risks, uncertainties, expenses and difficulties. Such risks include:

 
● the absence of an operating history in our current business and at our current scale;

 
● our ability to raise capital to develop our business and fund our operations;

 
● expected continual losses for the foreseeable future;

 
● our ability to anticipate and adapt to developing markets;

 
● acceptance by customers;

 
● limited marketing experience;

 
● competition from competitors with substantially greater financial resources and assets;

 
● the ability to identify, attract and retain qualified personnel;

 
● our ability to provide superior customer service; and

 
● reliance on key personnel.

 
Because we are subject to these risks, and the other risks discussed below, you may have a difficult time evaluating our business and your investment in our company.

We may be unable to successfully overcome these risks, any one or more of which could harm our business.
 
Our business strategy may be unsuccessful, and we may be unable to address the risks we face in a cost-effective manner, if at all. If we are unable to successfully

address these risks, our business will be harmed.
 

We incurred a net loss in our 2019 fiscal year with negative cash flows, and we cannot assure you as to when, or if, we will become profitable and generate positive cash
flows. 
 

We experienced a net loss from operations in the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, and we may continue to incur net losses from operations in the future. On the basis
of our audited financial statements included in this Annual Report and without giving effect to the operations of our Drone Aviation subsidiary prior to the consummation of the
ComSovereign Acquisition on November 27, 2019, as of December 31, 2019, we had a cumulative net loss of $27.5 million since our inception (which included non-cash accounting
charges of approximately $12.3 million resulting from stock-based compensation expenses, amortization of our debt discount related to our convertible notes, the change in our
right-of-use operating lease asset, depreciation, amortization and income taxes). Such losses have historically required us to seek additional funding through the issuance of debt
or equity securities. Our long-term success is dependent upon, among other things, achieving positive cash flows from operations and, if necessary, augmenting such cash flows
using external resources to satisfy our cash needs. There can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain additional funding, if needed, on commercially reasonable terms, or of
all.
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We expect to continue to incur losses from operations and negative cash flows, which raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.

 
We anticipate incurring additional losses until such time, if ever, as we can generate significant sales of our DragonWave microwave radios and related products. We will

require substantial additional financing to fund our DragonWave operations and to develop and commercialize the technologies of our other operating subsidiaries. These factors
raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern, and our independent registered public accountants included an explanatory paragraph regarding this
uncertainty in their report on our financial statements for the period January 10, 2019 (inception) through December 31, 2019. Our ability to continue as a going concern is
dependent upon our generating cash flow sufficient to fund operations and reducing operating expenses.

 
We will seek to obtain additional capital through the sale of debt or equity financings or other arrangements to fund operations; however, there can be no assurance that

we will be able to raise needed capital under acceptable terms, if at all. The sale of additional equity may dilute existing stockholders and newly issued shares may contain senior
rights and preferences compared to currently outstanding shares of common stock. Issued debt securities may contain covenants and limit our ability to pay dividends or make
other distributions to stockholders. If we are unable to obtain such additional financing, future operations would need to be scaled back or discontinued. Due to the uncertainty in
our ability to raise capital, we believe that there is substantial doubt in our ability to continue as a going concern.

 
We may not generate sufficient cash flows to cover our operating expenses.
 

As noted above, we have incurred recurring losses since inception. Until we can generate significant sales of our DragonWave product lines, we expect to continue to
incur losses primarily as a result of costs and expenses related to research and continued development of the technologies of our other operating subsidiaries and our corporate
general and administrative expenses. Our limited capital resources and operations to date have been substantially funded through sales of our debt and equity securities. As of
December 31, 2019, we had negative working capital of approximately $6.5 million and limited available cash. In the event that we are unable to generate sufficient cash from our
operating activities or raise additional funds, we may be required to delay, reduce or severely curtail our operations or otherwise impede our on-going business efforts, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, financial condition and long-term prospects.

 
We have significant debt and if we are unable to repay our debt when it becomes due, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially harmed.
 

As of December 31, 2019, we had total undiscounted debt obligations, excluding related party debt, of $12.1 million, and since December 31, 2019, we have increased the
amount of our outstanding debt obligations, excluding forgivable debt under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”), to $15.3 million as of June 26,
2020. Of this debt, $2.0 million was past due and unpaid as of June 26, 2020 and $9.7 million of the additional debt obligations mature on or prior to December 31, 2020. While we
plan to reduce our outstanding debt obligations during fiscal 2020 by the sale of our equity securities, there can be no assurance that we will be able to complete an offering of our
equity securities that will enable us to do so. Our level of indebtedness could have significant effects on our business, such as:

 
● limiting our ability to borrow additional amounts to fund working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, debt service requirements, execution of our growth

strategy and other purposes;
 

● requiring us to dedicate a portion of our cash flows from operations to pay interest on our debt, which would reduce availability of our cash flows to fund working
capital, capital expenditures, potential acquisitions, execution of our growth strategy and other general corporate purposes;
 

● making us more vulnerable to adverse changes in general economic, industry and competitive conditions, in government regulation and in our business by limiting
our ability to plan for and react to changing conditions; and
 

● placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared with our competitors that have less debt.
 

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash flows from our operations to repay our past due and other indebtedness when it becomes due and to meet our other cash
needs. If the holders of our past due indebtedness make demand for payment, or we are not able to pay our other debts as they become due, we will be required to pursue one or
more alternative strategies, such as selling assets, refinancing or restructuring our indebtedness or selling additional debt or equity securities. We may not be able to refinance our
debt, sell additional debt or equity securities or sell our assets on favorable terms, if at all, and if we must sell our assets, we may negatively affect our ability to generate revenue.

 
If we are unable to obtain additional funding when needed, our business operations will be harmed, and if we do obtain additional financing, our then-existing shareholders
may suffer substantial dilution.

 
As we take steps in the commercialization and marketing of our technologies, or respond to potential opportunities and/or adverse events, our working capital needs may

change. We anticipate that if our cash and cash equivalents are insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements, we will require additional funding to sustain our ongoing
operations and to continue our research and development activities. We do not have any contracts or commitments for additional funding, and there can be no assurance that
financing will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all, if needed. The inability to obtain additional capital will restrict our ability to grow and may reduce our
ability to conduct business operations. If we are unable to obtain additional financing to finance a revised growth plan, we will likely be required to curtail such plans or cease our
business operations. Any additional equity financing may involve substantial dilution to our then existing shareholders.
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Raising capital in the future could cause dilution to our existing shareholders and may restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights.
 

In the future, we may seek additional capital through a combination of private and public equity offerings, debt financings and collaborations and strategic and licensing
arrangements. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership interest will be diluted, and the terms may
include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect your rights as a shareholder. Debt financing, if available, would result in increased fixed payment obligations and may
involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions such as incurring debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If we
raise additional funds through collaboration or strategic alliance arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our future revenue streams or
product candidates on terms that are not favorable to us.

  
The occurrence of the COVID-19 pandemic may negatively affect our operations depending on the severity and longevity of the pandemic.

 
The COVID-19 pandemic is currently impacting countries, communities, supply chains and markets as well as the global financial markets. A pandemic typically results in

social distancing, travel bans and quarantine, and this may limit access to our facilities, customers, management, support staff and professional advisors. These factors, in turn,
may not only impact our operations, financial condition and demand for our goods and services but our overall ability to react timely to mitigate the impact of this event. In
addition, it may hamper our efforts to comply with our filing obligations with the SEC. At this time, we cannot predict the impact of COVID-19 on our ability to obtain financing
necessary to fund our working capital and other requirements. Depending on the severity and longevity of the COVID-19 pandemic, our business, customers and stockholders may
experience a significant negative impact.

 
Rapid technological change in our market and/or changes in customer requirements could cause our products to become obsolete or require us to redesign our products,
which would have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.
 

The market for our products is characterized by rapid technological change, frequent new product introductions and enhancements, uncertain product life cycles,
changing customer demands and evolving industry standards, any of which can render existing products obsolete. We believe that our future success will depend in large part on
our ability to develop new and effective products in a timely manner and on a cost-effective basis. As a result of the complexities inherent in our products, major new products and
product enhancements can require long development and testing periods, which may result in significant delays in the general availability of new releases or significant problems
in the implementation of new releases. In addition, if we or our competitors announce or introduce new products our current or future customers may defer or cancel purchases of
our products, which could materially adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition. Our failure to develop successfully, on a timely and cost-effective
basis, new products or new product enhancements that respond to technological change, evolving industry standards or customer requirements would have a material adverse
effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

 
Product development is a long, expensive and uncertain process, and our failure to develop marketable products in our various markets could adversely affect our business,
prospects and financial condition.

 
The development of our technologies and products, particularly for our proposed full-duplex wireless microwave products and our SiP technologies product lines, is a

costly, complex and time-consuming process, and the investment in product development often involves a long wait until a return, if any, is achieved on such investment. We
continue to make significant investments in research and development relating to our technologies and products. Investments in new technology and processes are inherently
speculative. Technical obstacles and challenges we encounter in our research and development process may result in delays in or abandonment of product commercialization,
substantially increase the costs of development and negatively affect our results of operations.

 
We compete with companies that have significantly more resources for their research and development efforts than we have or have received government contracts for the
development of new products.

 
A number of our competitors have received considerable funding from government or government-related sources to develop various technologies or products.  Most of

these organizations and many of our other competitors have greater financial, technical, manufacturing, marketing and sales resources and capabilities than we do. In addition, with
respect to products we are developing for certain markets, we anticipate increasing competition as a result of industry consolidation, which has enabled companies to enhance
their competitive position and ability to compete against us. These organizations also compete with us to:

 
● attract parties for acquisitions, joint ventures or other collaborations;

 
● license proprietary technology that is competitive with the technology we are developing;

 
● attract funding; and

 
● attract and hire talented and other qualified personal.

 
Our competitors may succeed in developing and commercializing products earlier than we do. Our competitors may also develop products or technologies that are

superior to those we are developing and render our technology candidates or technologies obsolete or non-competitive. If we cannot successfully compete with new or existing
products and technologies, our marketing and sales will suffer and our financial condition would be adversely affected.
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Successful technical development of our products does not guarantee successful commercialization.

 
Even if we successfully complete the technical development for one or all of our product development programs, we may still fail to develop a commercially successful

product for a number of reasons, including, among others, the following:
 
● failure to obtain the required regulatory approvals for their use;

 
● prohibitive production costs;

 
● competing products;

 
● lack of innovation of the product;

 
● continuing technological changes in the market rendering the product obsolete;

 
● failure to scale-up our operations sufficiently to satisfy demand for our products;

  
● ineffective distribution and marketing;

 
● lack of sufficient cooperation from our partners; and

 
● demonstrations of the products not aligning with or meeting customer needs.
 
Although we have sold our DragonWave radios and our WASP aerostat systems and various other aerostat ISR systems and components, our success in the market for

the products we develop will depend largely on our ability to prove our products’ capabilities.  Upon demonstration, our products may not have the capabilities they were
designed to have or that we believed they would have.  Furthermore, even if we do successfully demonstrate our products’ capabilities, potential customers may be more
comfortable doing business with a larger, more established, more proven company than ours. Moreover, competing products may prevent us from gaining wide market acceptance
of our products.  We may not achieve significant revenue from new product investments for a number of years, if at all.

  
Product quality problems, defects, errors or vulnerabilities in our products could harm our reputation and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.
 

We may experience quality control problems in our manufacturing operations or the manufacturing operations of our contract manufacturers. We produce highly-complex
products that incorporate advanced technologies and that we believe to be state-of-the-art for our industry. Despite our testing prior to their release, our products may contain
undetected defects or errors, including design, contract manufacturing or supplier quality issues, especially when first introduced or when new versions are released. Product
defects or errors in the future could affect the performance of our products and could delay the development or release of new products or new versions of products. In addition,
undetected quality problems may prompt unexpected product returns and adversely affect warranty costs. Allegations of unsatisfactory performance could cause us to lose
revenue or market share, damage our reputation in the market and with customers, and increase our warranty costs and related returns, which could negatively impact our gross
margins, cause us to incur substantial costs in redesigning the products, cause us to lose significant customers, subject us to liability for damages or divert our resources from
other tasks, any one of which could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

 
If we lose our rights to use software we currently license from third parties, we could be forced to seek alternative technology, which could increase our operating expenses
and could adversely affect our ability to compete.
 

We license certain software used in our products from third parties, generally on a non-exclusive basis. The termination of any of these licenses, or the failure of the
licensors to adequately maintain or update their software, could delay our ability to ship our products while we seek to implement alternative technology offered by other sources
and could require significant unplanned investments on our part if we are forced to develop alternative technology internally. In addition, alternative technology may not be
available to us on commercially reasonable terms from other sources. In the future, it may be necessary or desirable to obtain other third-party technology licenses relating to one
or more of our products or relating to current or future technologies to enhance our product offerings. There is a risk that we will not be able to obtain licensing rights to the
needed technology on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.

 
If sufficient radio spectrum is not allocated for use by our products or if we fail to obtain regulatory approval for our products, our ability to market our products may
be restricted.
 

Radio communications are subject to significant regulation in North America, Europe, India and other jurisdictions in which we sell our products. Generally, our products
must conform to a variety of national and international standards and requirements established to avoid interference among users of radio frequencies and to permit the
interconnections of telecommunications equipment. In addition, our products are affected by the allocation and licensing (by auction or other means) of radio spectrum by
governmental authorities. Such governmental authorities may not allocate or license sufficient radio spectrum for use by prospective customers of our products. Historically, in
many developed countries, the lack of availability of commercial radio spectrum or the failure by governments to license that spectrum has inhibited the growth of wireless
telecommunications networks.
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In order to sell our products in any given jurisdiction, we must obtain regulatory approval for our products. Each jurisdiction in which we market our products has its own

rules relating to such approval. Products that support emerging wireless telecommunications services can be marketed in a jurisdiction only if permitted by suitable radio spectrum
allocations and regulations, and the process of establishing new regulations is complex and lengthy.
 

Any failure by regulatory authorities to allocate suitable and sufficient radio spectrum to potential customers in a timely manner could adversely and materially impact
demand for our products and may result in the delay or loss of potential orders for our products. In addition, any failure by us to obtain or maintain the proper regulatory approvals
for our products could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
 
We are dependent upon our resellers in certain jurisdictions to provide localized support and other local services which assist us in avoiding certain costs and investments.
 

By selling our products in certain markets through resellers, we are able to avoid certain costs relating to operating in those markets, including but not limited to local
support costs, costs of maintaining a local legal entity, administration costs and logistics. If we choose or are required to sell direct in these markets (due to customer preference,
termination of a reseller relationship or other reasons) the cost advantages described will no longer be available to us, which could result in an increase in our operating costs.
 
If critical components or raw materials used to manufacture our products become scarce or unavailable, then we may incur delays in manufacturing and delivery of our
products, which could damage our business.
 

We and the contract manufacturers of our products rely on a limited number of suppliers for the raw materials and hardware components necessary to manufacture our
products. We do not have any long-term agreements with any of our suppliers that obligate them to continue to sell their materials or products to us. Our reliance on these
suppliers involves significant risks and uncertainties as to whether our suppliers will provide an adequate supply of required raw materials, component parts, and products. Lead-
times for limited-source materials and components can be as long as six months, vary significantly and depend on factors such as the specific supplier, contract terms and demand
for a component at a given time. From time to time, shortages in allocations of components have resulted in delays in filling orders. Shortages and delays in obtaining components
in the future could impede our ability to meet customer orders. In addition, as the demand for these components and other products increases, it is likely that the price for these
components will increase. If we or our contract manufacturers are unable to obtain the raw materials, including certain electrical components used in our telecom products or the
helium gas used in our aerostat products to provide lift, and component parts in the quantities and the quality we require on a timely basis and at acceptable prices, we may not be
able to deliver our products on a timely or cost-effective basis, which could cause our customers to terminate their contracts with us, increase our costs and materially harm our
business, results of operations, and financial condition. Furthermore, if our suppliers or the suppliers of our contract manufacturers are unable or unwilling to supply the raw
materials or components we or our contract manufacturers require, we will be forced to locate alternative suppliers and possibly redesign our products to accommodate
components from alternative suppliers. This would likely cause significant delays in manufacturing and shipping our products to customers and could materially harm our
business. 
 

Our dependence and exposure on component suppliers are heightened when we introduce new products. New products frequently include components that we do not
use in other product lines. When we introduce new products, we must secure reliable sources of supply for those products at volumes that will be dictated by end-customer
demand. Demand is often difficult to predict until the new product is better established. Constraints in our supply chain can slow the progress of new product rollouts, adversely
affecting our business, results of operations and financial condition.
 
Our future profitability may depend on achieving cost reductions from increasing manufacturing quantities of our products. Failing to achieve such reductions in
manufacturing costs could materially affect our business.
 

We have limited experience manufacturing certain of our products, particularly our tethered aerostat and drone products and our DragonWave microwave radio products,
in high volumes and do not know whether or when we will be able to develop efficient, low-cost manufacturing capabilities and processes that will enable us to manufacture our
products in large quantities while maintaining our quality, speed, price, engineering and design standards. Our inability to develop such manufacturing processes and capabilities
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. We expect our suppliers to experience an increase in demand for their products,
and we may not have reliable access to supplies that we require and may not be able to purchase such materials or components at cost effective prices. There is no assurance that
we will obtain any material labor and machinery cost reductions associated with higher production levels, and failure to achieve these cost reductions could adversely impact our
business and financial results.
 
We rely primarily upon one outsourced manufacturer for manufacturing our DragonWave microwave radios and related components and we are exposed to the risk that this
manufacturer will not be able to satisfy our manufacturing needs on a timely basis.
 

We do not have any internal manufacturing capabilities to produce our DragonWave microwave radios and related components and we rely upon a single outsourced
manufacturer to manufacture such products. Substantially all of our microwave radio products are currently manufactured by Benchmark Electronics, Inc. See “Description of the
Business – Manufacturing, Suppliers and Vendors.” Our ability to ship DragonWave’s products to our customers could be delayed or interrupted as a result of a variety of factors
relating to our outsourced manufacturer, including:

 
● our outsourced manufacturer not being obligated to manufacture our products on a long-term basis in any specific quantity or at any specific price;
 
● early termination of, or failure to renew, contractual arrangements;

 
● our failure to effectively manage our outsourced manufacturer relationship;
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● our outsourced manufacturer experiencing delays, disruptions or quality control problems in its manufacturing operations;
 
● lead-times for required materials and components varying significantly and being dependent on factors such as the specific supplier, contract terms and the demand

for each component at a given time;
 
● underestimating our requirements, resulting in our outsourced manufacturer having inadequate materials and components required to produce our products, or

overestimating our requirements, resulting in charges assessed by the outsourced manufacturers or liabilities for excess inventory, each of which could negatively
affect our gross margins;

 
● the possible absence of adequate capacity and reduced control over component availability, quality assurances, delivery schedules, manufacturing yields and

costs; and
 
● our outsourced manufacturer experiencing financial instability which could affect its ability to manufacture or deliver our products.

 
Although we believe that our outsourced manufacturer has sufficient economic incentive to perform our manufacturing, the resources devoted to these activities by it are

not within our control, and there can be no assurance that manufacturing problems will not occur in the future. Insufficient supply or an interruption or stoppage of supply from
our outsourced manufacturer or our inability to obtain additional manufacturers when and if needed, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.
 

If any of our outsourced manufacturers are unable or unwilling to continue manufacturing our products in required volumes and quality levels, we will have to identify,
qualify, select and implement acceptable alternative manufacturers, which would likely be time consuming and costly. In addition, an alternate source may not be available to us or
may not be in a position to satisfy our production requirements at commercially reasonable prices and quality. Therefore, any significant interruption in manufacturing would result
in us being unable to deliver the affected products to meet our customer orders, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.
 
Our potential customers for our DragonWave radios and our Drone Aviation aerostat and drone products are likely to include U.S. Government or Government-related
entities that are subject to appropriations by Congress. Reduced funding for defense procurement and research and development programs would likely adversely impact our
ability to generate revenues. 

 
We anticipate that the majority of our revenue to be derived from our aerostats products and a substantial percentage of our revenue to be derived from our DragonWave

radio product sales, at least in the foreseeable future, will come from U.S. Government and Government-related entities, including the U.S. Department of Defense and other
departments and agencies. Government programs in which we may seek to participate, and contracts for tethered aerostats and drones or microwave radios, must compete with
other programs for consideration during Congress’ budget and appropriations hearings, and may be affected by changes not only in political power and appointments but also
general economic conditions and other factors beyond our control. A government closure based on a failure of Congress to agree on federal appropriations or the uncertainty
surrounding a continuing resolution may result in termination or delay of federal funding opportunities we are pursuing. Reductions, extensions or terminations in a program in
which we are seeking to participate or overall defense or other spending could adversely affect our ability to generate revenues and realize any profits.  We cannot predict whether
potential changes in security, defense, communications and intelligence priorities will afford opportunities for our business in terms of research and development or product
contracts, but any reduction in government spending on such programs could negatively impact our ability to generate revenues. In addition, our ability to participate in U.S.
Government programs may be affected by the adoption of new laws or regulations relating to Government contracting or changes in existing laws or regulations, changes in
political or public support for security and defense programs, and uncertainties associated with the current global threat environment and other geo-political matters.

 
Opportunities for expanded uses of our drone products in the United States are limited by federal laws and rulemaking.

 
The drone products we design and manufacture for use within the United States are limited by federal laws and rulemaking, including the new commercial drone

regulations (Part 107) adopted by the U.S. Federal Aviation Administration (the “FAA”) at the end of August 2016. Our ability to design, manufacture and release new products for
use in the United States will be limited by federal law and regulations, which can be slow and subject to delays based on political turnover and disruptions in federal funding,
among other reasons. The Part 107 rules limit the altitude, available airspace and weight of a drone and also the certification of remote pilots that can operate a drone for commercial
purposes in the United States. We, or our customers, may seek waivers from the Part 107 rules for expanded operations; however, the processing of waivers is lengthy and
uncertain. Political limits on the ability to issue new regulations could slow the growth of the aerostat and tethered drone market.

 
Some of our products may be subject to governmental regulations pertaining to exportation, which may limit the markets in which we can sell some of our products.

 
International sales of certain of our products, including our tethered aerostat and drone products, may be subject to U.S. laws, regulations and policies like the

International Traffic in Arms Regulations (“ITAR”) and other export laws and regulations and may be subject to first obtaining licenses, clearances or authorizations from various
regulatory entities. If we are not allowed to export our products or the clearance process is burdensome, our ability to generate revenue would be adversely affected. The failure to
comply with any of these regulations could adversely affect our ability to conduct our business and generate revenues, as well as increase our operating costs. 
 
Economic conditions in the U.S. and worldwide could adversely affect our revenues.

 
Our revenues and operating results depend on the overall demand for our technologies and services. If the U.S. and worldwide economies weaken, either alone or in

tandem with other factors beyond our control (including war, political unrest, shifts in market demand for our services, actions by competitors, etc.), we may not be able to maintain
or expand the growth of our revenue.

19 



 

 
Sales to customers outside the United States or with international operations expose us to risks inherent in international sales.
 

During fiscal 2019, on a pro forma basis giving effect to the ComSovereign Acquisition as if such acquisition had occurred on January 10, 2019, approximately 15% of our
revenues were derived from sales outside of the United States. A key element of our growth strategy is to expand our worldwide customer base and our international operations.
Operating in international markets requires significant resources and management attention and subjects us to regulatory, economic and political risks that are different from those
in the United States. While our DragonWave subsidiary has limited operating experience in some international markets, we cannot assure you that our expansion efforts into other
international markets will be successful. Our experience in the United States and other international markets in which we already have a presence may not be relevant to our ability
to expand in other emerging markets. Our international expansion efforts may not be successful in creating further demand for our products outside of the United States or in
effectively selling our products in the international markets we enter. In addition, we face risks in doing business internationally that could adversely affect our business, including:

 
● the need and expense to localize and adapt our products for specific countries, including translation into foreign languages, and ensuring that our products enable

our customers to comply with local telecommunications industry laws and regulations, some of which are frequently changing;
 
● data privacy laws which require that customer data be stored and processed in a designated territory;
 
● difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, including employee laws and regulations;
 
● different pricing environments, longer sales cycles and longer accounts receivable payment cycles, and collections issues;
 
● new and different sources of competition;
 
● weaker protection for intellectual property and other legal rights than in the United States and practical difficulties in enforcing intellectual property and other rights

outside of the United States;
 
● laws and business practices favoring local competitors;
 
● compliance challenges related to the complexity of multiple, conflicting and changing governmental laws and regulations, including employment, tax, privacy and data

protection, and anti-bribery laws and regulations;
 
● increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complexities;
 
● restrictions on the transfer of funds;
 
● our ability to repatriate funds from abroad without adverse tax consequences;
 
● adverse tax consequences, including the potential for required withholding taxes;
 
● fluctuations in the exchange rates of foreign currency in which our foreign revenues or expenses may be denominated;
 
● changes in trade relations and trade policy, including the status of trade relations between the United States and China, and the implementation of or changes to trade

sanctions, tariffs, and embargoes;
 
● public health crises, such as epidemics and pandemics, including COVID-19; and
 
● unstable regional and economic political conditions in the markets in which we operate.

 
Any of the foregoing factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition. Some of our business partners also have

international operations and are subject to the risks described above. Even if we are able to successfully manage the risks of international operations, our business may be
adversely affected if our business partners are not able to successfully manage these risks, which could adversely affect our business.

 
We intend to pursue strategic transactions in the future, which could be difficult to implement, disrupt our business or change our business profile significantly.

 
We intend to continue to pursue potential strategic transactions, which could involve acquisitions of businesses or assets, joint ventures or investments in businesses,

products or technologies that expand, complement or otherwise relate to our current or future business. We also intend to consider, from time to time, opportunities to engage in
joint ventures or other business collaborations with third parties to address particular market segments. However, we may be unable to find suitable acquisition candidates or other
suitable partners or products or may be unable to complete acquisitions or strategic transactions on favorable terms, if at all. For example, while the historical financial and
operating performance or an acquisition or joint venture partner are among the criteria we evaluate in determining which acquisition or joint venture targets to pursue, there can be
no assurance that any business or assets we acquire or contract with will continue to perform in accordance with past practices or will achieve financial or operating results that are
consistent with or exceed past results. Any such failure could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.
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In addition, any completed acquisition or other transaction may not result in the intended benefits for other reasons and any completed acquisition or other transaction

will create or involve a number of other risks such as, among others:
 
● the need to integrate and manage the businesses and products acquired with our own business and products;

   
● additional demands on our resources, systems, procedures and controls;

   
● disruption of our ongoing business; and

   
● diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns.

  
Moreover, these transactions could involve:

 
● substantial investment of funds or financings by issuance of debt or equity securities that could result in dilution to our stockholders, impact our ability to service

our debt within scheduled repayment terms or include covenants or other restrictions that would impede our ability to manage our operations;
   

● substantial investment with respect to technology transfers and operational integration; and
   

● the acquisition or disposition of product lines or businesses.
 

Also, such activities could result in one-time charges and expenses and have the potential to either dilute the interests of existing stockholders or result in the issuance of
or assumption of debt.
 

Such acquisitions, investments, joint ventures or other business collaborations may involve significant commitments of financial and other resources of our company.
Any such activity may not be successful in generating revenue, income or other returns to us, and the resources committed to such activities will not be available to us for other
purposes. Moreover, if we are unable to access capital markets on acceptable terms or at all, we may not be able to consummate acquisitions or may have to do so on the basis of a
less than optimal capital structure. Our inability to (i) take advantage of growth opportunities for our business or for our products or (ii) address risks associated with acquisitions
or investments in businesses may negatively affect our operating results. Additionally, any impairment of goodwill or other intangible assets acquired in an acquisition or in an
investment or charges to earnings associated with any acquisition or investment activity may materially reduce our earnings. These future acquisitions or joint ventures may not
result in their anticipated benefits, and we may not be able to properly integrate acquired products, technologies or businesses with our existing products and operations or
combine personnel and cultures.  Failure to do so could deprive us of the intended benefits of those acquisitions.

 
We may be unable to successfully integrate our recent and future acquisitions, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects.
 

In November 2019, we acquired the business and operations of COMSovereign, which itself had acquired five companies in 2019, including VEO and InduraPower in
January 2019 and DragonWave, Lextrum and Silver Bullet in March 2019.  In addition, we completed the acquisition of the business and operations of Fast Plastic Parts, LLC in
March 2020 and we entered into an agreement for the acquisition of VNC in May 2020. We currently are in discussions for the acquisition of an additional company. The operation
and management of recent acquisitions, or any of our future acquisitions, may adversely affect our existing results of operations or we may not be able to effectively manage any
growth resulting from these transactions. Before we acquired them, these companies operated independently of one another. Until we establish centralized financial, management
information and other administrative systems, we will rely on the separate systems of these companies, including their financial reporting systems.
 

Our success will depend, in part, on the extent to which we are able to merge these functions, eliminate the unnecessary duplication of other functions and otherwise
integrate these companies (and any additional businesses with which we may combine in the future) into a cohesive, efficient enterprise. This integration process may entail
significant costs and delays could occur. Our failure to integrate the operations of these companies successfully could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects. To the extent that any acquisition results in additional goodwill, it will reduce our tangible net worth, which might adversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects, as well as our credit and bonding capacity.

 
If we fail to protect our intellectual property rights, we could lose our ability to compete in the marketplace.

 
Our intellectual property and proprietary rights are important to our ability to remain competitive and for the success of our products and our business. Patent protection

can be limited and not all intellectual property is or can be patented. We rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright, and trade secret laws as well as confidentiality
agreements and procedures, non-competition agreements and other contractual provisions to protect our intellectual property, other proprietary rights and our brand.  We have
little protection when we must rely on trade secrets and nondisclosure agreements.   Our intellectual property rights may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented by third
parties. We may not be able to prevent the unauthorized disclosure or use of our technical knowledge or other trade secrets by employees or competitors. Furthermore, our
competitors may independently develop technologies and products that are substantially equivalent or superior to our technologies and/or products, which could result in
decreased revenues for us. Moreover, the laws of foreign countries may not protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the U.S. Litigation may be
necessary to enforce our intellectual property rights, which could result in substantial costs to us and substantial diversion of management’s attention. If we do not adequately
protect our intellectual property, our competitors could use it to enhance their products. Our inability to adequately protect our intellectual property rights could adversely affect
our business and financial condition and the value of our brand and other intangible assets.
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If we fail to protect our intellectual property rights, our ability to pursue the development of our technologies and products would be negatively affected.

 
Our success will depend in part on our ability to obtain patents and maintain adequate protection of our intellectual property and technologies. Some foreign countries

lack rules and methods for defending intellectual property rights and do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent as the United States. We have numerous issued patents,
and have filed several additional patent applications, outside the United States, and many companies have had difficulty protecting their proprietary rights in foreign countries. We
may not be able to prevent misappropriation of our proprietary rights.  

  
The patent process is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties and there can be no assurance that we will be successful in protecting our technologies by obtaining

and enforcing patents. These risks and uncertainties include the following:
 
● patents that may be issued or licensed may be challenged, invalidated, or circumvented, or otherwise may not provide any competitive advantage;

   
● our competitors, many of which have substantially greater resources than us and many of which have made significant investments in competing technologies, may

seek, or may already have obtained, patents that will limit, interfere with, or eliminate our ability to make, use, and license our technologies either in the United States
or in international markets;

   
● there may be significant pressure on the United States government and other international governmental bodies to limit the scope of patent protection both inside

and outside the United States for technologies that prove successful as a matter of public policy regarding security concerns;
   

● countries other than the United States may have less restrictive patent laws than those upheld by United States courts, allowing foreign competitors the ability to
exploit these laws to create, develop, and market competing products.

 
Moreover, any patents issued to us may not provide us with meaningful protection, or others may challenge, circumvent or narrow our patents. Third parties may also

independently develop technologies similar to ours or design around any patents on our technologies.
  
In addition, the United States Patent and Trademark Office and patent offices in other jurisdictions have often required that patent applications concerning software

inventions be limited or narrowed substantially to cover only the specific innovations exemplified in the patent application, thereby limiting the scope of protection against
competitive challenges. Thus, even if we or our licensors are able to obtain patents, the patents may be substantially narrower than anticipated.

 
Our success depends on our patents, patent applications, patents that may be licensed exclusively to us, and other patents to which we may obtain assignment or

licenses. We may not be aware, however, of all patents, published applications, or published literature that may affect our business by blocking our ability to commercialize our
products, preventing the patentability of products or services by us or our licensors, or covering the same or similar technologies that may invalidate our patents, limit the scope of
our future patent claims or adversely affect our ability to market our products and services.

 
In addition to patents, we rely on a combination of trade secrets, confidentiality, nondisclosure and other contractual provisions, and security measures to protect our

confidential and proprietary information. These measures may not adequately protect our trade secrets or other proprietary information. If they do not adequately protect our
rights, third parties could use our technology, and we could lose any competitive advantage we may have. In addition, others may independently develop similar proprietary
information or techniques or otherwise gain access to our trade secrets, which could impair any competitive advantage we may have.

 
Patent protection and other intellectual property protection are crucial to the success of our business and prospects, and there is a substantial risk that such protections

will prove inadequate.
 

Other companies may claim that we infringe their intellectual property, which could materially increase our costs and harm our ability to generate future revenue and profit.
 
We do not believe our product technologies infringe the proprietary rights of any third party, but claims of infringement are becoming increasingly common and third

parties may assert infringement claims against us.  It may be difficult or impossible to identify, prior to receipt of notice from a third party, the trade secrets, patent position or other
intellectual property rights of a third party, either in the United States or in foreign jurisdictions. Any such assertion may result in litigation or may require us to obtain a license for
or otherwise restrict our use of the intellectual property rights of third parties.  If we are required to obtain licenses to use any third-party technology, we would have to pay
royalties, which may significantly reduce any profit on our products.  In addition, any such litigation could be expensive and disruptive to our ability to generate revenue or enter
into new market opportunities.  If any of our products are found to infringe other parties’ proprietary rights and we are unable to come to terms regarding a license with such
parties, we may be forced to modify our products to make them non-infringing or to cease production of such products altogether. 
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Security breaches, including cybersecurity incidents and other disruptions could compromise our information, expose us to liability and harm our reputation and business.
 

In the ordinary course of our business we collect and store sensitive data, including intellectual property, personal information, our proprietary business information and
that of our customers, suppliers and business partners, and personally identifiable information of our customers and employees in our data centers and on our networks. The
secure maintenance and transmission of this information is critical to our operations and business strategy. We rely on commercially available systems, software, tools and
monitoring to provide security for processing, transmission and storage of confidential information. Computer hackers may attempt to penetrate our computer systems and, if
successful, misappropriate personal or confidential business information. In addition, an associate, contractor, or other third-party with whom we do business may attempt to
circumvent our security measures in order to obtain such information and may purposefully or inadvertently cause a breach involving such information. Despite the security
measures we have in place and any additional measures we may implement in the future to safeguard our systems and to mitigate potential security risks, our facilities and systems,
and those of our third-party service providers, could be vulnerable to security breaches. Any such compromise of our data security and access, public disclosure, or loss of
personal or confidential business information could result in legal claims or proceedings, liability under laws that protect the privacy of personal information, regulatory penalties,
disruption of our operations, damage to our reputation, loss of our customers’ willingness to transact business with us, and subject us to additional costs and liabilities which
could materially adversely affect our business.

 
We do not carry insurance against all potential risks and losses, and our insurance might be inadequate to cover all of our losses or liabilities or may not be available on
commercially reasonable terms.
 

We have limited, and potentially insufficient, insurance coverage for expenses and losses that may arise in connection with the quality of our products, property damage,
work-related accidents and occupational illnesses, natural disasters and environmental contamination. In addition, we have no insurance coverage for loss of profits or other
losses caused by the death or incapacitation of our senior management. As a result, losses or liabilities arising from these or other such events could increase our costs and could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

 
We intend to reevaluate the purchase of insurance, policy limits and terms annually or when circumstances warrant from time to time. Future insurance coverage for our

industry could increase in cost and may include higher deductibles or retentions than we could obtain now. In addition, some forms of insurance may become unavailable in the
future or unavailable on terms that we believe are economically acceptable. No assurance can be given that we will be able to maintain insurance in the future at rates that we
consider reasonable, and we may elect to continue to maintain minimal or no insurance coverage. We may not be able to secure additional insurance or bonding that might be
required by new governmental regulations. This may cause us to restrict our operations in certain jurisdictions, which might severely impact our financial position. The occurrence
of a significant event, not fully insured against, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
 
The nature of our business involves significant risks and uncertainties that may not be covered by insurance or indemnity.
 

We develop and sell products where insurance or indemnification may not be available, including:
 
● designing and developing products using advanced and unproven technologies and tethered aerostats and drones in intelligence and homeland security

applications that are intended to operate in high demand, high risk situations; and
 
● designing and developing products to collect, distribute and analyze various types of information.
 
Failure of certain of our products could result in loss of life or property damage. Certain products may raise questions with respect to issues of civil liberties, intellectual

property, trespass, conversion and similar concepts, which may raise new legal issues.  Indemnification to cover potential claims or liabilities resulting from a failure of technologies
developed or deployed may be available in certain circumstances, but not in others.  We are not able to maintain insurance to protect against all operational risks and
uncertainties. Substantial claims resulting from an accident, failure of our product, or liability arising from our products in excess of any indemnity or insurance coverage (or for
which indemnity or insurance is not available or was not obtained) could harm our financial condition, cash flows, and operating results. Any accident, even if fully covered or
insured, could negatively affect our reputation among our customers and the public, and make it more difficult for us to compete effectively.

 
There may be health and safety risks relating to wireless products.
 

Our wireless communications products emit electromagnetic radiation. In recent years, there has been publicity regarding, and increased public attention with respect to,
the potentially negative direct and indirect health and safety effects of electromagnetic emissions from cellular telephones and other wireless equipment sources, including
allegations that these emissions may cause cancer. Health and safety issues related to our products may arise that could lead to litigation or other actions against us or to
additional regulation of our products. We may be required to modify our technology and may not be able to do so. We may also be required to pay damages that may reduce our
profitability and adversely affect our financial condition. Even if these concerns prove to be baseless, the resulting negative publicity could affect our ability to market our
products and, in turn, could harm our business and results of operations.
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If a successful product liability claim were made against us, our business could be seriously harmed.
 

Our agreements with our customers typically, although not always, contain provisions designed to limit our exposure to potential product liability claims. Despite this, it is
possible that these limitations of liability provisions may not be effective as a result of existing or future laws or unfavorable judicial decisions. We have not experienced a material
product liability claim to date; however, the sale and support of our products may entail the risk of those claims, which are likely to be substantial in light of the use of our products
in critical applications. A successful product liability claim could result in significant monetary liability to us and could seriously harm our business.

 
Misuse of our drone products or unmanned products manufactured by other companies could result in injury, damage and/or negative press that could depress the market for
unmanned systems.

 
If any of our drone products are misused by our customers or their designees, or by the operators of other unmanned systems, in violation of the new commercial drone

regulations (Part 107) adopted by the FAA or other federal, state or local regulations, such misuse could result in injuries to the operators or bystanders, damage to property
and/or negative press that could result in a reduction in the market for aerostats or tethered drones in the future. The FAA, the press and the public have been closely monitoring
the growth of unmanned systems in the United States. For instance, the FAA regularly publishes reports of drone sighting and reported drone strikes of manned aircraft. One or
more incidents involving unmanned systems that results in injury or death of individuals, or damaged property could result in negative press that could put at risk current and
future growth.
 
Our tethered aerostat and drone business and operations are subject to the risks of hurricanes, tropical storms, and other natural disasters.
 

The corporate headquarters and manufacturing operations of our tethered aerostat and drone business operations are located in Jacksonville, Florida, where major
hurricanes, tropical storms, and other severe weather conditions have occurred. A significant natural disaster, such as a hurricane, tropical storm, or other severe weather storm
could severely affect our ability to conduct normal business operations for that product line, and as a result, our future operating results could be materially and adversely affected.

 
If we are unable to recruit and retain key management, technical and sales personnel, our business would be negatively affected.

 
For our business to be successful, we need to attract and retain highly-qualified technical, management and sales personnel. The failure to recruit additional key personnel

when needed with specific qualifications and on acceptable terms or to retain good relationships with our partners might impede our ability to continue to develop, commercialize
and sell our products. To the extent the demand for skilled personnel exceeds supply, we could experience higher labor, recruiting and training costs in order to attract and retain
such employees. The loss of any members of our management team may also delay or impair achievement of our business objectives and result in business disruptions due to the
time needed for their replacements to be recruited and become familiar with our business.  We face competition for qualified personnel from other companies with significantly more
resources available to them and thus may not be able to attract the level of personnel needed for our business to succeed.

 
If we are required to reclassify independent contractors as employees, we may incur additional costs and taxes which could adversely affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects.

 
We engage a significant number of independent contractors in our operations, particularly in our research and development efforts, for whom we do not pay or withhold

any federal, state or provincial employment tax. There are a number of different tests used in determining whether an individual is an employee or an independent contractor and
such tests generally take into account multiple factors. There can be no assurance that legislative, judicial or regulatory (including tax) authorities will not introduce proposals or
assert interpretations of existing rules and regulations that would change, or at least challenge, the classification of our independent contractors. Although we believe we have
properly classified our independent contractors, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service or other U.S. federal or state authorities or similar authorities of a foreign government may
determine that we have misclassified our independent contractors for employment tax or other purposes and, as a result, seek additional taxes from us or attempt to impose fines
and penalties. If we are required to pay employer taxes or pay federal withholding with respect to prior periods with respect to or on behalf of our independent contractors, our
operating costs will increase, which could adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

 
We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, and we cannot assure you that additional material weaknesses or significant
deficiencies will not occur in the future. If our internal control over financial reporting or our disclosure controls and procedures are not effective, we may not be able to
accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud, which may cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information and may lead to a decline in our
stock price.
 

We have historically had a small internal accounting and finance staff with limited financial accounting systems. This lack of adequate accounting resources has resulted
in the identification of material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting. A “material weakness” is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely
basis. In connection with the audit of our financial statements for the period from January 10, 2019 (inception) through December 31, 2019, our management team identified material
weaknesses relating to, among other matters:

 
 ● management lacks personnel with sufficient knowledge and experience with U.S. GAAP to prepare and review our financial statements, footnotes and supporting

schedules;
 

 ● we did not effectively segregate certain accounting duties due to the small size of our accounting staff;
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 ● we have identified a significant number of material transactions that were not properly recorded or were not recorded at all in the subsidiary ledgers;

 
 ● a lack of timely reconciliations of the account balances affected by the improperly recorded or omitted transactions; and

 
 ● there is a lack of documented and tested internal controls to meet the requirements of Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

  
We have taken steps, and plan to continue to take additional steps, to seek to remediate these material weaknesses and to improve our financial reporting systems and to

implement new policies, procedures and controls. If we do not successfully remediate the material weaknesses described above, or if other material weaknesses or other
deficiencies arise in the future, we may be unable to accurately report our financial results on a timely basis, which could cause our reported financial results to be materially
misstated and require restatement which could result in the loss of investor confidence, delisting and/or cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

 
We have never declared a cash dividend and do not intend to declare a cash dividend in the foreseeable future.
 

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. Payment of dividends on our common stock is within the discretion of our Board of Directors and
will depend upon our future earnings, capital requirements, financial condition and other relevant factors. In addition, current or future loan agreements may restrict our ability to
pay dividends. We do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.

 
Risks Relating to our Common Stock and its Market Value

 
Our common stock presently is listed for trading on the OTCQB which means you may not be able to resell shares of our common stock publicly, if at all, at times or prices
you feel are fair and appropriate.

 
While we may in the future seek to list our common stock on a national securities exchange, our common stock presently is listed for trading on the OTC Market’s OTCQB

market, which means you may not be able to resell shares of our common stock publicly, if at all, at times or prices you feel are fair and appropriate. A listing on the OTC Markets is
generally understood to be a less active, and therefore less liquid, trading market than other types of markets such as a stock exchange. Compared to a listing on a stock exchange,
a listing on the OTC Markets can be expected to have an adverse effect on the liquidity of our common stock, not only in terms of the number of shares that can be bought and
sold at a given price, but also through delays in the timing of transactions and reduction in security analysts’ and the media’s coverage of us and our common stock. This may
result in lower prices for our common stock than might otherwise be obtained and could also result in a larger spread between the bid and asked prices for our common stock. In
addition, we have had small trading volume in our common stock, which makes it difficult for our stockholders to sell their shares as and when they choose. Small trading volumes
generally depress market prices. As a result, we believe that you may not be able to resell shares of our common stock publicly, if at all, at times or prices that you feel are fair or
appropriate.

 
Our common stock has had an unpredictable trading volume which means you may not be able to sell our shares at or near trading prices or at all.
 

Trading in our common stock historically has been volatile and often has been thin, meaning that the number of persons interested in purchasing our common stock at or
near trading prices at any given time may be relatively small or non-existent. This situation is attributable to a number of factors, including the fact that we are a small company
which is relatively unknown to stock analysts, stock brokers, institutional investors and others in the investment community that generate or influence sales volume, and that even
if we came to the attention of such persons, they tend to be risk-averse and would be reluctant to follow an unproven company such as ours or purchase or recommend the
purchase of our shares until such time as we became more seasoned and viable. As a consequence, there may be periods of several days or more when trading activity in our
shares is minimal, as compared to a seasoned issuer which has a large and steady volume of trading activity that will generally support continuous sales without an adverse effect
on share price. A broader or more active public trading market for our common stock may not develop or be sustained, and current trading levels may decrease.
 
Our stock price may be volatile, which could result in substantial losses to investors and litigation.
 

In addition to changes to market prices based on our results of operations and the factors discussed elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section, the market price of and
trading volume for our common stock may change for a variety of other reasons, not necessarily related to our actual operating performance.  The capital markets have experienced
extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies.  These broad market fluctuations may adversely affect the trading price of our
common stock.  In addition, the average daily trading volume of the securities of small companies can be very low, which may contribute to future volatility.  Factors that could
cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate significantly include:
 

● the results of operating and financial performance and prospects of other companies in our industry;
   

● strategic actions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions or restructurings;
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● announcements of innovations, increased service capabilities, new or terminated customers or new, amended or terminated contracts by our competitors;

   
● the public’s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements, and filings with the SEC;

   
● lack of securities analyst coverage or speculation in the press or investment community about us or market opportunities in the telecommunications services and

staffing industry;
   

● changes in government policies in the United States and, as our international business increases, in other foreign countries;
   

● changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by securities or research analysts who track our common stock or failure of our actual results of operations to
meet those expectations;

   
● market and industry perception of our success, or lack thereof, in pursuing our growth strategy;

   
● changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations or principles;

   
● any lawsuit involving us, our services or our products;

   
● arrival and departure of key personnel;

   
● sales of common stock by us, our investors or members of our management team; and

   
● changes in general market, economic and political conditions in the United States and global economies or financial markets, including those resulting from natural or

man-made disasters.
 

Any of these factors, as well as broader market and industry factors, may result in large and sudden changes in the trading volume of our common stock and could
seriously harm the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating performance.  This may prevent you from being able to sell your shares at or above the price you
paid for your shares of our common stock, if at all.  In addition, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, stockholders often institute securities
class action litigation against that company.  Our involvement in any class action suit or other legal proceeding could divert our senior management’s attention and could
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

 
The sale or availability for sale of substantial amounts of our common stock could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
 

Sales of substantial amounts of shares of our common stock, or the perception that these sales could occur, could adversely affect the market price of our common stock
and could impair our future ability to raise capital through common stock offerings. Our executive officers and directors beneficially own, collectively, a substantial percentage of
our outstanding common stock. If one or more of them were to sell a substantial portion of the shares they hold, it could cause our stock price to decline.
 

In connection with the ComSovereign Acquisition in November 2019, we issued in the aggregate 95,000,000 shares of our common stock, all of which shares were
restricted shares that may be sold in the public markets pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act on and after November 27, 2020. As a result of such acquisition, an additional
2,300,000 restricted shares of our common stock held by certain current and former employees vested, which shares may be sold in the public markets pursuant to Rule 144 under
the Securities Act on and after November 27, 2020. In addition, as of December 31, 2019, there were outstanding options and warrants to purchase an aggregate of 9,198,523 shares
of our common stock at a weighted-average exercise price of $0.65 per share, all of which were exercisable as of such date. At such date, we also had outstanding $375,000
aggregate principal amount of convertible debt plus accrued interest thereon, with a weighted average conversion price of $4.33 per share of common stock. The exercise of
options at prices below the market price of our common stock could adversely affect the price of shares of our common stock. Additional dilution may result from the issuance of
shares of our capital stock in connection with acquisitions or in connection with other financing efforts. Any issuance of our common stock that is not made solely to then-existing
stockholders proportionate to their interests, such as in the case of a stock dividend or stock split, will result in dilution to each stockholder.
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Our directors and officers own or control approximately 47.0% of our outstanding common stock, which may limit your ability to propose new management or influence the
overall direction of the business; this concentration of control may also discourage potential takeovers that could otherwise provide a premium to you.
 

As of June 26, 2020, our officers and directors beneficially owned or controlled approximately 47.0% of our outstanding common stock, assuming the exercise of all
outstanding options, restricted stock units and warrants held by our officers and directors. These persons will have the ability to substantially influence all matters submitted to
our stockholders for approval and to substantially influence or control our management and affairs, including extraordinary transactions such as mergers and other changes of
corporate control, and going private transactions.

 
If we do not meet the listing standards of a national securities exchange, our investors’ ability to make transactions in our securities will be limited and we will be subject to
additional trading restrictions.
 

Our common stock currently is traded on the OTC Markets OTCQB market and has not yet qualified for listing on a national securities exchange, such as the New York
Stock Exchange or NASDAQ. Accordingly, we face significant material adverse consequences, including:

 
● a limited availability of market quotations for our securities;

 
● reduced liquidity with respect to our securities;

 
● our shares of common stock are currently classified as “penny stock” which requires brokers trading in our shares of common stock to adhere to more stringent rules,

resulting in a reduced level of trading activity in the secondary trading market for our shares of common stock;
 

● a limited amount of news and analyst coverage for our company; and
 

● a decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.
 

Our common stock is subject to the “penny stock” rules of the SEC and the trading market in our securities is limited, which makes transactions in our stock cumbersome and
may reduce the value of an investment in our stock.

 
The SEC has adopted Rule 15g-9, which establishes the definition of a “penny stock,” for the purposes relevant to us, as any equity security that has a market price of

less than $5.00 per share or with an exercise price of less than $5.00 per share, subject to certain exceptions. For any transaction involving a penny stock, unless exempt, the rules
require:

 
● that a broker or dealer approve a person’s account for transactions in penny stocks; and

 
● that the broker or dealer receive from the investor a written agreement to the transaction, setting forth the identity and quantity of the penny stock to be purchased.
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In order to approve a person’s account for transactions in penny stocks, the broker or dealer must:

 
● obtain financial information, investment experience and investment objectives of the person; and

 
● make a reasonable determination that the transactions in penny stocks are suitable for that person and the person has sufficient knowledge and experience in

financial matters to be capable of evaluating the risks of transactions in penny stocks.
 

The broker or dealer must also deliver, prior to any transaction in a penny stock, a disclosure schedule prescribed by the SEC relating to the penny stock market, which, in
highlight form:

 
● sets forth the basis on which the broker or dealer made the suitability determination;

 
● that it is unlawful for the broker or dealer to effect a transaction in a penny stock unless the broker or dealer has received a signed, written agreement from the

investor prior to the transaction; and
 

● that the broker dealer is required to provide the person with the foregoing written statement and that the person should not sign the written statement unless it
accurately reflects the person’s financial situation, investment experience and investment objectives.

 
Generally, brokers may be less willing to execute transactions in securities subject to the “penny stock” rules. This may make it more difficult for investors to dispose of

our common stock and cause a decline in the market value of our stock.
 

FINRA sales practice requirements may also limit a shareholder’s ability to buy and sell our stock.
 
In addition to the “penny stock” rules described above, Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”) has adopted rules that require that in recommending an

investment to a customer, a broker-dealer must have reasonable grounds for believing that the investment is suitable for that customer. Prior to recommending speculative low-
priced securities to their non-institutional customers, broker-dealers must make reasonable efforts to obtain information about the customer’s financial status, tax status,
investment objectives and other information. Under interpretations of these rules, FINRA believes that there is a high probability that speculative low-priced securities will not be
suitable for at least some customers. The FINRA requirements make it more difficult for broker-dealers to recommend that their customers buy our common stock, which may limit a
stockholder’s or investor’s ability to buy and sell our stock and have an adverse effect on the market for our shares.

 
Our officers and directors are entitled to indemnification from us for liabilities under our articles of incorporation, which could be costly to us and may discourage the
exercise of stockholder rights.
 

Our articles of incorporation provide that we possess and may exercise all powers of indemnification of our officers, directors, employees, agents and other persons and
our bylaws also require us to indemnify our officers and directors as permitted under the provisions of the Nevada Revised Statutes (“NRS”). We also have contractual
indemnification obligations under our agreements with our directors and officers. The foregoing indemnification obligations could result in our company incurring substantial
expenditures to cover the cost of settlement or damage awards against directors and officers. These provisions and resultant costs may also discourage our company from
bringing a lawsuit against directors, officers and employees for breaches of their fiduciary duties, and may similarly discourage the filing of derivative litigation by our stockholders
against our directors, officers and employees even though such actions, if successful, might otherwise benefit our company and stockholders.

 
Our bylaws and Nevada law may discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our company or changes in our management, would have the result of depressing the
trading price of our common stock.
 

Certain anti-takeover provisions of Nevada law could have the effect of delaying or preventing a third-party from acquiring us, even if the acquisition arguably could
benefit our stockholders.

 
Nevada’s “combinations with interested stockholders” statutes, NRS 78.411 through 78.444, inclusive, prohibit specified types of business “combinations” between

certain Nevada corporations and any person deemed to be an “interested stockholder” for two years after such person first becomes an “interested stockholder” unless the
corporation’s board of directors approves the combination, or the transaction by which such person becomes an “interested stockholder”, in advance, or unless the combination is
approved by the board of directors and sixty percent of the corporation’s voting power not beneficially owned by the interested stockholder, its affiliates and associates. Further,
in the absence of prior approval certain restrictions may apply even after such two-year period. However, these statutes do not apply to any combination of a corporation and an
interested stockholder after the expiration of four years after the person first became an interested stockholder. For purposes of these statutes, an “interested stockholder” is any
person who is (1) the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of ten percent or more of the voting power of the outstanding voting shares of the corporation, or (2) an affiliate or
associate of the corporation and at any time within the two previous years was the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of ten percent or more of the voting power of the then
outstanding shares of the corporation. The definition of the term “combination” is sufficiently broad to cover most significant transactions between a corporation and an
“interested stockholder.” These statutes generally apply to Nevada corporations with 200 or more stockholders of record. However, a Nevada corporation may elect in its articles
of incorporation not to be governed by these particular laws, but if such election is not made in the corporation’s original articles of incorporation, the amendment (1) must be
approved by the affirmative vote of the holders of stock representing a majority of the outstanding voting power of the corporation not beneficially owned by interested
stockholders or their affiliates and associates, and (2) is not effective until 18 months after the vote approving the amendment and does not apply to any combination with a person
who first became an interested stockholder on or before the effective date of the amendment. We did not make such an election in our original articles of incorporation and have
not amended our articles of incorporation to so elect.
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Nevada’s “acquisition of controlling interest” statutes, NRS 78.378 through 78.3793, inclusive, contain provisions governing the acquisition of a controlling interest in

certain Nevada corporations. These “control share” laws provide generally that any person that acquires a “controlling interest” in certain Nevada corporations may be denied
voting rights, unless a majority of the disinterested stockholders of the corporation elects to restore such voting rights. Our bylaws provide that these statutes do not apply to us
or any acquisition of our common stock. Absent such provision in our bylaws, these laws would apply to us as of a particular date if we were to have 200 or more stockholders of
record (at least 100 of whom have addresses in Nevada appearing on our stock ledger at all times during the 90 days immediately preceding that date) and do business in the State
of Nevada directly or through an affiliated corporation, unless our articles of incorporation or bylaws in effect on the tenth day after the acquisition of a controlling interest provide
otherwise. These laws provide that a person acquires a “controlling interest” whenever a person acquires shares of a subject corporation that, but for the application of these
provisions of the NRS, would enable that person to exercise (1) one fifth or more, but less than one third, (2) one third or more, but less than a majority or (3) a majority or more, of
all of the voting power of the corporation in the election of directors. Once an acquirer crosses one of these thresholds, shares which it acquired in the transaction taking it over
the threshold and within the 90 days immediately preceding the date when the acquiring person acquired or offered to acquire a controlling interest become “control shares” to
which the voting restrictions described above apply.

 
Various provisions of our bylaws may delay, defer or prevent a tender offer or takeover attempt of us that a stockholder might consider in his or her best interest. Our

bylaws may be adopted, amended or repealed by the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of our outstanding shares of capital stock entitled to vote for the election
of directors, and except as provided by Nevada law, our Board of Directors shall have the power to adopt, amend or repeal the bylaws by a vote of not less than a majority of our
directors. The interests of these stockholders and directors may not be consistent with your interests, and they may make changes to the bylaws that are not in line with your
concerns.

 
Nevada law also provides that directors may resist a change or potential change in control if the directors determine that the change is opposed to, or not in the best

interests of, the corporation. The existence of the foregoing provisions and other potential anti-takeover measures could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the
future for shares of our common stock. They could also deter potential acquirers of our company, thereby reducing the likelihood that you could receive a premium for your
common stock in an acquisition.
 
If equity research analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or if they issue unfavorable commentary or downgrade our common stock, the market price
of our common stock will likely decline.
 

The trading market for our common stock will rely in part on the research and reports that equity research analysts, over whom we have no control, publish about us and
our business.  We may never obtain research coverage by securities and industry analysts. If no securities or industry analysts commence coverage of our company, the market
price for our common stock could decline. In the event we obtain securities or industry analyst coverage, the market price of our common stock could decline if one or more equity
analysts downgrade our common stock or if those analysts issue unfavorable commentary, even if it is inaccurate, or cease publishing reports about us or our business.

 
Our articles of incorporation allow for our Board of Directors to create new series of preferred stock without further approval by our stockholders, which could adversely
affect the rights of the holders of our common stock.
 

Our Board of Directors has the authority to fix and determine the relative rights and preferences of our preferred stock. Currently our Board of Directors has the authority
to designate and issue up to 100,000,000 shares of our “blank check” preferred stock without further stockholder approval. As a result, our Board of Directors could authorize the
issuance of a series of preferred stock that would grant to holders the preferred right to our assets upon liquidation, the right to receive dividend payments before dividends are
distributed to the holders of common stock and the right to the redemption of the shares, together with a premium, prior to the redemption of our common stock. In addition, our
Board of Directors could authorize the issuance of a series of preferred stock that has greater voting power than our common stock or that is convertible into our common stock,
which could decrease the relative voting power of our common stock or result in dilution to our existing stockholders.

 

29 



 

 
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

 
None.

 
Item 2. Properties

 
Our principal executive offices are located in Dallas, Texas in segregated offices comprising an aggregate of approximately 15,289 square feet. We occupy our executive

offices under a 63-month lease that expires in July 2025. In addition, our subsidiaries lease property in Jacksonville, Florida (Drone Aviation Executive Offices), Holly Hill, Florida
(Drone Aviation Manufacturing Facility), Ottawa, Ontario, Canada (DragonWave), Tucson, Arizona (InduraPower), San Diego, California (VEO) and Colorado Springs, Colorado
(Sovereign Plastics). We believe our existing facilities are adequate to meet our current requirements. We do not own any real property.

 
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

 
From time to time, we may become involved in various lawsuits and legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. Neither our company nor any of our

subsidiaries currently is a party to any legal proceeding that, individually or in the aggregate, is material to our company as a whole, except as follows.
 

On May 22, 2020, Michael Powell filed suit against DragonWave-X, LLC, DragonWave-X, Inc., Transform-X, Inc., ComSovereign Corp, and our company in the Pima
County Arizona Superior Court, Case No. C20202216. Mr. Powell has alleged that he entered into an employment agreement with DragonWave-X, Inc. in July 2018, was terminated
without cause in May 2019, and is owed approximately $182,000 in wages and $50,000 in bonuses. Mr. Powell is seeking approximately $697,000 in treble damages, punitive
damages, consequential damages, interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. We dispute Mr. Powell’s allegations and we intend to vigorously defend the lawsuit.

 
On February 7, 2020, DragonWave agreed to repurchase inventory held by Tessco Technologies Incorporated (“Tessco”), one of DragonWave’s customers and note

holders. Upon receipt of the inventory, which is valued at $121,482, DragonWave agreed to reimburse Tessco $56,766, representing the balance due after making an initial payment
of $60,000. The return of inventory and payment to Tessco of $56,766 was required by February 28, 2020, but has not yet been made. On June 5, 2020, Tessco filed a complaint for
confessed judgment against DragonWave in the Circuit Court for Baltimore, Maryland, Case No. 5539212, for approximately $60,000, which it claims is the reimbursement amount.
We do not intend to oppose the entry of this judgment.

 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

 
Not applicable.
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PART II

 
Item 5. Market For Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

 
Market Information and Price Range of Common Stock

 
Our common stock is traded under the ticker symbol “COMS” on the OTCQB tier of the OTC Markets, Inc. Prior to January 13, 2020, our common stock traded under the

ticker symbol “DRNE”.
 

Holders
 

As of June 26, 2020, there were approximately 347 stockholders of record, according to the records of our transfer agent, and an unknown number of additional holders of
common stock held in ‘street name’. The closing bid price of our common stock on the OTCQB on June 26, 2020 was $1.09.

 
Dividends

 
We have not declared any common stock dividends to date. We have no present intention of paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future,

as we intend to use earnings, if any, to generate growth. The payment by us of dividends, if any, in the future, is within the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend
upon, among other things, our earnings, capital requirements and financial condition, as well as other relevant factors. There are no material restrictions in our Articles of
Incorporation, as amended, or Bylaws that restrict us from declaring dividends.

  
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
 

There have been no sales of unregistered securities within the last two years that would be required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 701 of Regulation S-K, with the
exception of the following:

 
On January 31, 2020, we entered into an agreement with a consultant to Lextrum to amend a consulting agreement between the consultant and Lextrum to allow the

consultant to elect to take from 50% to 100% of its compensation in the form of our common stock. Common stock to be issued to the consultant will be paid on a quarterly basis.
On March 12, 2020, we issued 165,095 shares of our common stock in satisfaction of $106,238 that was owed by Lextrum to the consultant for services previously rendered.

 
On March 5, 2020, as partial consideration for a loan we received from an accredited investor, we issued 50,000 shares of our common stock for a purchase price of $0.01

per share. On May 29, 2020, as partial consideration for another loan we received from an accredited investor, we issued 50,000 shares of our common stock for no additional
consideration.

 
On April 30, 2020, we issued to an investor 283,530 shares of our common stock upon the exercise of warrants previously issued to such investor by ComSovereign with

an exercise price of $0.01 per share and 21,196 shares of common stock in lieu of an aggregate cash interest payment payable by ComSovereign through December 31, 2019 on its
outstanding convertible debentures and promissory notes help by such investor.

 
All the above mentioned shares were issued by us in reliance upon the exemption from registration available under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act, including

Regulation D promulgated thereunder, and the certificates representing such shares include a legend stating that the shares represented thereby have not been registered under
the Securities Act and cannot be transferred until properly registered under the Securities Act or pursuant to an exemption from such registration.

 
Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

 
Not required under Regulation S-K for smaller reporting companies. 
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

 
The following management discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with our consolidated

financial statements and the related notes (“Notes”) beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report. Except for the historical information contained therein, the discussions in
this MD&A contain “forward-looking” statements based upon current expectations that involve risks and uncertainties, such as plans, strategies, objectives, expectations and
intentions. Actual results and the timing of events could differ materially from those anticipated in these “forward-looking” statements that involve risks and uncertainties.
Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below and those discussed under Forward-Looking Statements at the
beginning of this Annual Report and under Item 1B, “Risk Factors” elsewhere in this Annual Report.

  
Business Overview
 

We are a provider of technologically-advanced telecom solutions to network operators, mobile device carriers, governmental units and other enterprises worldwide. We
have assembled a portfolio and partnership of communications, power and niche technologies, capabilities and products that enable the upgrading of latent 3G networks to 4G and
4G-LTE networks and will facilitate the rapid rollout of the 5G and “next-Generation” (“nG”) networks of the future. We focus on special capabilities, including signal modulations,
antennae, software, hardware and firmware technologies that enable increasingly efficient data transmission across the radio-frequency spectrum. Our product solutions are
complemented by a broad array of services including technical support, systems design and integration and sophisticated research and development programs. While we compete
globally on the basis of our innovative technology, broad product offerings, high-quality and cost-effective customer solutions, as well as the scale of our global customer base
and distribution, our primary focus is on the North American telecom infrastructure and service market. In addition, we believe we are in a unique position to rapidly increase our
near-term domestic sales as we are among the few U.S.-based providers of telecommunications equipment and services.

 
For additional information, see Part I, Item 1., Business of this Annual Report.
 

Corporate History
 

We were incorporated in Nevada on April 17, 2014, as a wholly owned subsidiary of MacroSolve, Inc., an Oklahoma corporation (“MacroSolve”), and effective April 30,
2014, in order to consolidate our operations into an entity incorporated in Nevada, MacroSolve merged with and into us. On June 3, 2014, we acquired Drone Aviation Corp.
through a share exchange transaction, and on March 26, 2015, Drone Aviation Corp. merged with and into us. As a result of the share exchange and merger with Drone Aviation
Corp., we acquired Drone Aviation Corp.’s subsidiary, Lighter Than Air Systems Corp., which does business under the name Drone Aviation.

 
On November 27, 2019, we completed the ComSovereign Acquisition in a stock-for-stock transaction with a total purchase price of approximately $75 million. The

ComSovereign Acquisition was treated as a reverse merger for accounting purposes under U.S. GAAP with ComSovereign as the accounting acquirer and our company as the
accounting acquiree. As a result, our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report are those of ComSovereign from the date of its incorporation (January 10,
2019) through December 31, 2019. The operations of our pre-acquisition business, which consisted primarily of the operations of Drone Aviation, are included in our consolidated
operating results only from the date of acquisition of ComSovereign, November 27, 2019.

 
ComSovereign Corp. was incorporated in the state of Delaware on January 10, 2019 and commenced operations through a series of acquisitions.
 
On January 31, 2019, ComSovereign acquired the capital stock of VEO, a San Diego, California-based research and development company innovating SiP technologies for

use in copper-to-fiber-to-copper switching, high-speed computing, high-speed ethernet, autonomous vehicle applications, mobile devices and 5G wireless equipment.
 
On January 31, 2019, ComSovereign acquired the capital stock of InduraPower, a Tucson, Arizona-based developer and manufacturer of intelligent batteries and back-up

power supplies for network systems and telecom nodes. It also provides power designs and batteries for the aerospace, marine and automotive industries. 
 
On March 4, 2019, ComSovereign acquired the capital stock of Silver Bullet, a California-based engineering firm that designs and develops next generation network

systems and components, including large scale network protocol development, software-defined radio systems and wireless network designs.
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On April 1, 2019, ComSovereign acquired the equity securities of DragonWave, a Dallas-based manufacturer of high-capacity microwave and millimeter point-to-point

telecom backhaul radio units. DragonWave and its predecessor have been selling telecom backhaul radios since 2012 and its microwave radios have been installed in over 330,000
locations in more than 100 countries worldwide. According to a report by the U.S. Federal Communications Commission, as of December 2019, DragonWave was the second largest
provider of licensed point-to-point microwave backhaul radios in North America.
 

On April 1, 2019, ComSovereign acquired the capital stock of Lextrum, a Tucson, Arizona-based developer of full-duplex wireless technologies and components, including
multi-reconfigurable RF antennae and software programs. This technology enables the doubling of a given spectrum band by allowing simultaneous transmission and receipt of
radio signals on the same frequencies.

 
On November 30, 2019, following our acquisition of ComSovereign, we changed our corporate name to ComSovereign Holding Corp.
 
On March 6, 2020, our newly-formed subsidiary, Sovereign Plastics, acquired substantially all of the assets of a Colorado Springs, Colorado-based manufacturer of plastic

and metal components to third-party manufacturers. We acquired our Sovereign Plastics business to increase our operating margins by reducing the manufacturing and production
costs of our telecom products. Sovereign Plastics will also primarily operate as the material, component manufacturing and supply chain source for all of our subsidiaries. We do
not expect the revenues of Sovereign Plastics from sales to third parties to be material.

 
Each of our subsidiaries was acquired to address a different opportunity within the North American telecom infrastructure and service market.
 

Principle of Consolidation
 

Our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report include our accounts and those of our subsidiaries: Drone AFS Corp., Lighter Than Air Systems
Corp., DragonWave, Lextrum, Silver Bullet, VEO and InduraPower.

 
Segment Information
 

Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 280, Segment Reporting, establishes standards for reporting
information about operating segments. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated
regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Our chief operating decision maker
is our Chief Executive Officer, who currently reviews the financial performance and the results of operations of our operating subsidiaries on a consolidated basis when making
decisions about allocating resources and assessing performance of our company. Accordingly, we currently consider ourselves to be in a single reporting segment for reporting
purposes focused on the North American development, manufacturing and production of products and services for the telecom infrastructure market.
 

As we are still in the early stages of developing our company, we have historically managed our subsidiaries within this single operating segment and do not assess the
performance of our product lines or geographic regions or other measures of income or expense, such as product expense, operating income or net income. Each of our subsidiaries
is operated under the same senior management of our company, and we view the operations of our subsidiaries as a whole for making business decisions. Employees of one
subsidiary, particularly mechanical engineers, are often called upon to assist in the operations of another subsidiary. As the development of our company matures and we move
toward full scale production with increased marketing efforts, we will continue to evaluate additional segment disclosure requirements.
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Significant Components of Our Results of Operations
 
Revenues
 

Our revenues are generated primarily from the sale of our products, which consist primarily of backhaul telecom radios and tethered aerostats and drones. At contract
inception, we assess the goods and services promised in the contract with customers and identify a performance obligation for each. To determine the performance obligation, we
consider all products and services promised in the contract regardless of whether they are explicitly stated or implied by customary business practices. The timing of satisfaction of
the performance obligation is not subject to significant judgment. We measure revenue as the amount of consideration expected to be received in exchange for transferring goods
and services. We generally recognize product revenues at the time of shipment, provided that all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.
 

We expect our total revenues for the year ending December 31, 2020 (“fiscal 2020”) to materially exceed those of fiscal 2019 for the following reasons:
 

 ● ComSovereign experienced working capital shortages during fiscal 2019 due in part to preparatory actions, including manufacturing line readiness and subsidiary
integration actions, which impeded the ability of DragonWave to have products manufactured and shipped during the period. As of December 31, 2019, we had a backlog
of orders for our mobile network backhaul products in the amount of $542,543 with the majority of the products shipped in the first quarter of 2020 and the remainder of the
products shipped in the second quarter of 2020.
 

● As discussed below, our fiscal 2019 revenues did not include the 2019 revenues of Drone Aviation prior to November 27, 2019. In 2020, we will include all of the revenues
of Drone Aviation in our consolidated results of operations.

 
● During fiscal 2019, we received only nominal revenues from the sale of prototype intelligent battery back-up power solutions. In 2020, we expect to commence commercial

production of our intelligent batteries for the telecom, aerospace and transportation industries, which we expect will significantly increase our revenues from the sale of
those products.

 
During fiscal 2019, approximately 34% of our sales were to customers located outside of the United States, primarily in Saudi Arabia and Canada. We expect that over the

short term the percentage of our sales to foreign customers will increase during the build-up of our domestic sales and service teams. Notwithstanding such percentage increase,
we expect the sales of tethered aerostats and drones will primarily be to the domestic market customers, primarily to the U.S. government and its agencies, even if such systems are
for integration into foreign locations.
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Cost of Goods Sold and Gross Profit 

Our cost of goods sold is comprised primarily of the costs of manufacturing products, procuring finished goods from our third-party manufacturers, third-party logistics
and warehousing provider costs, shipping and handling costs and warranty costs. We presently outsource the manufacturing of DragonWave’s microwave products to a single
third-party manufacturer, Benchmark, which manufactures our products from its facilities. Cost of goods sold also includes costs associated with supply operations, including
personnel-related costs, provision for excess and obsolete inventory, third-party license costs and third-party costs related to the services we provide. Additionally, cost of goods
sold does not include any depreciation and amortization expenses as we separate depreciation and amortization expense into its own category within operating expenses.

Gross profit has been and will continue to be affected by various factors, including changes in our supply chain and evolving product mix. The margin profile of our
current products and future products will vary depending on operating performance, features, materials, manufacturer and supply chain. Gross margin will vary as a function of
changes in pricing due to competitive pressure, our third-party manufacturing, our production costs, costs of shipping and logistics, provision for excess and obsolete inventory
and other factors. We expect our gross margins will fluctuate from period to period depending on the interplay of these various factors. 

Operating Expenses 

We classify our operating expense as research and development, sales and marketing, and general and administrative. Personnel costs are the primary component of each
of these operating expense categories, which consist of cash-based personnel costs, such as salaries, sales commissions, benefits and bonuses. Additionally, we separate
depreciation and amortization expense into its own category. 

Research and Development 

In addition to personnel-related costs, research and development expense consists of costs associated with the design and development of our products, product
certification, travel and recruiting. We generally recognize research and development expense as incurred. Development costs incurred prior to establishment of technological
feasibility are expensed as incurred. We expect our research and development costs to continue to increase as we develop new products and modify existing products to meet the
changes within the telecom landscape. 

Sales and Marketing 

In addition to personnel costs for sales, marketing, service and product management personnel, sales and marketing expense consists of the expenses associated with our
training programs, trade shows, marketing programs, promotional materials, demonstration equipment, national and local regulatory approvals of our products, travel, entertainment
and recruiting. We expect sales and marketing expense to continue to increase in absolute dollars as we increase the size of our sales, marketing, service and product management
organization in support of our investment in our growth opportunities, whether through the development and rollout of new or modified products or through acquisitions. We
expect our sales and marketing expense to increase materially in the year ending December 31, 2020 as we ramp up our sales and marketing efforts in the third and fourth quarters to
correspond to our increased production efforts relating to certain of our telecom products.

General and Administrative 

In addition to personnel costs, general and administrative expense consists of professional fees, such as legal, audit, accounting, information technology and consulting
fees; share-based compensation; and facilities and other supporting overhead costs. We expect general and administrative expense to increase in absolute dollars as we continue
to expand our product offerings and expand into new markets. During fiscal 2020, we expect to incur increases in supporting overhead costs, professional fees, transfer agent fees
and expenses; development costs and other expenses related to operating as a public company. 

Depreciation and Amortization 

Depreciation and amortization expense consists of depreciation related to fixed assets such as test equipment, research and development equipment, computer hardware,
production fixtures and leasehold improvements, as well as amortization related to definite-lived intangibles. 

Interest Expense 

Interest expense is comprised of interest expense associated with our secured notes payable, notes payable and senior convertible debentures. The amortization of debt
discounts is also recorded as part of interest expense. As many of our debt instruments are currently past due and, as a result, are accruing interest at increased interest rates, if we
are able to refinance our debt or issue equity to reduce our outstanding debt, our interest expense would decrease due to lower interest rates on our debt or lower debt balances. 

Provision for Income Taxes 

Current and deferred income tax expense or benefit in any given period will depend upon a number of events and circumstances, one of which is the income tax net income
or loss from operations for the period which is usually different from the U.S. GAAP net income from operations for the period due to differences in tax laws and timing differences.
See Note 16 – Income Taxes in the Notes for a reconciliation on U.S. GAAP income or loss and tax income or loss. Management assesses our deferred tax assets in each reporting
period, and if it is determined that it is not more likely than not to be realized, we will record a change in our valuation allowance in that period.
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Results of Operations
 

(Amounts in US$’s, except share data)  

January 10,
2019

(Inception) to
December 31,

2019  
Revenue  $ 4,712,212 
Cost of Goods Sold (1)   2,990,716 
Gross Profit   1,721,496 
     
Operating Expenses     
Research and development  (1)   174,257 
Sales and marketing  (1)   6,222 
General and administrative  (1)   14,325,078 
Depreciation and amortization   7,567,184 
Gain on sale of fixed assets   (98,410)
Total Operating Expenses   21,974,331 
Net Operating Loss   (20,252,835)
Other Income (Expenses)     
Loss on conversion of debt   (2,640,000)
Net loss on extinguishment of debt   (434,774)
Foreign currency transaction gain   191,547 
Interest expense   (8,399,663)
Other expense   (147,430)
Total Other Expenses   (11,430,320)
Net Loss Before Income Taxes   (31,683,155)
Deferred Tax Benefit   4,137,900
Net Loss  $ (27,545,255)
Basic and Diluted Loss Per Share  $ (0.57)

 
(1) These are exclusive of depreciation and amortization
 
For January 10, 2019 (inception) to December 31, 2019
 
Total Revenues
 

Total revenues were $4,712,212 for the period from January 10, 2019 (inception) to December 31, 2019 (“fiscal 2019”), which were derived primarily from mobile network
backhaul products and to a lesser extent, from the sale of our aerostat products and accessories after November 27, 2019, the date of the ComSovereign Acquisition, and from the
test-market sale of certain high-performance after-market models of our intelligent batteries. Our fiscal 2019 revenues did not include 2019 revenues of Drone Aviation for the period
prior to the ComSovereign Acquisition, which amounted to $5,783,956.

 
Cost of Goods Sold and Gross Profit
 

Cost of goods sold were $2,990,716 for fiscal 2019, which primarily consisted of the payment to our contact manufacturer for the production of our mobile network
backhaul products and the materials, parts and labor associated with the manufacturing of our aerostat products and accessories and our intelligent batteries. Gross profit for the
period was $1,721,496 with a gross profit margin of 37% for the same period. Our fiscal 2019 cost of goods sold did not include 2019 cost of goods sold of Drone Aviation for the
period prior to the ComSovereign Acquisition which amounted to $2,388,193.
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Research and Development Expense
 

Research and development expense was $174,257 for fiscal 2019, which primarily consisted of payroll and related costs.
 

Sales and Marketing Expense
 

Sales and marketing expense was $6,222 for fiscal 2019, due to the limited sales and marking efforts we undertook in fiscal 2019.
 

General and Administrative Expense
 

General and administrative expense was $14,325,078 for fiscal 2019, which consisted of payroll and related costs of $3,896,325, business overhead costs of $2,497,008,
share-based compensation of $258,256 and company formation costs of $7,673,489 that primarily consisted of consulting fees, legal fees and valuation services in connection with
the five acquisitions completed by ComSovereign in fiscal 2019.

 
Depreciation and Amortization
 

Depreciation and amortization were $7,567,184 for fiscal 2019, which primarily included $6,943,300 of amortization on definite-lived intangible assets as well as $623,884 of
depreciation on test equipment, research and development equipment, computer hardware, production fixtures and leasehold improvements.

 
Gain on Sale of Fixed Asset
 

The gain on sale of fixed assets was $98,410 resulting from the sale of test equipment during fiscal 2019.
 

Other Income and Expenses
 

Total other expenses were $11,430,320 for fiscal 2019, which consisted of $8,399,663 of interest expense and amortized discounts and debt issuance costs on our
outstanding debt, a $2,640,000 loss on conversion of debt, a $434,774 net loss on extinguishment of debt and other expense of $147,430, which was partially offset by a $191,547
gain on foreign exchange transactions.
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Provision for Income Taxes 

 
The provision for income taxes for fiscal 2019 was a deferred tax benefit of $4,137,900 based on a pre-tax loss of $31,683,155 and a valuation allowance of $3,762,800

resulting in an effective tax rate of 13.1% for fiscal 2019.
 

Net Loss
 
Net loss was $27,545,255 for fiscal 2019 related to the items described above.
 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
Liquidity is the ability of an enterprise to generate adequate amounts of cash to meet its needs for cash requirements. As of December 31, 2019, we had $812,452 in cash

and $2,168,659 in accounts receivable. In addition, we had total current assets of $8,665,369 and total current liabilities of $15,142,599, or negative working capital of $6,477,230 as of
December 31, 2019.

 
On or prior to December 31, 2020, we have undiscounted obligations due relating to the payment of indebtedness, excluding forgivable debt related to the CARES Act, as

follows:
 

 ● $788,709 related to secured notes payable that are past due;
 

 ● $1,050,100 related to notes payable that are past due;
 

 ● $125,000 related to senior convertible debentures that are past due;
 

 ● $245,859 related to two secured notes payable classified as current due to breach of clauses which can be called for immediate repayment at any time;
 

 ● $600,000 related to a secured notes payable that is due in the fourth quarter of 2020;
 

 ● $8,491,550 related to notes payable that are due in the third quarter of 2020;
 
We anticipate meeting our cash obligations on our indebtedness that is payable on or prior to December 31, 2020 from earnings from operations, including, in particular,

DragonWave, which was acquired in April 2019, and possibly from the proceeds of additional indebtedness or equity raises. If we are not successful in obtaining additional
financing when required, we expect that we will be able to renegotiate and extend certain of our notes payable as required to enable us to meet our debt obligations as they become
due, although there can be no assurance that we will be able to do so.

Our future capital requirements for our operations will depend on many factors, including the profitability of our businesses, the number and cash requirements of other
acquisition candidates that we pursue, and the costs of our operations. We have been investing in research and development in anticipation of increasing revenue opportunities in
our cellular network solutions business, which has contributed to our losses from operations. Our management has taken several actions to ensure that we will have sufficient
liquidity to meet our obligations through December 31, 2020, including the reduction of certain general and administrative expenses such as travel, facilities cost and downsizing.
Additionally, if our actual revenues are less than forecasted, we anticipate implementing headcount reductions to a level that more appropriately matches the then-current revenue
and expense levels. We also are evaluating other measures to further improve our liquidity, including, the sale of equity or debt securities and entering into joint ventures with third
parties. Lastly, we may elect to reduce certain related-party and third-party debt by converting such debt into common shares. In March and April 2020, we entered into agreements
with certain debt holders to extend the maturity dates on such debt. We are currently in discussions with potential investors regarding the sale of our equity securities to enhance
our liquidity position. Our management believes that these actions will enable us to meet our liquidity requirements through June 2021. There is no assurance that we will be
successful in any capital-raising efforts that we may undertake to fund operations during the next 12 months.

We plan to generate positive cash flow from our recently-completed acquisitions to address some of our liquidity concerns. However, to execute our business plan,
service our existing indebtedness, finance our proposed acquisitions and implement our business strategy, we anticipate that we will need to obtain additional financing from time
to time and may choose to raise additional funds through public or private equity or debt financings, a bank line of credit, borrowings from affiliates or other arrangements. We
cannot be sure that any additional funding, if needed, will be available on terms favorable to us or at all. Furthermore, any additional capital raised through the sale of equity or
equity-linked securities may dilute our current stockholders’ ownership in us and could also result in a decrease in the market price of our common stock. The terms of those
securities issued by us in future capital transactions may be more favorable to new investors and may include the issuance of warrants or other derivative securities, which may
have a further dilutive effect. Furthermore, any debt financing, if available, may subject us to restrictive covenants and significant interest costs. There can be no assurance that we
will be able to raise additional capital, when needed, to continue operations in their current form. The report of our independent registered public accountants on our financial
statements for the period January 10, 2019 (inception) through December 31, 2019 stated that our losses, negative cash flows from operations, limited capital resources and
accumulated deficit raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.

 
We had capital expenditures of $87,038 in fiscal 2019. We expect our capital expenditures for next 12 months will be consistent with our prior spending. These capital

expenditures will be primarily utilized for equipment needed to generate revenue and for office equipment. We expect to fund such capital expenditures out of our working capital. 
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Line of Credit and Debt Agreements
 
Line of Credit
 

In 2017, we issued a promissory note (the “CNB Note”) to City National Bank of Florida (“CNB”) in the principal amount of $2,000,000. Through various amendments, the
CNB Note had a maturity date of August 2, 2020 and allowed for a CNB line of credit with advances that could have been requested until the maturity date of August 2, 2020 so
long as no event of default existed under the CNB Note or certain other events.

 
The CNB Note bore an interest rate equal to the average of the interest rates per annum at which U.S. dollars were offered in the London Interbank Borrowing Market

(“LIBOR”) for a 30-day period (the “Index”) plus 2.9 percentage points over the Index. A late charge of 5.0% of any monthly payment not received by CNB within 10 calendar days
after its due date would have been charged. Prepayment of the CNB Note was allowed at any time without penalty. In the event of a default, the interest rate would increase to the
highest lawful rate. As of December 31, 2019, the interest rate on the CNB Note is 4.6% per annum.

 
We and our former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Jay Nussbaum, were obligated to maintain a minimum average annual balance of $1,600,000 in the aggregate with

CNB. In the event we did not maintain this account balance, CNB could charge us a fee equal to 2% of the deficiency as additional interest under the CNB Note. The CNB Note was
personally guaranteed by Mr. Nussbaum and his estate, who along with us were obligated to maintain an aggregate unencumbered liquidity of no less than $6,000,000. In addition,
the CNB Note was secured by all of Drone Aviation’s accounts, inventory and equipment along with an assignment of a $120,000 bank account that we maintained at CNB. As of
December 31, 2019, $2,000,000 was drawn against the CNB line of credit.

 
On March 19, 2020, we entered into a note payable with the estate of Mr. Nussbaum in the amount of $2,022,722 bearing interest at 5% per annum with a maturity date of

August 31, 2020. Interest payments of $8,428 are due monthly while the full principal amount is due at maturity. The proceeds of the note payable were used to repay the balance of
the CNB Note.

 
Secured Notes Payable
 

In August 2016, InduraPower entered into a promissory note not to exceed the principal amount of $550,000 bearing interest at 8.5% per annum with a maturity date of
August 31, 2018. InduraPower could draw funds under the note through February 28, 2017. Interest on this note was payable monthly and the full principal balance was due at
maturity. On September 11, 2019, the note was amended and both parties agreed that the outstanding balance of $813,709 would be due on February 28, 2020. This promissory note
is secured by substantially all of the assets of InduraPower. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $788,709 was outstanding under this note. This note is
currently past due.

 
In August 2016, InduraPower entered into a promissory note in the principal amount of $50,000 with an interest of 7.785% per annum and a maturity date of September 1,

2021. Beginning April 1, 2017, equal monthly payments of $1,011 for interest and principal are due on the note for 60 consecutive months. This promissory note is secured by
business equipment, certain real estate and cash accounts of InduraPower and is guaranteed by certain officers of InduraPower. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal
amount of $21,571 was outstanding under this note. This note is classified as current as of December 31, 2019. See Note 10 – Debt Agreements in the Notes.

 
In August 2016, InduraPower entered into a promissory note in the principal amount of $450,000 that bears interest at 9.0% per annum and matures on March 1, 2022.

Accrued interest only payments were due monthly beginning October 1, 2016 through March 1, 2017. Monthly payments of $9,341 for interest and principal are due on this note for
the following 60 consecutive months. This promissory note is secured by all assets, certain real estate and cash accounts of InduraPower and is guaranteed by certain officers of
InduraPower. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $224,288 was outstanding under this note. This note is classified as current as of December 31, 2019. See
Note 10 – Debt Agreements in the Notes.

 
In November 2019, DragonWave entered into a secured loan agreement with an individual lender pursuant to which DragonWave received a $2,000,000 loan that bears

interest at the rate of 9% per annum and matures on November 26, 2021. Accrued interest is calculated on a compound basis and is payable semi-annually in May and November of
each year. Principal is due in full at maturity but can be prepaid in full or in part without penalty. The loan is secured by all of the assets of DragonWave and is guaranteed by
ComSovereign. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $2,000,000 was outstanding under this loan.

 
On February 26, 2020, we entered into a $600,000 secured business loan bearing interest at 81.74% per annum that matures on December 26, 2020. Principal and interest

payments of $19,429 are due weekly. The loan is secured by our assets.
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Convertible Note Payable

 
On April 29, 2020, we entered into a securities purchase agreement pursuant to which we issued a convertible promissory note in the principal amount of $285,714 with an

original issue discount of $35,714 and warrants to purchase 158,730 shares of our common stock for proceeds of $250,000. The note bears interest at a rate of 12.5% per annum and
matures on January 29, 2021. Within three business days of filing this Annual Report with the SEC, the investor is required to purchase, and we are required to issue and sell to the
investor, an additional convertible promissory note in the principal amount of $285,714 with an original issue discount of $35,714 along with warrants to purchase an additional
158,730 shares of our common stock for proceeds of $250,000. This note will bear interest at 12.5% per annum and mature on January 29, 2021. The investor will not be required to
purchase the additional securities if we are in default under the outstanding note or if certain other conditions are not met.
 
Notes Payable
 

We have one financing loan for certain of our equipment that bears interest at 8.775% per annum and is due September 15, 2020. As of December 31, 2019, the loan had an
outstanding balance of $3,828.

 
In September 2017, InduraPower entered into a promissory note in the principal amount of $137,500 that bore interest at a rate of 12% per annum and was due on October

17, 2017. The note was repaid during fiscal 2019. On June 10, 2019, InduraPower entered into a new promissory note with the same lender for $200,000 with an original issue
discount of $6,000 and a maturity date of July 9, 2019. The full $200,000 balance was due at maturity. Additionally, on August 14, 2019, InduraPower sold to the same lender an
additional $200,000 promissory note that matured on September 1, 2019. As these notes are currently past due, interest is accrued at a rate of 18% per annum on each note. As of
December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $400,000 was outstanding under these notes.
 

In connection with its acquisition of DragonWave and Lextrum in April 2019, ComSovereign assumed the obligations of the seller of a promissory note in the principal
amount of $500,000 bearing interest at 12.0% per annum with a maturity date of October 17, 2017. On October 1, 2019, the maturity date was extended until September 30, 2020 and
the interest rate was reduced to 10% per annum. All unpaid accrued interest from October 2017 through September 30, 2019 was converted into 150,000 shares of common stock of
ComSovereign. Accrued interest and the full principal balance are due at maturity. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $500,000 was outstanding under this
note. On April 30, 2020, we also issued 14,496 shares of common stock in lieu of an aggregate cash interest payment payable by ComSovereign through December 31, 2019 on this
outstanding note payable.

   
In connection with its acquisition of DragonWave and Lextrum in April 2019, ComSovereign assumed the obligations of the seller of a promissory note in the principal

amount of $175,000 that bore interest at the rate of 15% per annum and was due on November 30, 2017. The interest rate increased to 18% per annum when the note became past
due. On October 1, 2019, ComSovereign amended the promissory note to extend the maturity date to September 30, 2020 and to change the interest rate to 10% per annum. Both
parties to the note also agreed to convert all unpaid accrued interest into 10,000 shares of common stock of ComSovereign. Accrued interest and principal are due and payable at
maturity. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $175,000 was outstanding under this note.

    
In October 2017, DragonWave entered into a 90-day promissory note in the principal amount of $4,400,000 and received proceeds of $4,000,000. Through several

amendments, accrued interest was charged at the rate of 8% per annum, payment terms were amended and the maturity date was extended to February 28, 2019. On September 3,
2019, the promissory note was increased to $5,000,000 as all unpaid accrued interest was added to the principal balance. Additionally, the maturity date was extended to March 30,
2020 and the interest rate was changed to 10% per annum. Under this new amendment, principal and interest payments are due and payable monthly. As of December 31, 2019, an
aggregate principal amount of $5,000,000 was outstanding under this note. On April 21, 2020, the maturity date of this note was extended to August 31, 2020, and the interest rate
was increased to 12% per annum.

  
On June 10, 2019, ComSovereign entered into a promissory note in the principal amount of $200,000 with an original issue discount of $6,000 and a maturity date of July 9,

2019. The full $200,000 balance was due at maturity. Since this note was not repaid and is currently past due, interest is being accrued at a rate of 18% per annum. As of December
31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $200,000 was outstanding under this note.

 
On November 7, 2019, ComSovereign entered into several promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of $450,100 that bore interest at 133% per annum which

matured on December 6, 2019. An aggregate principal amount of $200,100 was owed to three related parties out of the $450,100 promissory notes. Accrued interest and principal
were due and payable at maturity. These notes are currently past due. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $450,100 was outstanding under these notes.

  
On March 5, 2020, Sovereign Plastics issued a promissory note in the principal amount of $500,000 that matures on September 4 for $450,000. Additionally, in lieu of

interest, we issued to the lender 50,000 shares of our common stock.
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On May 29, 2020, DragonWave issued a promissory note in the principal amount of $290,000 with an original issue discount of $40,000 for proceeds of $250,000. The note

matures on September 30, 2020 and will bear interest at the rate of 12% per annum on any principal balance not paid from the maturity date until paid in full. The promissory note is
guaranteed by our company and Mr. Hodges.

 
Senior Convertible Debentures
 

In connection with its acquisition of DragonWave and Lextrum in April 2019, ComSovereign assumed the obligations of the seller of $100,000 aggregate principal amount
of 8% Senior Convertible Debentures of the seller that bore interest at the rate of 8% per annum and matured on December 31, 2019. Interest was payable semi-annually in cash or,
at the seller’s option, in shares of the seller’s common stock at the conversion price that was equal to the lesser of (1) $8.00 or (2) 80% of the common stock price offered under the
next equity offering. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $100,000 was outstanding under these debentures. These debentures are past due and interest
accrues at a rate of 15% per annum. On April 30, 2020, these debentures were modified to remove the conversion feature and only have settlement through cash.

 
In connection with its acquisition of DragonWave and Lextrum in April 2019, ComSovereign assumed the obligations of the seller of $25,000 aggregate principal amount of

8% Senior Convertible Debentures of the seller that bore interest at the rate of 8% per annum and matured on December 31, 2019. Interest was payable semi-annually in cash or, at
the seller’s option, in shares of the seller’s common stock at the conversion price that was equal to the lesser of (1) $8.00 or (2) 80% of the common stock price offered under the
next equity offering. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $25,000 was outstanding under these debentures. These debentures are past due and interest
accrues at a rate of 15% per annum. On April 30, 2020, these debentures were modified to remove the conversion feature and only have settlement through cash.

 
On September 24, 2019, ComSovereign sold $250,000 aggregate principal amount of 10% Senior Convertible Debentures that bear interest at a rate of 10% per annum and

mature on December 31, 2021. Interest is paid semi-annually in arrears in June and December of each year in cash or, at ComSovereign’s option, in shares of common stock at the
conversion price that was equal to the lesser of (1) $2.50 or (2) a future effective price per share of any common stock sold. Upon an event of default, the interest rate shall
automatically increase to 15% per annum. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $250,000 was outstanding under these debentures. On April 30, 2020, these
debentures were amended to provide for the conversion of the debentures into shares of our common stock instead of ComSovereign’s common stock. Additionally, the
conversion price was changed from $2.50 per share to $0.756 per share.

 
Payroll Protection Program of the CARES Act

 
During April and May 2020, we and our subsidiaries received an aggregate of $455,185 under the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) of the CARES Act of 2020. These

loans are to cover 24 weeks of payroll expenses and may be used for a variety of other needs such as: payroll costs, salaries or commissions, rent, utilities and interest on other
outstanding debt. Management believe it is complying with the rules for forgiveness of these funds received under the PPP of the CARES Act.

 
Return of Inventory and Cash Payment

 
On February 7, 2020, DragonWave agreed to repurchase inventory held by Tessco, one of DragonWave’s customers and note holders. Upon receipt of the inventory,

which is valued at $121,482, DragonWave agreed to reimburse Tessco $56,766, representing the balance due after making an initial payment of $60,000. The return of inventory and
payment to Tessco of $56,766 was required by February 28, 2020, but has not yet been made. On June 5, 2020, Tessco filed a complaint for confessed judgment against
DragonWave in the Circuit Court for Baltimore, Maryland, Case No. 5539212, for approximately $60,000, which it claims is the reimbursement amount. We do not intend to oppose
the entry of this judgment.
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Sources and Uses of Cash
  

(Amounts in US$’s)  

January 10, 
2019 

(Inception) to 
December 31, 

2019  
Cash flows used in operating activities  $ (6,853,247)
Cash flows provided by investing activities   2,838,235 
Cash flows provided by financing activities   4,850,847 
Effect of exchange rates on cash   (23,383)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  $ 812,452 

 
Operating Activities
 

Net cash used in operating activities for fiscal 2019 was $6,853,247. Net cash used in operating activities primarily consisted of the net operating loss of $27,545,255, which
was partially offset by depreciation and amortization of $7,567,184 and amortized discounts and debt issuance costs on our outstanding debt of $8,458,341. Additionally, working
capital changes provided $4,908,914 in cash during the period.

 
Investing Activities
 

Net cash provided by investing activities for fiscal 2019 was $2,838,235. Net cash provided by investing activities primarily consisted of cash acquired from acquisitions of
$2,925,273, which was offset by purchases of property and equipment of $87,038.

 
Financing Activities
 

Financing activities for fiscal 2019 provided cash of $4,850,847. Financing activities primarily consisted of $6,249,170 of proceeds from the issuance of debt and $485,000 of
proceeds from the issuance of related party debt, which was offset by the repayment of $1,808,323 of debt and $80,000 of debt issuance costs.

 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have had or are reasonably likely to have a current or future material effect on our financial condition, changes in
financial condition, revenues, expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
 

Management believes that there have not been any recently issued, but not effective, accounting standards which, if currently adopted, would have a material effect on
the Company’s financial statements.

 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 

The following is not intended to be a comprehensive list of our accounting policies or estimates. Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 –
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes. In preparing our financial statements and accounting for the underlying transactions and balances, we apply our
accounting policies and estimates as disclosed in the Notes. We consider the policies and estimates discussed below as critical to an understanding of our financial statements
because their application places the most significant demands on our judgment, with financial reporting results dependent on estimates about the effect of matters that are
inherently uncertain and may change in subsequent periods. Specific risks for these critical accounting estimates are described in the following paragraphs. Preparation of this
Annual Report requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
our financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

 
Besides estimates that meet the “critical” accounting estimate criteria, we make many other accounting estimates in preparing our financial statements and related

disclosures. All estimates, whether or not deemed critical, affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses as well as disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities. Estimates are based on experience and other information available prior to the issuance of the financial statements. Materially different results can occur as circumstances
change and additional information becomes known, including for estimates that we do not deem “critical.”

 
Accounts Receivable and Credit Policies
 

Trade accounts receivable consist of amounts due from the sale of our products. Such accounts receivable are uncollateralized customer obligations due under normal
trade terms requiring payment within 30 to 45 days of receipt of the invoice. We provide an allowance for doubtful accounts equal to the estimated uncollectible amounts based on
historical collection experience and a review of the current status of trade accounts receivable. At December 31, 2019, we characterized $690,830 as uncollectible.
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Beneficial Conversion Features and Warrants
 

We evaluate the conversion feature of convertible debt instruments to determine whether the conversion feature is beneficial as described in ASC 470-30, Debt with
Conversion and Other Options. We record a beneficial conversion feature (“BCF”) related to the issuance of convertible debt that has conversion features at fixed or adjustable
rates that are in-the-money when issued and record the relative fair value of any warrants issued with those instruments. The BCF for the convertible instruments is recognized and
measured by allocating a portion of the proceeds to the warrants and as a reduction to the carrying amount of the convertible instrument equal to the intrinsic value of the
conversion features, both of which are credited to additional paid-in capital. We calculate the fair value of warrants with the convertible instruments using the Black-Scholes
valuation model. The Black-Scholes valuation model requires various inputs such as the annualized volatility of our stock, stock price and annual risk-free rate of return. As a
private company for the majority of 2019, we had to rely on factors outside the public markets for the inputs. If different inputs were used or different judgments were made, the
results could have a material adverse effect on our financial statements.
 

Under these guidelines, we allocate the value of the proceeds received from a convertible debt transaction between the conversion feature and any other detachable
instruments (such as warrants) on a relative fair value basis. The allocated fair value of the BCF and warrants are recorded as a debt discount and is accreted over the expected term
of the convertible debt as interest expense.
 
Revenue Recognition
 

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09 (Topic 606), Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Topic 606 supersedes the
revenue recognition requirements in Topic 605, Revenue Recognition and requires entities to recognize revenues when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. The principles in the standard are
applied in five steps: 1) identify the contract(s) with a customer; 2) identify the performance obligations in the contract; 3) determine the transaction price; 4) allocate the
transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and 5) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. We adopted Topic 606 as of
January 10, 2019 (date of inception).

 
Our revenue recognition policies are consistent with this five-step framework. Understanding the complex terms of agreements and determining the appropriate time,

amount and method to recognize revenue for each transaction requires judgment. These significant judgments include: (1) determining what point in time or what measure of
progress depicts the transfer of control to the customer; (2) applying the series guidance to certain performance obligations satisfied over time; and (3) estimating how and when
contingencies, or other forms of variable consideration, will impact the timing and amount of recognition of revenue. The timing and revenue recognition in a period could vary if
different judgments were made.

 
Long-Lived Assets and Goodwill
 

We account for long-lived assets in accordance with the provisions of ASC 360-10-35, Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets. This accounting standard requires
that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets
to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of
the asset.

 
We account for goodwill and intangible assets in accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other. ASC 350 requires that goodwill and other intangibles with

indefinite lives be tested for impairment annually or on an interim basis if events or circumstances indicate that the fair value of an asset has decreased below its carrying value.
 
Our acquisitions require the application of purchase accounting, which results in tangible and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities of the acquired entity being

recorded at fair value. The difference between the purchase price and the fair value of net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. We are responsible for determining the valuation
of assets and liabilities and for the allocation of purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

 
Assumptions must be made in determining fair values, particularly where observable market values do not exist. Assumptions may include discount rates, growth rates,

cost of capital, tax rates and remaining useful lives. These assumptions can have a significant impact on the value of identifiable assets and accordingly can impact the value of
goodwill recorded. Different assumptions could result in different values being attributed to assets and liabilities. Since these values impact the amount of annual depreciation and
amortization expense, different assumptions could also impact our statement of operations and could impact the results of future asset impairment reviews. Due to the many
variables inherent in the estimation of a business’s fair value and the relative size of our goodwill, if different assumptions and estimates were used, it could have an adverse effect
on our impairment analysis.

 
Share-Based Compensation
 

We account for share-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation-Stock Compensation. ASC 718 requires companies to measure the cost of
employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments, including stock options, based on the grant-date fair value of the award and to recognize it as
compensation expense over the period the employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award, usually the vesting period.

 
In determining the grant date fair value of share-based awards, we must estimate the expected volatility, forfeitures and performance attributes. Since share-based

compensation expense can be material to our financial condition, different assumptions and estimates could have a material adverse effect on our financial statements. 
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

 
Not required under Regulation S-K for smaller reporting companies.

 
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

 
Our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2019, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the period from

January 10, 2019 (inception) to December 31, 2019, together with the related notes and the report of our independent registered public accounting firm, begin on page F-2 of this
Annual Report.

 
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

 
None.

 
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
 
(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.

 
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)

that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file with SEC under the Exchange Act is recorded, processes, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

  
We are continuing to grow and evolve. During fiscal 2019, we acquired five different companies and continue to acquire companies. Our growth and the absorption of

acquired companies increases the strain on our limited staff and our accounting systems. Additionally, operations do not yet generate enough cash to fund operations causing
management to rely on financing activities to maintain the level of operations and funding needed for anticipated growth. In combination, these activities put stress on our overall
controls and procedures.

 
We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, consisting of our principal executive officer and principal financial

officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act). Based on that evaluation, our principal
executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report, our disclosure controls and procedures were not
effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the required time
periods and is accumulated and communicated to our management, consisting of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure. As such, material weaknesses identified below were discovered:

 
 ● management lacks personnel with sufficient knowledge and experience with U.S. GAAP to prepare and review our financial statements, footnotes and supporting

schedules;
 

 ● we did not effectively segregate certain accounting duties due to the small size of our accounting staff;
 

 ● we have identified a significant number of material transactions that were not properly recorded or were not recorded at all in the subsidiary ledgers;
 

 ● a lack of timely reconciliations of the account balances affected by the improperly recorded or omitted transactions; and
 

 ● there is a lack of documented and tested internal controls to meet the requirements of Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
 
Our management, consisting of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, do not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal

controls will prevent all error or fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of
the control system are met. Furthermore, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered
relative to their costs. Due to the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud,
if any, have been detected. In addition, as conditions change over time, so too may the effectiveness of internal controls. However, management believes that the financial
statements included in this Annual Report fairly present, in all material respects, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows for the period presented.
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(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

 
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the

Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to ensure that material information regarding our operations is made available to management and the Board
of Directors to provide them reasonable assurance that the published financial statements are fairly presented. There are limitations inherent in any internal control, such as the
possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of controls. As a result, even effective internal controls can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to
financial statement preparation. As conditions change over time so too may the effectiveness of internal controls.

 
Our management, consisting of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019

based on the 2013 Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (“COSO”) of the Treadway Commission. Based on this
assessment, and taking into account the operating structure of our company as it has existed from January 10, 2019 (date of inception) through December 31, 2019, as well as the
five acquisitions achieved by our subsidiary, ComSovereign Corp., as a privately-held company in fiscal 2019, management identified the material weaknesses with respect to
deficiencies in our financial closing and reporting procedures identified above. Management believes this is due to a lack of resources. Management intends to add accounting
personnel and operating staff and more sophisticated systems in order to improve our reporting procedures and internal controls, subject to available capital. Until we
have adequate resources to address these issues, any material weaknesses may materially adversely affect our ability to accurately report our financial condition and results of
operations in the future in a timely and reliable manner. In addition, although we continually review and evaluate internal control systems to allow management to report on the
sufficiency of our internal controls, we cannot assure you that we will not discover additional weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. Any such additional
weakness or failure to remediate the existing weakness could materially adversely affect our financial condition or ability to comply with applicable financial reporting requirements
and the requirements of our various financing agreements.

 
As a result of the business acquisitions and reverse merger completed during the year, there were significant changes to our internal control over financial reporting

during our fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 that materially affected our internal control over financial reporting that resulted in the material weaknesses identified above. Also
described above are management’s plans to address those material weaknesses.

 
This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the SEC that permit us to provide only
management’s report in this Annual Report.

  
Item 9B. Other Information.

 
None.
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PART III

 
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

 
Executive Officers and Directors
 

The following table sets forth the names and ages of the members of our Board of Directors and our executive officers and the positions held by each. Our Board of
Directors elects our executive officers annually by majority vote. Each director’s term continues until his or her successor is elected or qualified at the next annual meeting, unless
such director earlier resigns or is removed.  

 
Name  Age  Positions and Offices
Daniel L. Hodges  53  Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
John E. Howell  49  President and Director
Brian T. Mihelich  53  Chief Financial Officer
Dr. Dustin McIntire  45  Chief Technology Officer
Kevin M. Sherlock  58  General Counsel and Secretary
David Aguilar  64  Director
Richard J. Berman  77  Director
Brent M. Davies  71  Director
James A. Marks  66  Director
 

The following is information about the experience and attributes of the members of our Board of Directors and senior executive officers as of the date of this Annual
Report. The experience and attributes of our directors discussed below provide the reasons that these individuals were selected for board membership, as well as why they
continue to serve in such positions.

 
Daniel L. Hodges, 53, was appointed our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer upon the closing of the ComSovereign Acquisition on November 27, 2019. Prior to joining

our company, beginning in January 2019, Mr. Hodges was the Chief Executive Officer and co-founder of ComSovereign. In 2016, prior to his tenure with ComSovereign, Mr.
Hodges founded Transform-X, Inc., the former owner of ComSovereign’s DragonWave-X and Lextrum subsidiaries, and served as Chairman from 2016 to January 2019. Mr.
Hodges also founded and served as Chief Executive Officer of Medusa Scientific LLC, a science and engineering research and development company (“Medusa”). When one of
Medusa’s technologies showed commercial promise, he made the decision to spin it off and formed TM Technologies, Inc., a ‘sister-company,’ in 2013 to commercialize the
proprietary modulation technology owned by Medusa. He continues to serve as Board Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of TM Technologies, Inc. We believe Mr. Hodges has
an extraordinary business development mind-set, strong investigative research experience and deep experience within both the commercial sector and the U.S. Department of
Defense and related areas. In addition to his commercial successes, Mr. Hodges served for 26 years as a military member, rising to the rank of Lieutenant Colonel and spending his
last 18 years in service as a senior flight instructor with the Air National Guard. Mr. Hodges retired from the military in September 2014. In addition, Mr. Hodges holds multiple U.S.
patents as inventor, including a “Method and System for a Grass Roots Intelligence Program” along with numerous radar and communications and radar related technologies. As
an author, he wrote and published a volume titled “Future Span” covering current and future U.S. energy paradigms. As the founder and leader of multiple enterprises, he has built
organizations from inception that included subsidiaries covering focus areas of aerospace, marine, communications and scientific research and development.

 
John E. Howell, 49, was appointed our President and as a director of our company upon the closing of the ComSovereign Acquisition on November 27, 2019. Prior to

joining our company, beginning in January 2019, Mr. Howell was President and a director of ComSovereign. In 2016, prior to his tenure with ComSovereign, Mr. Howell founded
Transform-X, Inc., the former owner of ComSovereign’s DragonWave-X and Lextrum subsidiaries, and served as its President from 2016 to January 2019. Since November 2015, Mr.
Howell has also held senior roles within TM Technologies, Inc., including as President of TM Global, LLC. Prior to joining TM Global, Mr. Howell was a Co-Founder of the
Willowdale Family of boutique advisory companies. Mr. Howell continues to serve as Willowdale’s Non-Executive Chairman. Outside of leading efforts on behalf of Willowdale’s
clients, Mr. Howell is also an active leader with a number of national non-profits, particularly in the fields of children’s health and veterans’ affairs. Mr. Howell was an early member
of the Business Advisory Committee for the Muscular Dystrophy Association’s venture philanthropy activity. Mr. Howell also serves as one of the four directors of The Rip Van
Winkle Foundation, the New York-based Foundation funded largely with proceeds from the estate of late New York Yankee, Henry “Lou” Gehrig and his wife Eleanor. Previously,
Mr. Howell served the U.S. government in a variety of uniformed and civilian capacities worldwide for the United States Army and Central Intelligence Agency. Mr. Howell is both
Airborne and Ranger Qualified. Mr. Howell is a Fulbright Scholar and alumnus of Davidson College in Davidson, North Carolina.
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Brian T. Mihelich, 53, was appointed our Chief Financial Officer on January 2, 2020. Prior to assuming the role of our Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Mihelich was, since

September 2019, the Chief Financial Officer of our ComSovereign Corp. subsidiary, which we acquired in connection with the ComSovereign Acquisition on November 27, 2019.
Prior to joining ComSovereign Corp., Mr. Mihelich was from July 2015 to February 2019 Vice President – Managed Services at Ericsson. From 2014 to July 2015, Mr. Mihelich was
Head of Operations of the Vodafone account at Ericsson. We believe Mr. Mihelich has significant experience in the telecom sector where he has had senior management
responsibilities for numerous business relationships, including with AT&T, Sprint, Vodafone, Napster, Google and Facebook. He has managed operations with sales of up to $750
million and up to 600 direct and indirect employee reports. Mr. Mihelich served with distinction in the U.S. Air Force, and has also worked for the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission. Mr. Mihelich earned a B.S. in Business Administration from Northern Michigan University, and an MBA from the University of Texas.

 
Dr. Dustin McIntire, 45, was appointed our Chief Technology Officer upon the closing of the ComSovereign Acquisition on November 27, 2019. Dr. McIntire is an

electrical design engineer with more than 20 years of experience designing hardware and software for embedded and consumer electronics, wireless communications systems, and
the Internet of Things. Additionally, he has an acute broad area expertise over several technological fields and is a skilled technologist and systems architect with a history of
successfully leading projects and teams from concept through production utilizing extensive background in computer architecture, low power circuits, embedded software, and
communications protocols. He possesses a sharp ability to architect, design, fabricate, and manufacture successful products from concept to high volume production. Examples
include co-founding of a cloud-based SaaS company providing IoT services, hosting hundreds of thousands of devices for multiple Fortune 500 companies, and developing a
scalable edge computing system to perform distributed tracking using multimodal sensing assets. Companies he has led as either Chief Technologist, Chief Technology Officer or
Chief Executive Officer include Tranzeo Wireless Technologies, Inc., Arrayent, Inc., Prodeo Systems, Inc. and Silver-Bullet Technology, Inc. He holds a B.S. from Stanford, and
M.S. and Ph.D. degrees in Electrical Engineering from UCLA.

 
Kevin M. Sherlock, 58, was appointed our General Counsel and Secretary on January 2, 2020. Prior to joining our company, Mr. Sherlock was a partner in the law firm of

Heurlin & Sherlock, PC, in Tucson, Arizona, which he co-founded in 2008 and where he focused primarily on business litigation, securities arbitration, and security clearance
matters. While in the private practice of law, Mr. Sherlock also gained considerable experience in corporate structures and mergers and acquisition work. Mr. Sherlock is licensed to
practice law in Washington D.C., Florida and Arizona. Mr. Sherlock earned a Bachelor of Science degree in Multinational Business Operations from Florida State University and a
Juris Doctorate from Georgetown University Law Center.

 
David Aguilar, 64, was appointed to our Board of Directors on January 9, 2017. On September 4, 2019, following the demise of our former Chairman and Chief Executive

Officer, Jay Nussbaum, Mr. Aguilar was appointed Chairman of the Board and served in such capacity until the closing of the ComSovereign Acquisition, at which time Mr.
Aguilar resigned as Chairman of the Board but remained a director of our company. Since February 2013, Mr. Aguilar has been a principal at Global Security Innovation Strategies,
LLC. In April 2010, Mr. Aguilar became Deputy Commissioner of U.S. Customs and Border Protection (“CBP”) and, from December 2011 until his retirement in February 2013, he
served as acting Commissioner of CBP. From July 2004 to January 2010, he served as Chief of the U.S. Border Patrol within the CBP. As Acting Commissioner of CBP, Mr. Aguilar
took the helm of a workforce of 60,000 agents, officers and other personnel with responsibility for strategic planning and oversight of an annual budget of nearly $12 billion. Mr.
Aguilar is a recipient of the 2005 President’s Meritorious Excellence Award, and in 2008, was a recipient of the Presidential Rank Award. Prior to joining the CBP, Mr. Aguilar held a
variety of operational and administrative positions within the U.S. Board Patrol since entering duty in June 1978. Mr. Aguilar holds an Associate Degree in Accounting from
Laredo Community College and attended Laredo State University and the University of Texas at Arlington. He is a graduate of the Senior Executive Fellows program at Harvard
University’s John F. Kennedy School of Government. Mr. Aguilar’s government and management experience qualifies him to serve on the Board of Directors.
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Richard J. Berman, 77, was appointed to our Board of Directors on June 1, 2015. Mr. Berman’s business career spans over 35 years of venture capital, senior

management, and merger and acquisitions experience. In the past five years, Mr. Berman has served as a director and/or officer of over a dozen public and private companies. In
2016, he was elected Chairman of Cevolva Biotech Inc. From 2014-2016, he was Chairman of MetaStat, Inc. From 2006-2011, he was Chairman of National Investment Managers, a
company with $12 billion in pension administration assets. Mr. Berman is a director of four public healthcare companies: Advaxis, Inc., BioVie Inc., BriaCell Therapeutics Inc. and
Cryoport Inc. From 2002 to 2010, he was a director of Nexmed Inc. (now called Seelos Therapeutics, Inc.) where he also served as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in 2008 and
2009. From 1998-2000, he was employed by Internet Commerce Corporation (now Easylink Services) as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and was a director from 1998-2012.
Previously, Mr. Berman worked at Goldman Sachs; was Senior Vice President of Bankers Trust Company, where he started the M&A and Leveraged Buyout Departments; he
created the largest battery company in the world, in the 1980’s, by merging Prestolite, General Battery and Exide to form Exide Technologies (XIDE); he helped create SoHo, the
lower Manhattan neighborhood in NYC, by developing five buildings; and he advised on over $4 billion M&A transactions, completing over 300 deals. Mr. Berman is a past
Director of the Stern School of Business of NYU where he obtained his B.S. and M.B.A. degrees. He also has U.S. and foreign law degrees from Boston College and The Hague
Academy of International Law, respectively. Notably, Mr. Berman was nominated for public company “Director of the Year” in 2012. Dr. Berman brings to the Board extensive
leadership experience in the management of technology companies as well as experience in mergers and acquisitions.

 
Brent M. Davies, 71, was appointed to our Board of Directors upon the closing of the ComSovereign Acquisition on November 27, 2019. Mr. Davies is also a member of

the Board of Directors of TM Technologies, Inc. and a partner in his accounting practice in Salt Lake City, Utah. He has previously served as Chief Financial Officer of Patient
Central Technologies, Inc. and Chief Executive Officer of Robison, Hill & Co. Mr. Davies graduated from the University of Utah with a B.S. in Marketing and a B.S. in Management.
After serving as a manager in the S. S. Kresge Co. (K-Mart), he returned to school and received a B.S. in Accounting and an MBA (accounting option) from the University of
Wyoming. He is a Certified Management Accountant and has CPA certificates from California, Nevada, Utah and Wyoming. He has had more than 35 years of diversified public
accounting, industry and teaching experience, including national accounting firm auditing experience; serving as a controller of a small privately-owned company; serving on the
Board of Directors of several small public and private companies; and participating in accounting and marketing research projects that resulted in two of the articles which he
wrote, being published in national magazines. During his career in public accounting he has been involved with various oil and gas, coal, gold, silver, phosphate, sand and gravel
mining companies as a consultant, tax preparer, auditor (well over 300 audits) and in financial statement preparation. He has also served on the board of directors for two mining
companies. He has taught various tax and accounting courses at the University of Wyoming and has been a frequent speaker at seminars and workshops sponsored by
professional, civic and private groups. Mr. Davies brings to the Board extensive financial expertise and significant experience in public company financial leadership.
 

James A. Marks, 66, was appointed to our Board of Directors upon the closing of the ComSovereign Acquisition on November 27, 2019. James A. “Spider” Marks is the
President of The Marks Collaborative, an advisory firm dedicated to the development and transformation of corporate leaders and their organizations. He has led business ventures
that included entrepreneurial efforts in education, energy, information technology, and primary research. General Marks spent over 30 years in the United States Army holding
every command position from infantry platoon leader to commanding general. Significantly, in industry he was responsible for creating, training and managing a company that
staffed over 10,000 linguists in Iraq generating annual revenues of over $700 million in less than a year. He has led large multinational organizations and universities within NATO,
the European Union, Korea, Southeast Asia, and the Middle East. General Marks is a published author, routine guest speaker, leader and senior advisor for multiple corporations,
and has been an on-air military and intelligence analyst to CNN. In governmental relations, he prepared and presented testimonies for intelligence, armed services, and
appropriations committees of both houses of the U.S. Congress. He is an Honor Graduate of the U.S. Army’s Ranger School and a member of the Military Intelligence Hall of Fame.
General Marks has a Bachelor of Science degree in Engineering from the United States Military Academy at West Point, NY and a Master of Arts degree in Foreign Affairs from the
University of Virginia. Mr. Marks brings to the Board extensive leadership experience as well as significant experience in government relations and contracting.

 
Our Board of Directors does not have a formal policy regarding the separation of the roles of Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, as the Board believes that it is in the

best interests of our company to make that determination based on the direction of our company and the current membership of the Board. Our Board of Directors has determined
that having a director who is an executive officer serve as the Chairman is in the best interest of our stockholders at this time.
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Family Relationships

 
No director or executive officer is related by blood, marriage or adoption to any other director or executive officer.

 
Meetings of the Board of Directors

 
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, our Board of Directors held four meetings and approved 11 actions by unanimous written consent. We expect our

directors to attend all meetings of our Board of Directors and the committees thereof on which such directors serve and to spend the time needed to prepare for such meetings and
meet as frequently as necessary to properly discharge their responsibilities.
 
Board Committees and Director Independence

 
Even though we are not required to have any committees of our Board of Directors, our Board has three standing committees: an Audit Committee, Compensation

Committee and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.
 
Our Board of Directors has determined in its business judgment that Richard J. Berman, Brent M. Davies and James A. Marks are independent within the meaning of the

OTCQX Rules for U.S. Companies, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, and related SEC rules.
 

Communicating with the Board of Directors
 

Our Board of Directors has established a process by which stockholders can send communications to the Board. You may communicate with the Board as a group, or to
specific directors, by writing to Kevin M. Sherlock, our General Counsel and Corporate Secretary, at our offices located at 5000 Quorum Drive, Suite 400, Dallas, TX 75254. Our
General Counsel and Corporate Secretary will review all such correspondence and regularly forward to the Board a summary of all correspondence and copies of all
correspondence that deals with the functions of the Board or committees thereof or that otherwise requires their attention. Directors may at any time review a log of all
correspondence we receive that is addressed to members of our Board of Directors and request copies of any such correspondence. Concerns relating to accounting, internal
controls or auditing matters may be similarly communicated in this manner. These concerns will be immediately brought to the attention of our Audit Committee and resolved in
accordance with procedures established by our Audit Committee.
 
Audit Committee

 
The Board of Directors has adopted a written charter for the Audit Committee. Our Audit Committee is responsible for: (1) the integrity of our financial reporting process,

systems of internal controls, and financial statements and reports; (2) the compliance by us with legal and regulatory requirements; and (3) the appointment, compensation and
oversight of our independent auditor’s preparation and issuance of an audit report or related work. A more detailed description of our Audit Committee’s purposes and
responsibilities is contained in its charter.  The Audit Committee is comprised of Brent M. Davies (chair), Richard J. Berman and James A. Marks. Our Board of Directors has
determined in its business judgment that all of the members of our Audit Committee are independent within the meaning of the OTCQX Rules for U.S. Companies, the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, and related SEC rules. Our Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Davies is an “audit committee financial expert” within the meaning of Item 401(e) of
Regulation S-K. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, our Audit Committee held one meeting independent of our Board of Directors and did not approve any action by
unanimous written consent.
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Compensation Committee

 
Our Board of Directors has adopted a written charter setting forth the authority and responsibilities of the Compensation Committee. Our Compensation Committee has

responsibility for assisting the Board of Directors in, among other things, evaluating and making recommendations regarding the compensation of our executive officers and
directors, assuring that the executive officers are compensated effectively in a manner consistent with our stated compensation strategy, producing an annual report on executive
compensation in accordance with the rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC, periodically evaluating the terms and administration of our incentive plans and benefit
programs, and monitoring of compliance with the legal prohibition on loans to our directors and executive officers. A more detailed description of our Compensation Committee’s
purposes and responsibilities is contained in its charter. The Compensation Committee is comprised of Richard J. Berman (chair), Brent M. Davies and James A. Marks. Our Board
of Directors has determined in its business judgment that a majority of our Compensation Committee is independent within the meaning of the OTCQX Rules for U.S. Companies
and SEC rules. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, our Compensation Committee held one meeting independent of our Board of Directors and did not approve any
action by unanimous written consent.
 
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

 
Our Board of Directors has adopted a written charter for the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee (the “Nominating Committee”). Our Nominating Committee

is responsible for: (1) determining the qualifications, qualities, skills and other expertise required to be a director and to develop and recommend to the Board for its approval,
criteria to be considered in selecting nominees for director (the “Director Criteria”); (2) identifying and screening individuals qualified to become members of the Board, consistent
with the Director Criteria; (3) selecting and approving the nominees for director to be submitted to a stockholder vote at the annual meeting of stockholders; (4) reviewing the
Board’s committee structure and composition and to appoint directors to serve as members of each committee and committee chairmen; (5) filling vacancies on the Board by
stockholder elections or through appointment by the Board; (6) developing and recommending independence standards to the Board in order to determine whether a director has a
relationship with our company that would impair its independence; and (7) monitoring and enforcing compliance with our company’s Code of Ethics and Business Conduct and
investigating any alleged breach or violations. A more detailed description of our Nominating Committee’s purposes and responsibilities is contained in its charter.  The
Nominating Committee is comprised of James A. Marks (chair), Richard J. Berman and Brent M. Davies.  Our Board of Directors has determined in its business judgment that all of
the members of our Nominating Committee are independent within the meaning of the OTCQX Rules for U.S. Companies, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and related SEC rules. The
Nominating Committee was formed in December 2019 and did not hold any meetings independent of the Board of Directors or approve any action by unanimous written consent
during the year ended December 31, 2019.

 
Board Leadership Structure and Role in Risk Oversight

 
Our Board of Directors is primarily responsible for overseeing our risk management processes. Our Board of Directors receives and reviews periodic reports from

management, auditors, legal counsel and others, as considered appropriate regarding our company’s assessment of risks. The Board of Directors focuses on the most significant
risks facing our company and our general risk management strategy, and also ensures that risks undertaken by us are consistent with the Board’s appetite for risk. While our Board
of Directors oversees our company, our management is responsible for day-to-day risk management processes. We believe this division of responsibilities is the most effective
approach for addressing the risks we face and that our Board leadership structure supports this approach.

  
Section 16(a) Beneficial Owner Reporting Compliance

 
Because we do not have a class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act, our executive officers and directors and beneficial owners of more than 10%

of our common stock are not required to file reports pursuant to Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act.
 

Code of Ethics
 

The Company has adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct that applies to all of its directors, officers (including our principal executive officer, principal financial
officer, principal accounting officer or controller, and any person performing similar functions) and employees. A copy of our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct is available
upon request by writing to Kevin M. Sherlock, our General Counsel and Corporate Secretary, at our offices located at 5000 Quorum Drive, Suite 400, Dallas, Texas 75254.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation.
 
Compensatory Arrangements of Certain Officers.
 

The following table provides certain summary information concerning compensation awarded to, earned by or paid to the individuals who served as our principal
executive officer at any time during fiscal 2019 and our two other most highly compensated officers in fiscal 2019. These individuals are referred to in this Annual Report as the
“named executive officers.”

 
Summary Compensation Table

 

Name and Principal Position  Year   
Salary

($)   
Bonus

($)   

Stock
Awards
($) (8)   

Option
Awards
($) (9)   

All Other
Compensation

($) (10)   
Total
($)  

Daniel L. Hodges (1)   2019   $ 173,096  $ —  $ 6,833  $ —  $ 14,500  $ 194,429 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer   2018    —   —   —   —   —   — 

                             
Daniyel Erdberg (2)   2019    179,167  395,833   650,000   —   63,569   1,288,569 

Former Chief Executive Officer and President   2018    165,833   175,000   232,750   347,904   17,525   939,012 
                             
Jay Nussbaum (3)   2019    200,000   100,000   —   —   —   300,000 

Former Chief Executive Officer   2018    245,000   225,000   315,000   848,017   29,096   1,662,113 
                             
John E. Howell (4)   2019    173,096   —   6,833   —   14,500   194,429 

President   2018    —   —   —   —   —   — 
                             
Dr. Dustin McIntire (5)   2019    163,562   —   6,833   —   11,500   181,895 

Chief Technology Officer   2018    —   —   —   —   —   — 
                             
Felicia Hess (6)   2019    160,000   —   130,000   —   12,303   302,303 

Former Chief Quality Officer   2018    150,833   25,000   302,050   347,904   22,744   848,531 
                             
Kendall Carpenter (7)   2019    175,000   —   260,000   —   33,305   468,305 

Former Chief Financial Officer   2018    165,833   35,000   35,000   147,859   3,506   387,198 
 

(1) Daniel L. Hodges was elected to our Board of Directors and was appointed our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer on November 27, 2019 in connection with the
consummation of the COMSovereign Acquisition. As an incentive to commence employment with us as Chief Executive Officer, in December 2019, we issued to Mr. Hodges a
restricted stock award of 300,000 shares of common stock, which shares shall vest annually in arrears in three equal installments on the first, second and third anniversaries of
employment. The 2019 salary of Mr. Hodges reflected in this table includes the salary in the amount of $159,781 payable to Mr. Hodges by ComSovereign for the period from
January 10, 2019 (inception) to November 27, 2019 in his capacity as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of ComSovereign, and $13,315 that was payable by our company for
the period November 28, 2019 to December 31, 2019, of which $3,000 was paid. As of December 31, 2019, $204,556 was accrued for payroll and payroll related expenses for Mr.
Hodges.

 
(2) Daniyel Erdberg served as our President, and from September 4, 2019, as our Chief Executive Officer and a Director, prior to his resignation from all positions with our company

on November 27, 2019 in connection with the consummation of the ComSovereign Acquisition. For service as Chief Executive Officer and President in 2019, on November 12,
2019, Mr. Erdberg was awarded 1,000,000 shares of restricted common stock that were subject to a change of control vesting condition. On November 27, 2019, all of such
shares fully vested in connection with the consummation of our ComSovereign Acquisition. We recognized a $650,000 expense in 2019 on the vesting of such restricted
shares. In addition, Mr. Erdberg received a bonus of $63,569 for taxes paid on his behalf on November 27, 2019.
 
For service as President, in 2018, Mr. Erdberg received one option award. On August 22, 2018, Mr. Erdberg was awarded a stock option to purchase 800,000 shares of our
common stock with an exercise price of $1.00 per share and a performance vesting condition. On September 26, 2018, the August 22, 2018 option was cancelled and reissued as
an option to purchase 1,000,000 of our common stock shares with an exercise price of $0.65 per share. On December 27, 2018, the option became fully vested. We recognized a
$347,904 expense in 2018 on the September 26, 2018 option award. Mr. Erdberg received a bonus of $17,525 for taxes paid on his behalf on the March 28, 2018 vesting of
332,500 shares of stock issued in September 2016 valued at $232,750 on the date vested. Mr. Erdberg earned a 2018 year-end bonus of $175,000 of which $150,000 was paid in
2018 and the balance of $25,000 was paid in 2019.

 
(3) On August 31, 2019, Jay H. Nussbaum, our Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer on that date, passed away. For service as Chief Executive Officer in 2018, Mr.

Nussbaum received one option award. On August 22, 2018, Mr. Nussbaum was awarded a stock option to purchase 1,950,000 shares of our common stock with an exercise
price of $1.00 per share and a performance vesting condition. One September 26, 2018, the August 22, 2018 option was cancelled and reissued as an option to purchase
2,350,000 shares of common stock with an exercise price of $0.65 per share. On December 27, 2018, the option became fully vested. We recognized $848,017 expense in 2018 on
the September 26, 2018 option award. Mr. Nussbaum received a bonus of $29,096 for taxes paid on his behalf on the March 28, 2018 vesting of 450,000 shares of stock issued in
September 2016 valued at $315,000 on the date vested. Mr. Nussbaum earned a 2018 year-end bonus of $225,000, of which $125,000 was paid in 2018 and the balance of
$100,000 was paid in 2019.
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(4) John E. Howell was appointed our President on November 27, 2019 in connection with the consummation of the ComSovereign Acquisition. As an incentive to commence

employment with us as President, in December 2019, we issued to Mr. Howell a restricted stock award of 300,000 shares of common stock, which shares shall vest annually in
arrears in three equal installments on the first, second and third anniversaries of employment. The 2019 salary of Mr. Howell reflected in this table includes the salary in the
amount of $159,781 payable to Mr. Howell by ComSovereign for the period from January 10, 2019 (inception) to November 27, 2019 in his capacity as President of
ComSovereign, and $13,315 that was payable by our company for the period November 28, 2019 to December 31, 2019, of which $3,000 was paid. As of December 31, 2019,
$204,556 was accrued for payroll and payroll related expenses for Mr. Howell.

 
(5) Dr. Dustin McIntire was appointed our Chief Technology Officer on November 27, 2019 in connection with the consummation of the ComSovereign Acquisition. As an

incentive to commence employment with us as Chief Technology Officer, in December 2019, we issued to Dr. McIntire a restricted stock award of 200,000 shares of common
stock, which shares shall vest annually in arrears in two equal installments on the first and second anniversaries of employment. The 2019 salary of Dr. McIntire reflected in
this table includes the salary in the amount of $150,685 payable to Dr. McIntire by ComSovereign for the period from January 10, 2019 (inception) to November 27, 2019 in his
capacity as Chief Technology Officer of ComSovereign, and $12,877 that was payable by our company for the period November 28, 2019 to December 31, 2019, of which $3,000
was paid. As of December 31, 2019, $191,840 was accrued for payroll and payroll related expenses for Dr. McIntire.

 
(6) Felicia Hess served as our Chief Operating Officer, which title was on September 4, 2019 changed to Chief Quality Officer, prior to her resignation from such position on

November 27, 2019 in connection with the consummation of our acquisition of COMSovereign LLC.
 

For service as Chief Quality Officer in 2019, on November 12, 2019, Ms. Hess was awarded a stock option to purchase 200,000 shares of restricted common stock that were
subject to a change of control vesting condition. On November 27, 2019, all of such shares fully vested in connection with the consummation of the ComSovereign
Acquisition. We recognized a $130,000 expense in 2019 on the vesting of such restricted shares. Ms. Hess received a bonus of $12,303 for taxes paid on her behalf on
November 27, 2019.
 
For service as Chief Operating Officer in 2018, Ms. Hess received one option award. On August 22, 2018, Ms. Hess was awarded a stock option to purchase 800,000 shares of
our common stock with an exercise price of $1.00 per share and a performance vesting condition. On September 26, 2018, the August 22, 2018 Option was cancelled and
reissued as an option to purchase 1,000,000 shares of our common stock with an exercise price of $0.65 per share. On December 27, 2018, the option became fully vested. We
recognized $347,904 expense in 2018 on the September 26, 2018 option award. Ms. Hess received a bonus of $22,744 for taxes paid on her behalf on the March 28, 2018 vesting
of 431,500 shares of stock issued in September 2016 valued at $302,050 on the date vested. Ms. Hess earned a 2018 year-end bonus of $25,000, off which $0 was paid in 2018
and the balance of $25,000 was paid in 2019.

 
(7) Kendall Carpenter served as our Chief Financial Officer until January 2, 2020. For service as Chief Financial Officer in 2019, on November 12, 2019, Ms. Carpenter was awarded

400,000 shares of restricted common stock that were subject to a change of control vesting condition. On November 27, 2019, all of such shares fully vested in connection with
the consummation of the ComSovereign Acquisition. We recognized a $260,000 expense in 2019 on the vesting of such restricted shares. Ms. Carpenter received a bonus of
$33,305 for taxes paid on her behalf on November 27, 2019
 
For services in 2018, Ms. Carpenter received one option award. On August 22, 2018, Ms. Carpenter was awarded a stock option to purchase 300,000 shares of our common
stock with an exercise price of $1.00 per share and a performance vesting condition. On September 26, 2018, the August 22, 2018 option was cancelled and reissued as an
option to purchase 425,000 shares of our common stock with an exercise price of $0.65 per share. On December 27, 2018, the option became fully vested. We recognized
$147,859 expense in 2018 on the September 26, 2018 option award. Ms. Carpenter received a bonus of $3,506 for taxes paid on her behalf on the March 28, 2018 vesting of
50,000 shares of stock issued in September 2016 valued at $35,000 on the date vested. Ms. Carpenter earned a 2018 year-end bonus of $35,000 that was paid in 2018.

 
(8) Amounts shown in the “Stock Awards” column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value calculated in accordance with FASB ASC 718 for the respective fiscal year with

respect to shares of restricted stock and immediately vested shares granted to our named executive officers. Amounts reflect our accounting for these awards and do not
necessarily correspond to the actual values that may be realized by our named executive officers. The grant date fair values of shares of restricted stock and immediately
vested shares were determined as of the grant date using the closing bid price of our common stock on the grant date. The assumptions used for the valuations are set forth in
Note 12 – Shareholders’ Equity in the Notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Pursuant to SEC rules, we disregarded the estimates of forfeitures related to service-
based vesting conditions. See the “Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End” table in this Annual Report and related notes for information with respect to equity awards
made prior to fiscal 2018.

 
(9) Amounts shown in the “Option Awards” column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value calculated in accordance with FASB ASC 718 for the respective fiscal year with

respect to stock options granted to our named executive officers. Amounts reflect our accounting for these option grants and do not necessarily correspond to the actual
values that may be realized by our named executive officers. The grant date fair values of these option grants were calculated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model. The assumptions used for the valuations are set forth in Note 14 – Share-Based Compensation in the Notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Pursuant
to SEC rules, we disregarded the estimates of forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions. See the “Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End” table in this
Annual Report and related notes for information with respect to stock options granted prior to fiscal 2018.
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(10) Categories and values of awards reported in “All Other Compensation” are set forth in the following table:

 

Name and Principal Position  Year  
Health Insurance

Coverage   

Taxes Paid on
Behalf of Name

Executive Officer   
Total All Other
Compensation  

Daniel L. Hodges  2019  $ 14,500  $ —  $ 14,500 
  2018   —   —   — 
Daniyel Erdberg  2019   —  63,569   63,569 
  2018   —   17,525   17,525 
Jay Nussbaum  2019   —   —   — 
  2018   —   29,096   29,096 
John E. Howell  2019   14,500   —   14,500 
  2018   —   —   — 
Dr. Dustin McIntire  2019   11,500   —   11,500 
  2018   —   —   — 
Felicia Hess  2019   —   12,303   12,303 
  2018   —   22,744   22,744 
Kendall Carpenter  2019   —   33,305   33,305 
  2018   —   3,506   3,506 

 
Employment Contracts and Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control

 
On December 2, 2019, we entered into five-year employment agreements with Daniel L. Hodges, our Chief Executive Officer, John E. Howell, our President, Brian T.

Mihelich, our Chief Financial Officer, and a three-year employment agreement with Dr. Dustin McIntire, Ph.D., our Chief Technology Officer. On January 2, 2020, we entered into a
three-year employment agreement with Kevin M. Sherlock, our General Counsel and Secretary. The employment agreement of Mr. Mihelich became effective on January 2, 2020.
Unless earlier terminated, at the end of the initial term, each agreement automatically renews for additional one-year terms until cancelled.

 
The following is a summary of the compensation arrangements set forth in each employment agreement described above:
 

Executive  Title  Annual Base Salary   

Initial Restricted
Stock Grant in

Shares  
Daniel L. Hodges  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  $ 150,000   300,000 
John E. Howell  President   150,000   300,000 
Dr. Dustin McIntire  Chief Technology Officer   150,000   200,000 
Brian T. Mihelich  Chief Financial Officer   150,000   200,000 
Kevin M. Sherlock  General Counsel and Secretary   150,000   200,000 
 

As an incentive to commence employment with us, pursuant to such agreements, we issued to each of Messrs. Hodges and Howell a restricted stock award of 300,000
shares of common stock, and to each of Dr. McIntire, Mr. Mihelich and Mr. Sherlock a restricted stock award of 200,000 shares of common stock, which shares shall vest annually
in arrears. In the case of Messrs. Hodges and Howell, the restricted stock awards will vest in three equal installments on the first, second and third anniversaries of employment. In
the case of Dr. McIntire, Mr. Mihelich and Mr. Sherlock, the restricted stock awards will vest in two equal installments on the first and second anniversaries of employment. In
addition, each executive is also eligible to receive an employee incentive stock option grant each year during the term, as determined by the Compensation Committee of our Board
of Directors, with a strike price equal to that of the other corporate officers and directors under that current year’s approved option grants. The executives shall have no rights to
any portions of any option grant until the vesting of such grant, which shall be on the same vesting terms as the options granted to our other officers and directors.

 

53 



 

  
Under each of these employment agreements, the executive will be entitled to severance in the event we terminate his employment without Cause (as defined in the

employment agreement), he resigns from his employment for Good Reason (as defined in the employment agreement), or he is terminated as a result of death or disability. The
severance amount for each executive would be (i) his pro rata base salary through the date of termination, (ii) a severance amount equal to six month’s salary if such termination is
done within the first year and (iii) a severance amount equal to 12 month’s salary if such termination occurs thereafter.
 

In connection with the execution of his employment agreement, each executive also executed our standard employee agreements containing customary confidentiality
restrictions and work-product provisions, as well as customary non-competition covenants and non-solicitation covenants with respect to our employees, consultants and
customers.
 
Equity Compensation Plan Information
 

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2019, regarding our compensation plans under which equity securities are authorized for issuance:
 

Plan category  

Number of
Securities to

be Issued
Upon

Exercise of
Outstanding

Options,
Warrants and

Rights   

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price of

Outstanding
Options,

Warrants and
Rights   

Number of
Securities
Remaining
Available
for Future
Issuance

Under Equity
Compensation

Plans (Excluding
Securities
Reflected

in Column (a))  
  (a)   (b)   (c)  
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders  $ --  $ --   64,062 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders   11,098,523   0.55   -- 

Total  $ 11,098,523  $ 0.55   64,062 

 
Equity Incentive Plans
 

2015 Equity Incentive Plan. On September 4, 2015, our Board of Directors adopted our 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”) to provide an additional means to
attract, motivate, retain and reward selected employees and other eligible persons. Our stockholders approved the plan on or about October 1, 2015. Employees, officers, directors
and consultants that provided services to us or one of our subsidiaries were eligible to receive awards under the 2015 Plan. Awards under the 2015 Plan were issuable in the form of
incentive or nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock bonuses, restricted stock, stock units and other forms of awards including cash awards.

 
As of the date of this Annual Report, stock grants of an aggregate of 9,935,938 shares of common stock had been made under the 2015 Plan, and 64,062 shares authorized

under the 2015 Plan remained available for award purposes. However, in connection with the adoption and stockholder approval in May 2020 of our 2020 Long-Term Incentive
Plan, which is described below, our Board of Directors determined that no further grants will be made under the 2015 Plan.

 
Our Board of Directors may amend or terminate the 2015 Plan at any time, but no such action will affect any outstanding award in any manner materially adverse to a

participant without the consent of the participant. Plan amendments will be submitted to stockholders for their approval as required by applicable law or any applicable listing
agency. The 2015 Plan is not exclusive - our Board of Directors and the Compensation Committee of the Board may grant stock and performance incentives or other compensation,
in stock or cash, under other plans or authority.
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The 2015 Plan will terminate on September 4, 2025. However, the plan administrator will retain its authority until all outstanding awards are exercised or terminated. The

maximum term of options, stock appreciation rights and other rights to acquire common stock under the 2015 Plan is ten years after the initial date of the award.
 

2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan. On April 22, 2020, our Board of Directors adopted our 2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”) to provide an additional means
to attract, motivate, retain and reward selected employees and other eligible persons. Our stockholders approved the plan on or about May 6, 2020. Employees, officers, directors
and consultants that provide services to us or one of our subsidiaries may be selected to receive awards under the 2020 Plan.

 
Our Board of Directors, or one or more committees appointed by our Board or another committee (within delegated authority), administers the 2020 Plan. The administrator

of the 2020 Plan has broad authority to:
 

● select participants and determine the types of awards that they are to receive;
 

● determine the number of shares that are to be subject to awards and the terms and conditions of awards, including the price (if any) to be paid for the shares or the
award and establish the vesting conditions (if applicable) of such shares or awards;

 
● cancel, modify or waive our rights with respect to, or modify, discontinue, suspend or terminate any or all outstanding awards, subject to any required consents;

 
● construe and interpret the terms of the 2020 Plan and any agreements relating to the Plan;

 
● accelerate or extend the vesting or exercisability or extend the term of any or all outstanding awards subject to any required consent;

 
● subject to the other provisions of the 2020 Plan, make certain adjustments to an outstanding award and authorize the termination, conversion, substitution or

succession of an award; and
 

● allow the purchase price of an award or shares of our common stock to be paid in the form of cash, check or electronic funds transfer, by the delivery of previously-
owned shares of our common stock or by a reduction of the number of shares deliverable pursuant to the award, by services rendered by the recipient of the award,
by notice and third party payment or cashless exercise on such terms as the administrator may authorize or any other form permitted by law.
 

A total of 10,000,000 shares of our common stock are authorized for issuance with respect to awards granted under the 2020 Plan. Any shares subject to awards that are
not paid, delivered or exercised before they expire or are cancelled or terminated, or fail to vest, as well as shares used to pay the purchase or exercise price of awards or related tax
withholding obligations, will become available for other award grants under the 2020 Plan. As of the date of this Annual Report, no stock grants have been made under the 2020
Plan, and all 10,000,000 shares authorized under the 2020 Plan remain available for award purposes.

 
Awards under the 2020 Plan may be in the form of incentive or nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock bonuses, restricted stock, stock units and other

forms of awards including cash awards. The administrator may also grant awards under the plan that are intended to be performance-based awards within the meaning of Section
162(m) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code. Awards under the plan generally will not be transferable other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution, except that the plan
administrator may authorize certain transfers.

 
Nonqualified and incentive stock options may not be granted at prices below the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. Incentive stock options must

have an exercise price that is at least equal to the fair market value of our common stock, or 110% of fair market value of our common stock in the case of incentive stock option
grants to any 10% owner of our common stock, on the date of grant. These and other awards may also be issued solely or in part for services. Awards are generally paid in cash or
shares of our common stock. The plan administrator may provide for the deferred payment of awards and may determine the terms applicable to deferrals.
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As is customary in incentive plans of this nature, the number and type of shares available under the 2020 Plan and any outstanding awards, as well as the exercise or

purchase prices of awards, will be subject to adjustment in the event of certain reorganizations, mergers, combinations, recapitalizations, stock splits, stock dividends or other
similar events that change the number or kind of shares outstanding, and extraordinary dividends or distributions of property to the stockholders. In no case (except due to an
adjustment referred to above or any repricing that may be approved by our stockholders) will any adjustment be made to a stock option or stock appreciation right award under the
2020 Plan (by amendment, cancellation and re-grant, exchange or other means) that would constitute a repricing of the per-share exercise or base price of the award.

 
Generally, and subject to limited exceptions set forth in the 2020 Plan, if we dissolve or undergo certain corporate transactions such as a merger, business combination or

other reorganization, or a sale of all or substantially all of our assets, all awards then-outstanding under the 2020 Plan will become fully vested or paid, as applicable, and will
terminate or be terminated in such circumstances, unless the plan administrator provides for the assumption, substitution or other continuation of the award. The plan
administrator also has the discretion to establish other change-in-control provisions with respect to awards granted under the 2020 Plan. For example, the administrator could
provide for the acceleration of vesting or payment of an award in connection with a corporate event that is not described above and provide that any such acceleration shall be
automatic upon the occurrence of any such event.

 
Our Board of Directors may amend or terminate the 2020 Plan at any time, but no such action will affect any outstanding award in any manner materially adverse to a

participant without the consent of the participant. Plan amendments will be submitted to stockholders for their approval as required by applicable law or any applicable listing
agency. The 2020 Plan is not exclusive, and our Board of Directors and Compensation Committee may grant stock and performance incentives or other compensation, in stock or
cash, under other plans or authority.

 
The 2020 Plan will terminate on May 1, 2030. However, the plan administrator will retain its authority until all outstanding awards are exercised or terminated. The maximum

term of options, stock appreciation rights and other rights to acquire common stock under the 2020 Plan is ten years after the initial date of the award.
 
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End
 

The following table sets forth outstanding equity awards to our named executive officers as of December 31, 2019.
 

  Option Awards   Stock Awards  

Name  

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Exercisable   

Option
Exercise

Price   
Option

Expiration Date   

Number of
Shares or Units

of Stock that
have not Vested

(1)   

Market Value of
Shares of Units

of Stock that
have not Vested

(2)  
(a)  (b)   (e)   (f)   (g)   (h)  

Daniel H. Hodges                     
Restricted Stock Grant   --  $ --   --   300,000  $ 246,000 

                     
Daniyel Erdberg                     

Option Grant   1,140,000  0.50   2/25/2020   --   -- 
Option Grant   200,000   0.50   2/25/2020   --   -- 
Option Grant   1,000,000   0.65   2/25/2020   --   -- 

                     
John F. Howell                     

Restricted Stock Grant   --   --   --   300,000  246,000 
                     
Dr. Dustin McIntire                     

Restricted Stock Grant   --   --   --   200,000   164,000 
                     
Felicia Hess                     

Option Grant   1,200,000   0.50   08/03/2021   --   -- 
Option Grant   300,000   0.50   11/09/2021   --   -- 
Option Grant   1,000,000   0.65   9/26/2020   --   -- 

                     
Kendall Carpenter                

Option Grant   275,000   0.50   2/08/2020   --   -- 
Option Grant   170,000   0.50   2/08/2020   --   -- 
Option Grant   130,000   1.00   2/08/2020   --     
Option Grant   425,000   0.65   2/08/2020   --   -- 
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Director Compensation
 

Prior to the consummation of our acquisition of COMSovereign in November 2019, each of our non-employee directors received an annual cash retainer that ranged
between $24,000 and $36,000. In addition, we reimbursed our non-employee directors for reasonable travel expenses incurred in attending Board and committee meetings. Our non-
employee directors also participated in our equity compensation plans.
 

Following the consummation of the ComSovereign Acquisition, our Board of Directors approved the following new compensation program for the non-employee members
of our Board of Directors.

 
Cash Compensation. Under such program, we will pay each non-employee director a cash fee, payable quarterly, of $25,000 per year for service on our Board of Directors.
 
Committee Fees. If a non-employee director is designated to participate on a committee of our Board of Directors as either a chairperson or non-chairperson member, such

director will be entitled to compensation in addition to the quarterly cash fee in accordance with the following table:
 
  Chair    Member
Audit Committee  $3,000/qtr    $1,500/qtr
Compensation Committee  $2,000/qtr    $1,500/qtr
Nominating and Governance Committee  $2,000/qtr    $1,500/qtr
 

Equity Awards. Each non-employee director will receive a one-time initial restricted stock award of 200,000 shares of our common stock, which shares shall vest in arrears
in two equal tranches on the first and second anniversaries of service on our Board. Each non-employee director shall also be eligible to receive grants of stock options, each in an
amount designated by the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors, from any equity compensation plan approved by the Compensation Committee of our Board.

 
In addition to such compensation, we will reimburse each non-employee director for all pre-approved expenses within 30 days of receiving satisfactory written

documentation setting out the expense actually incurred by such director. These include reasonable transportation and lodging costs incurred for attendance at any meeting of our
Board of Directors.
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The following table sets forth the director compensation we paid in the year ended December 31, 2019 (excluding compensation to our executive officers set forth in the

summary compensation table above).
 

Name  

Fees
Earned

or Paid in Cash   
Stock

Awards (1)   
Total 

($)  
David Aguilar (2)  $ 62,250  $ 65,000  $ 127,250 
Richard J. Berman (3)   --   6,833   6,833 
Brent M. Davies (4)   --   6,833   6,833 
James A. Marks (5)   --   6,833   6,833 
Robert Guerra (6)   16,000   --   16,000 
Timothy Hoechst (7)   28,250   65,000   93,250 
LTG John E. Miller (Ret.) (8)   39,250   65,000   104,250 
Total:  $ 145,750  $ 215,499  $ 361,249 

 
 

(1) The amounts reflected for Stock Awards in the table above represent the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes with respect to the fair value
of securities granted in accordance with ASC Topic 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation. Pursuant to SEC rules, the amounts shown exclude the impact of estimated
forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions. These amounts reflect our accounting expense for these awards, and do not correspond to the actual value that may
be realized upon exercise.

 
(2) On January 9, 2017, Mr. Aguilar was elected to our Board of Directors for a term of two years and, pursuant to the terms of a Director Agreement with Global Security

Innovative Strategies, LLC, an affiliate of Mr. Aguilar, was paid an annual fee of $24,000 and was awarded stock options to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock
with an exercise price of $2.90 per share. In 2019, Mr. Aguilar was reappointed for another two-year term through January 2, 2021 at the same annual fee of $24,000. Effective
September 4, 2019 Mr. Aguilar annual fee was increased to $120,000. Mr. Aguilar was granted a restricted stock award of 100,000 shares of our common stock, which shares
vested on November 27, 2019. We recognized a $65,000 expense in 2019 related to such restricted stock grant. As a director, Mr. Aguilar is also expected to be paid the cash
compensation referred to above under “- Director Compensation.”

 
(3) Mr. Berman was appointed to our Board of Directors in connection with the COMSovereign Acquisition on November 27, 2019. In connection with his appointment to our

Board of Directors, Mr. Berman was granted a restricted stock award of 200,000 shares of our common stock, which shares will vest in two equal tranches on the first and
second anniversaries of his service on our Board of Directors. We recognized a $6,833 expense in 2019 related to such restricted stock grant. As a director, Mr. Berman is
also expected to be paid the cash compensation referred to above under “- Director Compensation.”

 
(4) Mr. Davies was appointed to our Board of Directors in connection with the ComSovereign Acquisition on November 27, 2019. In connection with his appointment to our

Board of Directors, Mr. Davies was granted a restricted stock award of 200,000 shares of our common stock, which shares will vest in two equal tranches on the first and
second anniversaries of his service on our Board of Directors. We recognized a $6,833 expense in 2019 related to such restricted stock grant. As a director, Mr. Davies is
also expected to be paid the cash compensation referred to above under “- Director Compensation.”

 
(5) Mr. Marks was appointed to the Board of Directors in connection with the ComSovereign Acquisition on November 27, 2019. In connection with his appointment to our

Board of Directors, Mr. Marks was granted a restricted stock award of 200,000 shares of our common stock, which shares will vest in two equal tranches on the first and
second anniversaries of his service on our Board of Directors. We recognized a $6,833 expense in 2019 related to such restricted stock grant. As a director, Mr. Marks is
also expected to be paid the cash compensation referred to above under “- Director Compensation.”

 
(6) On March 28, 2018, Mr. Guerra was appointed for a term of two years and, pursuant to the terms of a Director Agreement, was paid an annual fee of $24,000. Mr. Guerra

resigned from our Board of Directors on September 4, 2019.
 

(7) On December 13, 2017, Mr. Hoechst was appointed to our Board of Directors for a term of two years and, pursuant to the terms of a Director Agreement, was paid an annual
fee of $24,000. Mr. Hoechst was granted a restricted stock award of 100,000 shares of our common stock, which shares vested on November 27, 2019. We recognized a
$65,000 expense in 2019 related to such restricted stock grant. Mr. Hoechst resigned from our Board of Directors in connection with the ComSovereign Acquisition on
November 27, 2019 and any unvested options expired by their terms at that time.

 
(8) On December 13, 2017, Mr. Miller was appointed to our Board of Directors for a term of two years and, pursuant to the terms of a Director Agreement, was paid an annual

fee of $36,000. Mr. Miller resigned from our Board of Directors in connection with the ComSovereign Acquisition on November 27, 2019 and any unvested options expired
by their terms at that time. Mr. Miller was granted a restricted stock award of 100,000 shares of our common stock, which shares vested on November 27, 2019. We
recognized a $65,000 expense in 2019 related to such restricted stock grant.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

 
The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of June 26, 2020 by:

 
● each person known by us to be a beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding common stock;

 
● each of our directors;

 
● each of our named executive officers; and

 
● all directors and executive officers as a group.

 
The amounts and percentages of common stock beneficially owned are reported on the basis of regulations of the SEC governing the determination of beneficial

ownership of securities. Under the rules of the SEC, a person is deemed to be a “beneficial owner” of a security if that person has or shares “voting power,” which includes the
power to vote or to direct the voting of such security, or “investment power,” which includes the power to dispose of or to direct the disposition of such security. A person is also
deemed to be a beneficial owner of any securities of which that person has a right to acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days after June 26, 2020. Under these rules, more than
one person may be deemed a beneficial owner of the same securities and a person may be deemed a beneficial owner of securities as to which he has no economic interest. Except
as indicated by footnote, to our knowledge, the persons named in the table below have sole voting and investment power with respect to all shares of common stock shown as
beneficially owned by them.

 
In the table below, the percentage of beneficial ownership of our common stock is based on 128,846,064 shares of our common stock outstanding as of June 26, 2020.

Unless otherwise noted below, the address of the persons listed on the table is c/o COMSovereign Holding Corp., 5000 Quorum Drive, Suite 400, Dallas, Texas 75254.
 

Name of Beneficial Owner  

Amount and
Nature of
Beneficial
Ownership   

Percentage
of Class (%) (1)  

Named Executive Officers and Directors         
Daniel L. Hodges (2)   29,436,000   22.9%
John E. Howell (3)   25,869,231   20.1
Brian T. Mihelich (4)   --   --
Dr. Dustin McIntire (4)   2,094,291   1.6
Kevin M. Sherlock (5)   85,698   *
David Aguilar (6)   150,000   *
Richard J. Berman (4)   756,062   *
Brent M. Davies (4)   1,455,619   1.1
James A. Marks (7)   756,062   *

         
Other 5% Shareholders         

Dr. Phillip Frost (8)   13,664,818   10.6
The Jay Harris Nussbaum Revocable Trust (9)   7,153,455   5.6

         
Executive Officers and Directors as a Group (9 persons)   60,602,963   47.0

 
 

* less than 1%.
 
(1) The percentages in the table have been calculated on the basis of treating as outstanding for a particular person, all shares of our capital stock outstanding on June 26, 2020.

On June 26, 2020, there were 128,846,064 shares of our common stock outstanding. To calculate a stockholder’s percentage of beneficial ownership, we include in the
numerator and denominator the common stock outstanding and all shares of our common stock issuable to that person in the event of the exercise of out-standing options
and other derivative securities owned by that person which are exercisable within 60 days of June 26, 2020. Common stock options and derivative securities held by other
stockholders are disregarded in this calculation. Therefore, the denominator used in calculating beneficial ownership among our stockholders may differ. Unless we have
indicated otherwise, each person named in the table has sole voting power and sole investment power for the shares listed opposite such person’s name.
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(2) Includes 25,202,875 shares held directly by Mr. Hodges, 73,725 shares of common stock held by Mr. Hodges’s spouse, 4,073,702 shares held by Medusa Scientific LLC, and

85,698 shares held by The Hodges Foundation. Mr. Hodges has voting and dispositive control over the shares held by Medusa Scientific LLC and The Hodges Foundation.
Does not include 300,000 shares of restricted common stock that have not vested as of June 26, 2020 and will not vest within 60 days after such date.

 
(3) Does not include 300,000 shares of restricted common stock that have not vested as of June 26, 2020 and will not vest within 60 days after such date.
 
(4) Does not include 200,000 shares of restricted common stock that have not vested as of June 26, 2020 and will not vest within 60 days after such date.
 
(5) Represents 85,698 shares held by the Kevin M Sherlock Revocable Trust. Mr. Sherlock has voting and dispositive control over the shares held by the trust. Does not include

200,000 shares of restricted common stock that have not vested as of June 26, 2020 and will not vest within 60 days after such date.
 
(6) Represents (i) 50,000 shares of common stock owned of record by the David V. Aguilar Traditional IRA, (ii) 100,000 shares of common stock owned of record by Global

Security and Innovative Strategies, LLC (“GSIS”), and (iii) 360,000 shares of common stock underlying options that are exercisable as of June 26, 2020 or will become
exercisable within 60 days of such date. Mr. Aguilar has voting and dispositive control over the shares held by GSIS. The address of GSIS is 1401 H Street NW, Suite 875,
Washington, DC 20005.

 
(7) Represents 756,062 shares held by Spidernet, Inc. Mr. Marks has voting and dispositive control over the shares held by Spidernet, Inc. Excludes 200,000 shares of restricted

common stock that have not vested as of June 26, 2020 and will not vest within 60 days after such date.
 
(8) Represents (i) 2,462,500 shares owned of record by Mr. Frost, (ii) 4,030,740 shares owned of record by Frost Nevada Investment Trust and (iii) 7,171,578 shares owned of

record by Frost Gamma Investments Trust. Mr. Frost has voting and dispositive control over the shares held by Frost Nevada Investment Trust and Frost Gamma
Investments Trust. The address of Mr. Frost, Frost Nevada Investment Trust and Frost Gamma Investments Trust is 4400 Biscayne Boulevard, 15th Floor, Miami, FL 33137.

 
(9) Ira S. Entis has voting and dispositive control over the shares held by The Jay Harris Nussbaum Revocable Trust. The address for Mr. Entis and The Jay Harris Nussbaum

Revocable Trust is 3303 Fox Mill Road, Oakton, Virginia 22124.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
 
Procedures for Approval of Related Party Transactions

 
A “related party transaction” is any actual or proposed transaction, arrangement or relationship or series of similar transactions, arrangements or relationships, including

those involving indebtedness not in the ordinary course of business, to which we or our subsidiaries were or are a party, or in which we or our subsidiaries were or are a
participant, in which the amount involved exceeded or exceeds the lesser of (i) $120,000 or (ii) one percent of the average of our total assets at year-end for the last two completed
fiscal years and in which any related party had or will have a direct or indirect material interest. A “related party” includes:

 
● any person who is, or at any time during the applicable period was, one of our executive officers or one of our directors;

 
● any person who beneficially owns more than 5% of our common stock;

 
● any immediate family member of any of the foregoing; or

 
● any entity in which any of the foregoing is a partner or principal or in a similar position or in which such person has a 10% or greater beneficial ownership interest.

 
In April 2020, our Board of Directors adopted a written related-party transactions policy. Pursuant to this policy, the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors will review

all material facts of all related-party transactions and either approve or disapprove entry into the related-party transaction, subject to certain limited exceptions. In determining
whether to approve or disapprove entry into a related-party transaction, our Audit Committee shall take into account, among other factors, the following: (i) whether the related-
party transaction is on terms no less favorable to us than terms generally available from an unaffiliated third-party under the same or similar circumstances, (ii) the extent of the
related party’s interest in the transaction and (iii) whether the transaction would impair the independence of a non-employee director.

 
Related Party Transactions

 
From time to time we engage in transactions with related parties. The following is a summary of the related party transactions during the fiscal years ended December 31,

2019 and 2018 requiring disclosure pursuant to Item 404 of Regulation S-K.
 

Series 2016 Convertible Notes
 

On September 29, 2016, we issued Convertible Promissory Notes Series 2016 due October 1, 2017 (the “Series 2016 Convertible Notes”) in the aggregate principal amount
of $3,000,000 in a private placement to Jay H. Nussbaum, the then Chairman of our Board of Directors, and to Frost Gamma Investment Trust (“Frost Gamma”), a trust that was
controlled by Dr. Phil Frost, the then Chairman of our Strategic Advisory Board, both of whom also were greater than 10% shareholders of our company at that time. The Series
2016 Convertible Notes originally bore interest at the rate of 6% per annum and were convertible into shares of our common stock at a conversion price equal to the lesser of (i)
$3.00 or (ii) 85% of the price per share of the common stock we sell in a private placement of our common stock in which we received gross proceeds of at least $3,000,000, subject
to proportional adjustment in the event of stock splits, stock dividends and similar corporate events. We were entitled to prepay the Series 2016 Convertible Notes at any time
without penalty.
 

On August 3, 2017, we entered into amendments with the holders of the Series 2016 Convertible Notes to extend the maturity date for each of the notes to April 1, 2019
and revise the conversion price to $1.00 per share, subject to adjustment.
 

On December 21, 2018, we entered into amendments with the holders of the Series 2016 Convertible Notes to reduce the conversion price under such notes to $0.50 per
share in exchange for the agreement of such holders to convert the principal amount and accrued interest under such notes concurrently with the execution of the amendment. We
issued 3,177,411 shares of common stock to Frost Gamma in full settlement of the $1,500,000 principal balance and $88,705 of accrued interest. We issued 3,000,000 shares of
common stock to Jay H. Nussbaum in full settlement of the $1,500,000 principal balance and settled $88,212 of accrued interest in cash.
 
Series 2017 Convertible Note
 

On August 3, 2017, we issued a Secured Convertible Promissory Note Series 2017 due August 2, 2018 in the aggregate principal amount of up to $2,000,000 (the “Series
2017 Convertible Note”) in a private placement to Frost Nevada Investments Trust (“Frost Nevada”). Frost Nevada is a trust that was controlled by Dr. Phil Frost, a substantial
shareholder of our company. The Series 2017 Convertible Note evidenced a revolving line of credit with advances that could have been requested by us until the maturity date of
August 2, 2018 so long as no event of default existed under the loan.
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During 2018, we borrowed an additional $1,000,000 on the Series 2017 Convertible Note bringing the total amount of principal to $2,000,000. On December 21, 2018, we

entered into an amendment to the Series 2017 Convertible Note to reduce the conversion price under such note to $0.50 per share in exchange for Frost Nevada’s agreement to
convert the principal amount and all accrued interest under such note concurrently with the execution of the amendment. We issued 4,030,740 shares of common stock to Frost
Nevada in full settlement of the $2,000,000 principal balance and $15,370 of accrued interest.

 
Global Security Innovative Strategies, LLC
 

On November 10, 2017, we entered into an agreement with GSIS, an entity controlled by David Aguilar, a director of our company, whereby GSIS provides business
development support and general consulting services for sales opportunities with U.S. government agencies and other identified prospects and consulting support services for
our role and activities as part of the Security Center of Excellence in Orlando, Florida. The agreement was for a period of six months beginning on November 1, 2017. We agreed to
pay GSIS a fee of $10,000 per month and to evaluate the fee after 90 days. On September 26, 2018, we amended the agreement to extend the period of service through September
2019 with automatic monthly extensions thereafter. We also agreed to issue to GSIS stock options to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock, which were immediately
vested, had a strike price of $1.00 and terminate on September 26, 2022. We also agreed to pay the expenses of GSIS incurred in connection with the performance of its duties under
the agreement. Either party may terminate or renew the agreement at any time, for any reason or no reason, upon at least 30 days’ notice to the other party.
 
Kevin Hess Agreements
 

On March 21, 2019, we entered into a Voluntary Separation Agreement with Kevin Hess, our former Chief Technology Officer, pursuant to which Mr. Hess agreed to
terminate his employment with our company effective March 31, 2019. On March 21, 2019, we also entered into an Independent Contractor Agreement with Cognitive Carbon
Corporation, a company wholly owned by Felicia Hess, Mr. Hess’ spouse and our Chief Quality Officer, pursuant to which Mr. Hess agreed to provide to us certain technology
consulting, sales and marketing services and we agreed to pay Cognitive Carbon Corporation a monthly fee of $19,750. In addition, Cognitive Carbon Corporation may receive a
bonus of up to a maximum amount of $300,000 based on the criteria set forth in the Independent Contractor Agreement. Mr. Hess agreed to perform all services on behalf of
Cognitive Carbon Corporation.

 
The Independent Contractor Agreement has a term of one year, with automatic 12-month renewals thereafter unless we notify Cognitive Carbon Corporation of our intent

not to renew within 30 days of renewal. Either party may terminate the Independent Contractor Agreement upon written notice of material breach by the other party that is not
cured within 15 days from the date of notice.

 
2018 Common Stock Issuance
 

On December 27, 2018, we completed the sale of 4,000,000 shares of our common stock for a purchase price of $0.50 per share, or an aggregate of $2,000,000, of which
1,000,000 shares were sold to Jay Nussbaum, our former Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors, and 3,000,000 shares were sold to Frost Gamma, a trust for
which Dr. Phillip Frost, a substantial shareholder of our company, is the trustee.
 
2019 Common Stock Issuance
 

On January 25, 2019, we completed the sale of 4,015,500 shares of our common stock for a purchase price of $0.50 per share, or an aggregate of $2,007,750. The aggregate
consideration consisted of (1) cash in the aggregate amount of $1,432,750, (2) a promissory note from a single non-affiliated investor in the aggregate principal amount of $500,000,
which was repaid on February 8, 2019, including $575 of accrued interest, (3) a full-recourse promissory note from Daniyel Erdberg, our former Chief Executive Officer and President,
in the principal amount of $50,000, which bore interest at the rate of 3% per annum and was payable on January 25, 2020 but was cancelled on April 30, 2019 pursuant to the Stock
Redemption and Note Cancellation Agreement described below, and (4) a full-recourse promissory note from Kendall Carpenter, our former Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer, in the principal amount of $25,000, which bore interest at the rate of 3% per annum and was payable on January 25, 2020. The principal amount of the Kendall
Carpenter note was reduced by $7,500 on January 28, 2019. On April 30, 2019, Kendall Carpenter repaid the remaining principal balance of the $17,500 note, including $134 of
accrued interest.
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2019 Common Stock Redemptions

 
On April 30, 2019, we entered into a Stock Redemption and Note Cancellation Agreement with Daniyel Erdberg pursuant to which we redeemed on such date the 100,000

shares of our common stock that were purchased by Mr. Erdberg on January 25, 2019 in consideration of the cancellation of the $50,000 promissory note we received from Mr.
Erdberg as consideration for the purchase of such shares, including the related $267 of accrued interest.

 
On September 4, 2019, we entered into a Redemption Agreement with Robert Guerra, a former director of our company, pursuant to which we redeemed on such date

100,000 shares of our common stock for a redemption price of $0.50 per share, or an aggregate of $50,000. These redeemed shares are recorded as treasury shares on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2019.
 
TM Technologies, Inc. Relationships
 

Daniel L. Hodges, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, is also the founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of TM Technologies, Inc. (“TM”), the licensee of
proprietary TM/OFDM modulation technology owned by an affiliate of Mr. Hodges. Mr. Hodges also controls TM by virtue of his ownership or control of a majority of the capital
stock of TM. During 2019, TM made loans to DragonWave in the aggregate principal amount of $1,292,953, none of which had been repaid as of December 31, 2019, to emplace the
modulation technology within DragonWave’s Harmony line of radios. This note bears interest at 5% per annum and matures on August 31, 2020. Interest and principal are due at
maturity.
 
Director Independence
 

Our securities are not quoted on an exchange that has requirements that a majority of our Board of Directors be independent, and we are not currently otherwise subject
to any law, rule or regulation requiring that all or any portion of our Board of Directors include “independent” directors. However, our Board of Directors has determined in its
business judgment that Richard J. Berman, Brent M. Davies and James A. Marks are independent within the meaning of the OTCQX Rules for U.S. Companies, the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, as amended, and related SEC rules.
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Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

 
The following table shows the fees that were billed for the audit and other services provided by our independent registered public accounting firms for the fiscal years

ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
 

  For the years ended  
  December 31,  
  2019   2018  
Haskell & White LLP       
Audit Fees  $ 210,000  $ -- 
Audit related fees   --   -- 
Tax fees   --   -- 
Other fees   --   -- 
         
MaloneBailey, LLP         
Audit Fees  $ --  $ 63,000 
Audit related fees   --   -- 
Tax fees   --   -- 
Other fees   --   -- 
 
Audit Fees 

 
Audit fees consist of fees billed for services associated with the audit of our annual financial statements, review of the Company’s financial statements included in

Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, and services normally provided by the accounting firm for statutory and regulatory filings or engagements.
 
Audit-Related Fees 

 
We did not incur any fees payable to our independent auditors for assurance and related services reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of our

financial statements during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
 
Tax Fees 

 
We did not incur any fees payable to our independent auditors for professional services for tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning during the fiscal years ended

December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
 
All Other Fees 

 
We did not incur any fees payable to our independent auditors during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 for products or services provided by our

independent registered public accounting firm.
 
The Audit Committee pre-approves all auditing services and all permitted non-auditing services (including the fees and terms thereof) to be performed by our independent

registered public accounting firm. 
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PART IV

 
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

 
(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this Annual Report or incorporated herein by reference:

 
 (1) Our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto begin on page F-1 of this Annual Report immediately after the signature page.
 
Index to Financial Statements:  
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheet F-3
Consolidated Statement of Operations F-4
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss F-5
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity F-6
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows F-7
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-8
 
 (2) Financial Statement Schedules: All schedules have been omitted because the required information is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or the Notes

thereto, or because it is not required.
   
 (3) Exhibits:

 
    Incorporation by Reference  
Exhibit Number Exhibit Description   Form  Filing Date  Exhibit Number 
2.1

 
Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 27, 2019 by and among the Company,
COMSovereign Corp. and DACS Merger Sub., Inc.  

8-K
 

 12/4/2019  
 

2.1  

3.1  Restated Articles of Incorporation  –  *  –  
3.2  Amended and Restated By-Laws  –  *  –  
4.1  Form of Convertible Promissory Note Series 2016 due October 1, 2017  8-K   9/30/2016   4.1  
4.2  Form of August 2017 Amendment to Convertible Promissory Note Series 2016  10-Q   8/4/2017   4.1(a)  
4.3  Form of November 2017 Amendment to Convertible Promissory Note Series 2016  10-Q   11/13/2017   4.1(b)  
4.4  Form of March 2018 Amendment to Convertible Promissory Note Series 2016  10-K   3/23/2018   4.1(c)  
4.5  Form of December 2018 Amendment to Secured Convertible Promissory Note Series 2016  8-K   12/27/2018   10.3a  
4.6  Form of Secured Convertible Promissory Note Series 2017-08 due August 2, 2018  10-Q   8/4/2017   4.2  
4.7  Form of December 2018 Amendment to Secured Convertible Promissory Note Series 2017-18  8-K   12/27/2018   10.3b  
4.8

 
Amendment dated September 26, 2018 to Secured Convertible Promissory Note issued by the Company to
Frost Nevada Investment Trust  

8-K
 

 9/28/2018  
 

10.2  

4.9  Form of Promissory Note dated October 25, 2018 issued by the Company to Jay Nussbaum  10-Q   10/26/2018   10.26  
4.10  OID Promissory Note dated March 5, 2020 of Sovereign Plastics LLC in favor of Mark Vanderbeek  –  *  –  
4.11  12.5% OID Convertible Note dated April 29, 2020 of the Registrant in favor of Red Diamond Partners LLC  8-K  5/5/2020  4.1  
10.1  Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors and Officers #  8-K   6/5/2014   10.4  
10.2

 
Independent Contractor Agreement dated July 29, 2013 by and among US Technik, Inc., Lighter Than Air
Systems Corp., and World Surveillance Group, Inc.  

8-K
 

 6/5/2014  
 

10.9  

10.3  2015 Equity Incentive Plan #  8-K  9/11/2015  99.1  
10.4  Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under 2015 Equity Incentive Plan #  8-K   1/12/2017   10.3  
10.5  Form of Amendment No. 1 dated December 2017 to the Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement  8-K   12/27/2018   10.5  
10.6  Form of Amendment No. 2 dated November 2019 to the Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement  10-Q   11/14/2019   10.1  
10.7  Form of Subscription Agreement for Convertible Promissory Notes Series 2016 due October 1, 2017  8-K   9/30/2016   10.1  
10.8

 
Director Agreement dated January 9, 2017 by and among the Company, Global Security Innovative
Strategies, LLC and David Aguilar  #  

8-K
 

 1/12/2017  
 

10.2  

10.9
 

Amendment No. 1 dated September 4, 2019 to Director Agreement by and among the Company, Global
Security Innovative Strategies, LLC and David Aguilar #  

8-K
 

 9/5/2019  
 

10.2  

10.10  Warrant dated August 3, 2017 issued by the Company to Dr. Phillip Frost  10-Q   8/4/2017   10.34  
10.11  Amendment dated August 3, 2018 to Warrant issued by the Company to Dr. Phillip Frost  8-K   12/27/2018   10.4  
10.12

 
Promissory Note and Security Agreement dated August 2, 2017 issued by the Company to City National
Bank of Florida  

10-Q
 

 8/4/2017  
 

10.29  
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390019025308/f8k112719ex2-1_drone.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390016017159/f8k092616ex4i_droneavia.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390017008251/f10q0617ex4ia_droneav.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390017011746/f10q0917ex4-1b_droneaviation.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390018003379/f10k2017ex4-1c_droneaviation.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390018017898/f8k122118ex10-3a_drone.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390017008251/f10q0617ex4ii_droneav.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390018017898/f8k122118ex10-3b_drone.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390018013205/f8k092618ex10-2_droneaviat.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390018014509/f10q0918ex10-26_drone.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390020011045/ea121353ex4-1_comsovereign.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000101376214000657/ex104.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000101376214000657/ex109.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000101376215000902/f8k090415ex99i_droneavia.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390017000269/f8k010917ex10iii_drone.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390018017898/f8k122118ex10-5_drone.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390019023318/f10q0919ex10-1_droneaviation.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390016017159/f8k092616ex10i_droneavia.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390017000269/f8k010917ex10ii_drone.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390019017244/f8k090419cex10-2_drone.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390017008251/f10q0617ex10xxxiv_droneav.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390018017898/f8k122118ex10-4_drone.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390017008251/f10q0617ex10xxix_droneav.htm


 

 
    Incorporation by Reference  
Exhibit Number  Exhibit Description   Form  Filing Date  Exhibit Number 
10.13  Form of Guarantee dated August 2, 2017 issued by Jay Nussbaum to City National Bank of Florida  10-Q   8/4/2017  10.30  
10.14

 
Promissory and Guaranty dated September 26, 2018 among the Company, City National Bank of Florida
and Jay Nussbaum  

8-K   9/28/2018  10.1
 

10.15
 

Consulting Agreement dated November 10, 2017 between the Company and Global Security Innovative
Strategies, LLC  

10-Q   11/13/2017  10.35
 

10.16
 

Amendment No. 1 dated September 26, 2018 to the Consulting Agreement between the Company and
Global Security & Innovative Strategies, LLC   

8-K   9/28/2018  10.4
 

10.17  Form of Amendment No. 3 dated August 3, 2017 to Independent Contractor Agreement  10-Q   10/26/2018  10.2  
10.18

 
Form of Common Stock Purchase Agreement dated October 24, 2018 between the Purchasers thereto and
the Company  

10-Q   10/26/2018  10.1
 

10.19
 

Form of Amended and Restated Stock Purchase Agreement dated December 12, 2018 between the
Purchasers thereto and the Company  

8-K   12/27/2018  10.1
 

10.20
 

Stock Redemption and Note Cancellation Agreement dated as of April 30, 2019 between the Company and
Daniyel Erdberg  

10-Q   5/3/2019  10.5
 

10.21  Form of Promissory Note dated January 28, 2019 in favor of the Company (the Non-Affiliate Note)  8-K   1/31/2019  10.2  
10.22  Form of Promissory Note in favor of the Company (the Erdberg and Carpenter Trust Note)  8-K   1/31/2019  10.3  
10.23

 
Independent Contractor Agreement dated March 21, 2019 between the Company and Cognitive Carbon
Corporation  

10-K   3/22/2019  10.55
 

10.24  Stock Redemption Agreement dated September 4, 2019 between the Company and Robert Guerra  8-K   9/5/2019  10.1  
10.25  Form of the Company Restricted Stock Agreement  10-Q   11/14/2019  10.2  
10.26  Employment Agreement dated December 2, 2019 between the Company and Daniel L. Hodges #  8-K   12/12/2019  10.1  
10.27  Employment Agreement dated December 2, 2019 between the Company and John E. Howell #  8-K   12/12/2019  10.2  
10.28  Employment Agreement dated December 2, 2019 between the Company and Dr. Dustin McIntire, Ph.D. 9 # 8-K   12/12/2019  10.3  
10.29  Employment Agreement dated December 2, 2019 between the Company and Brian T. Mihelich #  8-K   12/12/2019  10.3  
10.30  Employment Agreement dated January 2, 2020 between the Company and Kevin M. Sherlock #  8-K   1/8/2020  10.2  
10.31  COMSovereign Holding Corp. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan  8-K  5/12/2020  10.1  
10.32  Stock Agreement dated as of March 5, 2020 between the Company and Mark Vanderbeek  –  *  –  
10.33  Warrant dated April 29, 2020 issued to Red Diamond Partners LLC  8-K  5/5/2020  4.2  
10.34

 
Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of April 29, 2020 between the Company and Red Diamond
Partners LLC  

8-K  5/5/2020  10.1
 

10.35
 

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of April 29, 2020 between the Company and Red Diamond
Partners LLC  

8-K  5/5/2020  10.2
 

10.36

 

Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization dated as of May 21, 2020 among the Company, CHC
Merger Sub 7, Inc., VNC Acquisition LLC, Virtual Network Communications Inc. and the Stockholders’
Representative Named Therein  

8-K  5/22/2020  10.1

 
10.37

 
Manufacturing Services Agreement dated as of April 4, 2018 between DragonWave-X and Benchmark
Electronics, Inc.  

–  *  –
 

 

66 

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390017008251/f10q0617ex10xxx_droneav.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390018013205/f8k092618ex10-1_droneaviat.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390017011746/f10q0917ex10-35_droneaviat.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390018013205/f8k092618ex10-4_droneaviat.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390018014509/f10q0918ex10-2_drone.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390018014509/f10q0918ex10-1_drone.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390018017898/f8k122118ex10-1_drone.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390019007797/f10q0319ex10-5_droneaviation.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390019001469/f8k012519ex10-2_drone.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390019001469/f8k012519ex10-3_drone.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390019004682/f10k2018ex10-55_drone.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390019017244/f8k090419cex10-1_drone.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390019023318/f10q0919ex10-2_droneaviation.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390019026023/f8k120219ex10-1_comsovereign.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390019026023/f8k120219ex10-2_comsovereign.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390019026023/f8k120219ex10-3_comsovereign.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390019026023/f8k120219ex10-3_comsovereign.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390020000535/f8k010220ex10-2_comsovereign.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390020011838/ea121641ex10-1_comsovereign.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390020011045/ea121353ex4-2_comsovereign.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390020011045/ea121353ex10-1_comsovereign.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390020011045/ea121353ex10-2_comsovereign.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1178727/000121390020013296/ea122266ex10-1_comsovereign.htm


 

 
    Incorporation by Reference  
Exhibit Number Exhibit Description   Form  Filing Date  Exhibit Number 
21  List of Subsidiaries  –  *  –  
31.1

 
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

–  *  –
 

31.2
 

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

–  *  –
 

32.1
 

Certifications of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

–  *  –
 

32.2
 

Certifications of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

–  *  –
 

101 INS  XBRL Instance Document  –  –  –  
101 SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document  –  –  –  
101 CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document  –  –  –  
101 LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Labels Linkbase Document  –  –  –  
101 PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document  –  –  –  
101 DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document  –  –  –  
 
#       Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
*       Filed herewith.
 
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.
 

None.
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SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the

undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

 COMSOVEREIGN HOLDING CORP.
   
Date: July 5, 2020 By: /s/ Daniel L. Hodges
  Daniel L. Hodges
  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

 
POWER OF ATTORNEY

 
The registrant and each person whose signature appears below hereby appoint Daniel L. Hodges and Brian T. Mihelich, and each of them, as attorneys-in-fact with full

power of substitution, severally, to execute in the name and on behalf of the registrant and each such person, individually and in each capacity stated below, one or more
amendments to the annual report which amendments may make such changes in the report as the attorney-in-fact acting deems appropriate and to file any such amendment to the
report with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates

indicated.
 

Name  Position  Date
     
/s/ Daniel L. Hodges  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer  July 5, 2020
Daniel L. Hodges  (Principal Executive Officer)   
     
/s/ Brian T. Mihelich  Chief Financial Officer  July 5, 2020
Brian T. Mihelich  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)   
     
/s/ John E. Howell  President and Director  July 5, 2020
John E. Howell     
     
/s/ David Aguilar  Director  July 5, 2020
David Aguilar     
     
/s/ Richard J. Berman  Director  July 5, 2020
Richard J. Berman     
     
/s/ Brent M. Davies  Director  July 5, 2020
Brent M. Davies     
     
/s/ James A. Marks  Director  July 5, 2020
James A. Marks     
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COMSOVEREIGN HOLDING CORP.

 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-2
  
Consolidated Balance Sheet F-3
  
Consolidated Statement of Operations F-4
  
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss F-5
  
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity F-6
  
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows F-7
  
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements F-8 – F-35
 

F-1



 

 
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
ComSovereign Holding, Corp.
 
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of ComSovereign Holding, Corp. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019, the related consolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the period from January 10, 2019 (inception) through December 31, 2019 and the related notes
(collectively, the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.
 
Going Concern
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company has experienced losses, negative cash flows from operations, has limited capital resources, and an accumulated deficit. These
matters raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 4. The
consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audit, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
 
Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 

HASKELL & WHITE LLP
 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2019.
 
Irvine, California
July 5, 2020
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COMSOVEREIGN HOLDING CORP.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

   

(Amounts in US$’s, except share data)  
December 31,

2019  
ASSETS     
Current Assets     

Cash  $ 812,452 
Accounts receivable, net   2,168,659 
Receivables – related party   1,595 
Inventory, net   4,671,396 
Prepaid expenses   916,729 
Other current assets   94,538 
Total Current Assets   8,665,369 

Property and equipment, net   1,458,106 
Operating lease right-of-use assets   2,199,682 
Intangible assets, net   51,277,482 
Goodwill   56,386,796 
Total Assets  $ 119,987,435 

     
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY     
Current Liabilities     

Accounts payable  $ 2,245,704 
Accrued interest   306,445 
Accrued liabilities   1,383,008 
Accrued liabilities – related party   461,254 
Accrued payroll   1,050,703 
Contract liabilities, current   149,923 
Accrued warranty liability   195,138 
Operating lease liabilities, current   467,979 
Line of credit   2,000,000 
Notes payable – related party   1,492,953 
Current portion of long-term debt, net of unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs   5,389,492 
Total Current Liabilities   15,142,599 

Contract liabilities, net of current portion   152,892 
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion   1,744,569 
Total Liabilities   17,040,060 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES     
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY     
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019   — 
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 300,000,000 shares authorized, 128,326,243 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2019   12,833 
Additional paid-in capital   130,553,180 
Accumulated deficit   (27,545,255)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (23,383)
Treasury stock, at cost, 100,000 shares as of December 31, 2019   (50,000)
Total Stockholders’ Equity   102,947,375 
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity  $ 119,987,435 

 
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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COMSOVEREIGN HOLDING CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
 

(Amounts in US$’s, except share data)  

January 10,
2019

(Inception) to
December 31,

2019  
Revenue  $ 4,712,212 
Cost of Goods Sold (1)   2,990,716 
Gross Profit   1,721,496 
     
Operating Expenses     
Research and development (1)   174,257 
Sales and marketing (1)   6,222 
General and administrative (1)   14,325,078 
Depreciation and amortization   7,567,184 
Gain on sale of fixed assets   (98,410)
Total Operating Expenses   21,974,331 
Net Operating Loss   (20,252,835)
Other Income (Expense)     
Loss on conversion of debt   (2,640,000)
Net loss on extinguishment of debt   (434,774)
Foreign currency transaction gain   191,547 
Interest expense   (8,399,663)
Other expense   (147,430)
Total Other Expenses   (11,430,320)
Net Loss Before Income Taxes   (31,683,155)
Deferred Tax Benefit   4,137,900 
Net Loss  $ (27,545,255)

Loss per common share:     
Basic  $ (0.57)
Diluted  $ (0.57)

Weighted-average shares outstanding:     
Basic   48,714,099 
Diluted   48,714,099 

 
(1) These are exclusive of depreciation and amortization

 
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

 

F-4



 

 
COMSOVEREIGN HOLDING CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
 

(Amounts in US$’s)  

January 10,
2019 (Inception)
to December 31,

2019  
Net Loss  $ (27,545,255)
Other Comprehensive Loss:     

Foreign currency translation adjustment   (23,383)
Total Comprehensive Loss  $ (27,568,638)

 
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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COMSOVEREIGN HOLDING CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
  

(Amounts in US$’s, except  Preferred Stock   Common Stock   
Additional

Paid-In   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive   Treasury   Accumulated  
Total

Stockholders’  
share data)  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   Capital   Loss   Stock   Deficit   Equity  
January 10, 2019 (Inception)   —  $ —   —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ — 
Issuance of founder shares at

inception   —   —   27,890,000   2,789   —   —   —   —   2,789 
Issuance of preferred stock for

VEO, Inc. acquisition   1,500,000   150   —   —   13,214,850   —   —   —   13,215,000 
Issuance of preferred stock for

InduraPower, Inc. acquisition   800,000   80   —   —   7,047,920   —   —   —   7,048,000 
Issuance of preferred stock for

Silver Bullet Technology, Inc.
acquisition   300,000   30   —   —   2,642,970   —   —   —   2,643,000 

Issuance of common stock for
DragonWave-X LLC and
Lextrum, Inc. acquisitions   —   —   13,237,149   1,324   58,242,132   —   —   —   58,243,456 

Common stock issued for cash   —   —   500,000   50   4,950   —   —   —   5,000 
Common stock issued for cashless

exercise of warrants   —   —   3,372,500   337   33,388   —   —   —   33,725 
Common stock issued for

conversion of senior convertible
debentures   —   —   1,100,000   110   3,752,388   —   —   —   3,752,498 

Common stock issued in debt
conversion   —   —   160,000   16   703,984   —   —   —   704,000 

Warrants issued for services   —   —   —   —   4,074,330   —   —   —   4,074,330 
Warrants issued in conjunction with

debt agreements   —   —   —   —   3,138,667   —   —   —   3,138,667 
Common stock issued as debt

issuance costs   —   —   1,235,140   123   7,805,489   —   —   —   7,805,612 
Common stock issued for services   —   —   120,000   12   525,290   —   —   —   525,302 
Share-based compensation   —   —   45,660   5   258,256   —   —   —   258,261 
Beneficial conversion feature   —   —   —   —   855,549   —   —   —   855,549 
Conversion of preferred stock   (2,600,000)   (260)   2,600,000   260   —   —   —   —   — 
Conversion of ComSovereign Corp.

stock at 0.8902 into Drone
Aviation Holding Corp. stock   —   —   44,739,551   4,474   (4,474)   —   —   —   — 

Merger with Drone Aviation
Holding Corp.   —   —   33,326,243   3,333   28,257,491   —   (50,000)   —   28,210,824 

Net loss   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   (27,545,255)   (27,545,255)
Other comprehensive loss   —   —   —   —   —   (23,383)   —   —   (23,383)
December 31, 2019   —  $ —   128,326,243  $ 12,833  $ 130,553,180  $ (23,383)  $ (50,000)  $ (27,545,255)  $ 102,947,375 

 
  

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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COMSOVEREIGN HOLDING CORP.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
 

(Amounts in US$’s)  

January 10,
2019 (Inception)
to December 31,

2019  
Cash  flows from operating activities:    
Net loss  $ (27,545,255)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:     

Depreciation   623,884 
Amortization   6,943,300 
Share-based compensation   258,256 
Deferred income taxes   (4,137,900)
Amortization of debt discounts and debt issuance costs   8,458,341 
Amortization of right-of-use asset   135,542 
Gain on sale of fixed assets   (98,410)
Loss on conversion of debt   2,640,000 
Net loss on extinguishment of debt   434,774 
Other, net   525,307 
Changes in assets and liabilities:     

Accounts receivable   (26,992)
Receivables– related party   (4,876,258)
Inventory   (1,136,012)
Prepaids   (767,355)
Other current assets   (93,289)
Accounts payable   (1,141,823)
Accrued liabilities   2,295,273 
Accrued interest   1,109,252 
Related party payable   9,826,112 
Operating lease liabilities   (123,534)
Other current liabilities   (156,460)

Net cash used in operating activities   (6,853,247)
Cash flows from investing activities:     

Cash acquired from acquisitions   2,925,273 
Additions to property and equipment   (87,038)
Net cash provided by investing activities   2,838,235 

Cash flows from financing activities:     
Proceeds from issuance of common stock   5,000 
Proceeds from issuance of related party debt   485,000 
Proceeds from issuance of debt   6,249,170 
Repayment of debt   (1,808,323)
Debt issuance costs   (80,000)

Net cash provided by financing activities   4,850,847 
Effect of exchange rates on cash   (23,383)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   812,452 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   — 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 812,452 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:     
Cash paid during the period:     

Taxes  $ — 
Interest   — 

Non-cash investing and financing activities:     
Recognition of right-of-use operating lease asset and liability   2,335,224 
Issuance of founder shares at inception   2,789 
Common stock issued for cashless exercise of warrants   33,725 
Common stock issued for conversion of senior convertible debentures   3,725,498 
Common stock issued in debt conversion   704,000 
Warrants issued for services   4,074,330 
Warrants issued in conjunction with debt agreements   3,138,667 
Common stock issued as debt issuance costs   7,805,612 
Beneficial conversion feature   855,549 
Issuance of preferred stock for VEO, Inc. acquisition   13,215,000 
Issuance of preferred stock for InduraPower, Inc. acquisition   7,048,000 
Issuance of preferred stock for Silver Bullet Technology, Inc. acquisition   2,643,000 
Issuance of common stock for DragonWave-X LLC and Lextrum, Inc. acquisitions   58,243,456 

  
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statement
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COMSOVEREIGN HOLDING CORP.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
For the Period from January 10, 2019 (Inception) to December 31, 2019

 
1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION
 
Description of Business
 

COMSovereign Holding Corp., formerly known as Drone Aviation Holding Corp. (“the “Company”), is a provider of technologically-advanced telecom solutions to
network operators, mobile device carriers, governmental units and other enterprises worldwide. The Company has assembled a portfolio of communications, power and niche
technologies, capabilities and products that enable the upgrading of latent 3G networks to 4G and 4G-LTE networks and will facilitate the rapid rollout of the 5G and “next-
Generation” (“nG”) networks of the future. The Company focuses on special capabilities, including signal modulations, antennae, software, hardware and firmware technologies
that enable increasingly efficient data transmission across the radio-frequency spectrum. The Company’s product solutions are complemented by a broad array of services
including technical support, systems design and integration, and sophisticated research and development programs. The Company competes globally on the basis of its
innovative technology, broad product offerings, high-quality and cost-effective customer solutions, as well as the scale of its global customer base and distribution. In addition,
the Company believes it is in a unique position to rapidly increase its near-term domestic sales as it is among the few U.S.-based providers of telecommunications equipment and
services.

 
Acquisition of ComSovereign Corp.
 

The Company was incorporated under the laws of the State of Nevada on April 17, 2014. On November 27, 2019, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of
Merger dated as of November 27, 2019 (the “Merger Agreement”) with ComSovereign Corp., a Delaware corporation (“ComSovereign”), and DACS Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware
corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”). The Merger Agreement provided for the merger of Merger Sub with and into ComSovereign (hereafter
referred to as the “ComSovereign Acquisition”). As a result of the ComSovereign Acquisition, Merger Sub ceased to exist, and ComSovereign became the surviving corporation
and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Additionally, the former stockholders of ComSovereign (the “ComSovereign Stockholders”) received a direct equity
ownership and controlling equity interest in the Company. For each share of ComSovereign common stock, the stockholder received 1.8902 shares of the Company’s common
stock. The ComSovereign Acquisition was completed on November 27, 2019. On December 10, 2019, the Company changed its name from Drone Aviation Holding Corp. to
COMSovereign Holding Corp.
 

The ComSovereign Acquisition was accounted for as a reverse merger with ComSovereign acquiring the assets of the Company, and the net assets, including other
intangible assets, of the Company prior to the ComSovereign Acquisition being recorded at fair value with the excess purchase price allocated to goodwill. As a result of the
completion of the ComSovereign Acquisition, these consolidated financial statements include (1) the assets and liabilities of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries,
including ComSovereign and its subsidiaries, as of December 31, 2019, (2) the historical operations of ComSovereign from inception (January 10, 2019) to the date of consummation
of the ComSovereign Acquisition, and (3) and the operations of the Company and its subsidiaries from the date of completion of the ComSovereign Acquisition (November 27,
2019) to December 31, 2019.

 
Corporate History of ComSovereign
 

ComSovereign was incorporated in the state of Delaware on January 10, 2019. From the date of incorporation until the date of its first acquisition, as described below,
ComSovereign had no business operations.

 
On January 12, 2019, two founding members of ComSovereign each acquired 6,000,000 shares of common stock at a value of $0.0001 per share of common stock with no

cash paid to ComSovereign and no services required.
 
On January 20, 2019, the same two founding members of ComSovereign each acquired an additional 6,000,000 shares of common stock at a value of $0.0001 per share of

common stock with no cash paid to ComSovereign and no services required.
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On January 22, 2019, an additional 11 founding members of ComSovereign acquired an aggregate of 3,290,000 shares of common stock at a value of $0.0001 per share of

common stock with no cash paid to ComSovereign and no services required.
 
On January 23, 2019, one of the additional 11 founding members acquired an additional 500,000 shares of common stock at a value of $0.0001 per share of common stock

with no cash paid to ComSovereign and no services required.
 
On January 29, 2019, an additional founding member of ComSovereign acquired 100,000 shares of common stock at a value of $0.0001 per share of common stock with no

cash paid to ComSovereign and no services required.
 
On January 31, 2019, ComSovereign acquired the capital stock of VEO, Inc. (“VEO”). VEO is a research and development company innovating silicon photonic (“SiP”)

technologies for use in copper-to-fiber-to-copper switching, high-speed computing, high-speed ethernet, autonomous vehicle applications, mobile devices and 5G wireless
equipment. In connection with the purchase of VEO, ComSovereign issued 1,500,000 unregistered shares of Series A Redeemable Convertible Preferred stock (“Preferred Series A”)
to Dr. Chen K. Sun, who is also a founding member of ComSovereign.

 
On January 31, 2019, ComSovereign acquired the capital stock of InduraPower Inc. (“InduraPower”). InduraPower is a manufacturer of intelligent batteries and back-up

power supplies for network systems and telecom nodes. It also provides power designs and batteries for aerospace, marine and automotive industries. In connection with the
purchase of InduraPower, ComSovereign issued an aggregate of 800,000 unregistered Preferred Series A shares. Of those 800,000 shares, 688,800 Preferred Series A shares were
issued to Sergei Begliarov, who is a founding member of ComSovereign and who became the Chief Executive Officer of InduraPower, and the balance was distributed to four other
shareholders.

 
On March 4, 2019, ComSovereign acquired the capital stock of Silver Bullet Technology, Inc. (“Silver Bullet”). Silver Bullet is an engineering firm that designs and

develops next generation network systems and components, including large-scale network protocol development, software-defined radio-systems and wireless network designs. In
connection with the purchase of Silver Bullet, ComSovereign issued 300,000 unregistered Preferred Series A shares to Dr. Dustin McIntire, who is a founding member of
ComSovereign and who became the Company’s Chief Technology Officer.
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On April 1, 2019, ComSovereign acquired the capital stock of DragonWave-X LLC (“DragonWave”) and Lextrum, Inc. (“Lextrum”). DragonWave is a manufacturer of

high-capacity microwave and millimeter point-to-point telecom backhaul radio units. Lextrum is a manufacturer of full-duplex wireless technologies and components, including
multi-reconfigurable radio frequency antennae and software programs. This technology enables the doubling of a given spectrum band by allowing simultaneous transmission and
receipt of radio signals on the same frequencies. In connection with the purchase of DragonWave and Lextrum, ComSovereign issued an aggregate of 13,237,149 shares of common
stock to the shareholders of the parent company of DragonWave and Lextrum. Included in those shareholders were Daniel L. Hodges, the Chairman of the parent company, and
John E. Howell, the Director and Chief Executive Officer of the parent company. In accordance with the subsections of ASC 805-50, Business Combinations, Transactions Between
Entities Under Common Control, the Company noted common control did not exist based on either voting interests or qualitative factors; therefore, the Company concluded that
the transaction was considered at arms-length and accounted for the transaction based on ASC 805, Business Combinations.

 
On November 15, 2019, the 2,600,000 outstanding shares of Preferred Series A were exchanged for an aggregate of 2,600,000 shares of ComSovereign’s common stock.
 

Basis of Presentation
 

The accompanying financial statements of the Company were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”).
In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. The historical information
is not necessarily indicative of the Company’s future results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
 
Principle of Consolidation
 

The consolidated financial statements as of, and for the period from January 10, 2019 (inception) to December 31, 2019 (“fiscal 2019”) include the accounts of the Company
and its subsidiaries: Drone AFS Corp., Lighter Than Air Systems Corp., DragonWave, Lextrum, Silver Bullet, VEO and InduraPower.

 
Use of Estimates
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.
 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents
 

Cash and cash equivalents are represented by operating accounts or money market accounts maintained with insured financial institutions, including all short-term,
highly-liquid investments with maturities of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. The Company had no cash equivalents as of December 31, 2019.

 
Accounts Receivable and Credit Policies
 

Trade accounts receivable consist of amounts due from the sale of the Company’s products and services. Such accounts receivable are uncollateralized customer
obligations due under normal trade terms requiring payment within 30 to 45 days of receipt of the invoice. The Company provides an allowance for doubtful accounts equal to the
estimated uncollectible amounts based on historical collection experience and a review of the current status of trade accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2019, the Company
characterized $690,830 as uncollectible.
 
Concentration of Credit Risk
 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash and trade accounts receivables. The Company places its cash
with high-credit-quality financial institutions. At times, such cash may be in excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insurance coverage limit of $250,000 per
depositor. As a result, there could be a concentration of credit risk related to amounts on deposit in excess of FDIC insurance coverage. The Company has not experienced any
losses due to these excess deposits and believes the risk is not significant. With respect to trade receivables, the Company routinely assesses the financial strength of its
customers and, as a consequence, believes that the receivable credit risk exposure is limited.
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Related Parties
 

The Company accounts for related party transactions in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”)
850, Related Party Disclosures. A party is considered to be related to the Company if the party directly or indirectly or through one or more intermediaries controls, is controlled
by, or is under common control with the Company. Related parties also include principal owners of the Company, its management, members of the immediate families of principal
owners of the Company and its management and other parties with which the Company may deal if one party controls or can significantly influence the management or operating
policies of the other to an extent that one of the transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own separate interests. A party which can significantly influence the
management or operating policies of the transacting parties or if it has an ownership interest in one of the transacting parties and can significantly influence the other to an extent
that one or more of the transacting parties might be prevented from fully pursuing its own separate interests is also a related party.
 
Inventory
 

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value (“NRV”). The cost of inventory is calculated on a standard cost basis, which approximates weighted
average actual cost. NRV is determined as the market value for finished goods, replacement cost for raw materials and finished goods market value less cost to complete for work in
progress inventory. The Company regularly reviews inventory quantities on hand and records an impairment for excess and obsolete inventory based on factors including its
estimated forecast of product demand, the stage of the product life cycle and production requirements for the units in question. Indirect manufacturing costs and direct labor
expenses are allocated systematically to the total production inventory.
 
Investments
 

An investment is considered impaired if the fair value of the investment is less than its cost. Generally, an impairment is considered other-than-temporary unless (1) the
Company has the ability and intent to hold an investment for a reasonable period of time sufficient for an anticipated recovery of the fair value up to (or beyond) the cost of the
investment; and (2) evidence indicating that the cost of the investment is recoverable within a reasonable period of time outweighs evidence to the contrary. If impairment is
determined to be other that temporary, then an impairment loss is recognized equal to the difference between the investment’s cost and fair value.
 
Property and Equipment, net
 

Property and equipment are stated at cost when acquired. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets as
follows:
 
Asset Type  Useful Life
Test equipment, research and development equipment  4-5 years
Computer hardware  2 years
Production fixtures  3 years
Leasehold improvements  5 years
Other  3-5 years
 

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred, whereas expenditures for major renewals and betterments that extend the useful lives of
property and equipment are capitalized.

 
Long-Lived Assets and Goodwill
 

The Company accounts for long-lived assets in accordance with the provisions of ASC 360-10-35, Property, Plant and Equipment, Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived
Assets. This accounting standard requires that long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to
be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the asset.
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The Company accounts for goodwill and intangible assets in accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other. ASC 350 requires that goodwill and other

intangibles with indefinite lives be tested for impairment annually or on an interim basis if events or circumstances indicate that the fair value of an asset has decreased below its
carrying value. During fiscal 2019, the Company recorded no impairments.
 
Beneficial Conversion Features and Warrants
 

The Company evaluates the conversion feature of convertible debt instruments to determine whether the conversion feature was beneficial as described in ASC 470-30,
Debt with Conversion and Other Options. The Company records a beneficial conversion feature (“BCF”) related to the issuance of convertible debt that has conversion features
at fixed or adjustable rates that are in-the-money when issued and records the relative fair value of any warrants issued with those instruments. The BCF for the convertible
instruments is recognized and measured by allocating a portion of the proceeds to the warrants and as a reduction to the carrying amount of the convertible instrument equal to the
intrinsic value of the conversion features, both of which are credited to additional paid-in capital. The Company calculates the fair value of warrants with the convertible
instruments using the Black-Scholes valuation model.
 

Under these guidelines, the Company allocates the value of the proceeds received from a convertible debt transaction between the conversion feature and any other
detachable instruments (such as warrants) on a relative fair value basis. The allocated fair value of the BCF and warrants are recorded as a debt discount and is accreted over the
expected term of the convertible debt as interest expense.
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 

The Company measures its financial assets and liabilities in accordance with the requirements of ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement. As defined in ASC 820, the fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (exit price). The
Company utilized the market data of similar entities in its industry or assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, including assumptions about
risk and the risks inherent in the inputs to the valuation technique. These inputs can be readily observable, market corroborated or generally unobservable. The Company classifies
fair value balances based on the observability of those inputs. ASC 820 established a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives
the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1 measurement) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3
measurement) as follows:
 

Level 1 – Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date. Active markets are those in which transactions for the
asset or liability occur in sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. Level 1 primarily consists of financial instruments such as exchange-
traded derivatives, marketable securities and listed equities.
 

Level 2 – Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets included in level 1, which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the reported date and
includes those financial instruments that are valued using models or other valuation methodologies. These models are primarily industry-standard models that consider various
assumptions, including quoted forward prices for commodities, time value, volatility factors and current market and contractual prices for the underlying instruments, as well as
other relevant economic measures. Substantially all of these assumptions are observable in the marketplace throughout the full term of the instrument, can be derived from
observable data or are supported by observable levels at which transactions are executed in the marketplace. Instruments in this category generally include non-exchange-traded
derivatives such as commodity swaps, interest rate swaps, options and collars.
 

Level 3 – Pricing inputs include significant inputs that are generally less observable from objective sources. These inputs may be used with internally-developed
methodologies that result in management’s best estimate of fair value.
 

The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and notes payable. The Company has determined that the book value of its
outstanding financial instruments as of December 31, 2019 approximated their fair value due to their short-term nature.
 
Debt Discounts
 

The Company records debt discounts as a deduction from the carrying amount of the related indebtedness on its Consolidated Balance Sheet with the respective debt
discount amortized in interest expense on its Consolidated Statement of Operations. In connection with the issuance of certain notes payable and senior convertible debentures,
the Company, or its subsidiaries, issued warrants to purchase shares of its common stock and has BCFs. See Note 10 – Debt Agreements and Note 15 – Warrants. The warrants are
exercisable at various exercise prices per share. The Company evaluated the terms of these warrants at issuance and concluded that they should be treated as equity. The fair value
of the warrants was determined by using the Black-Scholes model and was recorded as a debt discount offsetting the carrying value of the debt obligation in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet.
 

As described above under Beneficial Conversion Features and Warrants, the Company allocates the value of the proceeds received from a convertible debt transaction
between the conversion feature and any other detachable instruments (such as warrants) on a relative fair value basis. The allocated fair value of the BCF and warrants are
recorded as a debt discount and is accreted over the expected term of the convertible debt as interest expense.
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Debt Issuance Costs
 

The Company presents debt issuance costs as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the related indebtedness on its Consolidated Balance Sheet and amortizes
these costs over the term of the related debt liability using the straight-line method, which approximates the effective interest method. Amortization is recorded in interest expense
on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
 
Foreign Currency Translation
 

The Company’s operations and balances denominated in foreign currencies, including those of its foreign Canadian subsidiary, DragonWave, that are primarily a direct
and integral component or extension of the Company’s operations, are translated into U.S. dollars (“USD”) using the following: monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the
period end exchange rate; non-monetary assets are translated at the historical exchange rate; and revenue and expense items are translated at the average exchange rate and
records the translation adjustments in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are
included in foreign currency transaction gain (loss) in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

 
Revenue Recognition
 

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) . This guidance sets forth a five-
step revenue recognition model which replaced the prior revenue recognition guidance in its entirety and is intended to eliminate numerous industry-specific pieces of revenue
recognition guidance and to require more detailed disclosures. The five steps of the revenue recognition model are: (1) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (2) identify the
performance obligations in the contract; (3) determine the transaction price; (4) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (5) recognize
revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.
 

To further assist with adoption and implementation of ASU 2014-09, the FASB issued the following ASUs:
 
 ● ASU 2016-08 (Issued March 2016) — Principal versus Agent Consideration (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net)
 
 ● ASU 2016-10 (Issued April 2016) — Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing
 
 ● ASU 2016-12 (Issued May 2016) — Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients
 
 ● ASU 2016-20 (Issued December 2016) — Technical Corrections and Improvements to Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
 

The Company adopted these standards as of January 10, 2019 (date of incorporation).
 

At contract inception, the Company assesses the goods and services promised in the contract with customers and identifies a performance obligation for each. To
determine the performance obligation, the Company considers all products and services promised in the contract regardless of whether they are explicitly stated or implied by
customary business practices. The timing of satisfaction of the performance obligation is not subject to significant judgment. The Company measures revenue as the amount of
consideration expected to be received in exchange for transferring goods and services. Revenue is recognized net of any taxes collected from customers that are subsequently
remitted to governmental authorities.

 
The Company has determined that it has the following performance obligations related to its products and services: equipment, software license, extended warranty,

training, installation and consulting service. Revenue from equipment, software license, training and installation are all recognized at a point in time when control of the goods is
transferred to the customer, generally occurring upon shipment or delivery dependent upon the terms of the underlying contract, or services is completed. Revenue from extended
warranties is recognized over time using an input method that results in a straight-line basis recognition over the warranty period, as the contract usually provides the customer
equal benefit throughout the warranty period. Revenue from consulting services is recognized over time using an input method of labor hours expensed, as it directly measures the
efforts toward satisfying the performance obligation.
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For contracts with customers that contain multiple performance obligations, the Company accounts for the promised performance obligations separately as individual

performance obligations if they are distinct. In determining whether performance obligations meet the criteria for being distinct, the Company considers a number of factors,
including the degree of interrelation and interdependence between obligations and whether or not the good or service significantly modifies or transforms another good or service
in the contract. After identifying the separate performance obligations, the transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative standalone selling
price basis. The Company generally determines the standalone selling prices based on the prices charged to customers. Judgment may be used to determine the standalone selling
prices for items that are not sold separately, including taking into consideration either historical pricing practices or an adjusted market assessment. Unsatisfied and partially
unsatisfied performance obligations as of the end of the reporting period primarily consist of products and services for which customer purchase orders have been accepted and
that are in the process of being delivered.

 
Transaction price is calculated as the selling price less any variable consideration, consisting of rebates and discounts. Discounts provided to customers are known at

contract inception. Rebates are calculated on the “expected value” method where the Company (1) estimates the probability of each rebate amount which could be earned by the
distributor, (2) multiplies each estimated amount by its assigned probability factor, and (3) calculates a final sum of each of the probability-weighted amounts calculated in step (2).
The sum calculated in step (3) is the rebate amount, which along with discounts reduces the amount of revenue recognized.

 
Costs incurred for shipping and handling are included in costs of goods sold on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Amounts billed to a customer for shipping

and handling are reported as revenue on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
 
The Company provides limited warranties for products sold to customers, typically for 13 months, covering product defects. Such limited warranties are not sold

separately and do not provide customers with a service in addition to assurance of compliance with agreed-upon specifications. Accordingly, these types of limited warranties are
not considered to be separate performance obligations. In accordance with applicable guidance, the expected cost of the limited warranties is recorded as accrued warranty liability
on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Optional extended warranties are sold to customers and include additional support services.

 
The Company records contract assets when it has a right to consideration and records accounts receivable when it has an unconditional right to consideration. The

Company records contract liabilities when cash payments are received (or unconditional rights to receive cash) in advance of fulfilling its performance obligations. When the
services have been performed or the goods delivered, revenue will be recognized, and contract liabilities will be reduced.

 
The Company does not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts with an original expected length of one year or less. The majority of the

Company’s performance obligations in its contracts with customers relate to contracts with durations of less than one year. The transaction price allocated to unsatisfied
performance obligations included in contracts with durations of more than 12 months is reflected in contract liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

 
Applying a practical expedient, the Company recognizes the incremental costs of obtaining contracts, which primarily consist of sales commissions, as expense when

incurred if the amortization period of the assets that otherwise would have been recognized is one year or less. If the service period, inclusive of any anticipated renewal, is longer
than a year, the incremental direct costs are capitalized and amortized over the period of benefit. As of December 31, 2019, there were no such capitalized costs.

 
The Company also applies the practical expedient not to adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a financing component if the Company expects, at

contract inception, that the period between when the Company transfers a good or service to the customer and when the customer pays for the good or service will be one year or
less. During fiscal 2019, there were no such financing components.

  
Research and Development
 

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs are expensed as incurred unless they meet generally accepted accounting criteria for deferral and
amortization. Development costs incurred prior to establishment of technological feasibility do not meet these criteria and are expensed as incurred.
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Share-Based Compensation
 
Employees
 

The Company accounts for share-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation. ASC 718 requires companies to measure the
cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments, including stock options, based on the grant-date fair value of the award and to recognize it as
compensation expense over the period the employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award, usually the vesting period. The Company has elected to adopt ASU
2016-09, Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718) – Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting (“Topic 718”) and has a policy to account for
forfeitures as they occur.
 
Non-Employees
 

Effective January 10, 2019, the Company adopted ASU No. 2018-07, Compensation – Stock Based Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Nonemployee Share-
Based Payment Accounting (“ASU 2018-07”), which aligns accounting for share-based payments issued to non-employees to that of employees under the existing guidance of
Topic 718, with certain exceptions. This update supersedes previous guidance for equity-based payments to non-employees under Subtopic 505-50, Equity, Equity – Equity-Based
Payments to Non-Employees. The adoption of ASU 2018-07 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
 

Share-based compensation for employees and non-employees is recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Operations as a component of general and administrative
expense with a corresponding increase to additional paid-in capital in shareholders’ equity.
 
Leases  
 

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASU 2016-02”). ASU 2016-02 requires organizations to recognize right-of-use (“ROU”) lease assets
and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and to disclose key information about leasing arrangements. The classification criteria for distinguishing between finance leases and
operating leases are substantially similar to the classification criteria for distinguishing between capital leases and operating leases in the previous lease guidance. The FASB
retained the distinction between finance leases and operating leases, leaving the effect of leases in the statement of comprehensive income and the statement of cash flows largely
unchanged from previous U.S. GAAP. To further assist with adoption and implementation of ASU 2016-02, the FASB issued the following ASUs:
 
 ● ASU 2018-10 (Issued July 2018) — Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases
 
 ● ASU 2018-11 (Issued July 2018) — Leases (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements (“ASU 2018-11”)
 
 ● ASU 2018-20 (Issued December 2018) — Leases (Topic 842): Narrow-Scope Improvements for Lessors
 
 ● ASU 2019-01 (Issued March 2019) — Leases (Topic 842): Codification Improvements
 

ASU 2018-11 provided entities with an additional transition method to adopt the new lease standard. Under this new transition method, an entity initially applies the new
lease standard at the adoption date and recognizes a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption, if any. The new lease
standard was effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company adopted these standards in the first quarter of 2019 utilizing the transition method allowed
under ASU 2018-11. See Note 17 — Leases for more information related to the Company’s leases.
 
Income Taxes
 

The Company accounts for income taxes utilizing ASC 740, Income Taxes. ASC 740 requires the measurement of deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences
and operating loss carry forwards and of deferred tax liabilities for taxable temporary differences. Measurement of current and deferred tax liabilities and assets is based on
provisions of enacted tax law. The effects of future changes in tax laws or rates are not included in the measurement. The Company recognizes the amount of taxes payable or
refundable for the current year and recognizes deferred tax liabilities and assets for the expected future tax consequences of events and transactions that have been recognized in
the Company’s financial statements or tax returns. The Company has recorded a 100% valuation allowance against net deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty of their ultimate
realization. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.

 
The Company also follows the guidance for accounting for income tax uncertainties. In accounting for uncertainty in income taxes, the Company recognizes the financial

statement benefit of a tax position only after determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the position following an audit. For tax positions meeting
the more likely than not threshold, the amount recognized in the consolidated financial statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized
upon ultimate settlement with the relevant tax authority. No liability for unrecognized tax benefits was recorded as of December 31, 2019. If the Company has to recognize any
interest or penalties associated with its tax positions or returns, any interest or penalties will be recorded as income tax expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
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Earnings or Loss per Share
 

The Company accounts for earnings or loss per share pursuant to ASC 260, Earnings Per Share, which requires disclosure on the financial statements of “basic” and
“diluted” earnings (loss) per share. Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for
the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus common stock
equivalents (if dilutive) related to stock options, restricted stock awards and warrants for each period.
 

There were no adjustments to net loss, the numerator, for purposes of computing basic earnings per share. The following table sets out the computation of basic and
diluted income (loss) per share:

 

(Amounts in US$’s, except share data)  

January 10,
2019 (Inception)
to December 31,

2019  
Numerator:     
Net loss  $ (27,545,255)
     
Numerator for basic earnings per share - loss available to common shareholders  $ (27,545,255)
     
Denominator:     
Denominator for basic earnings per share - weighted average common shares outstanding   48,714,099 
Dilutive effect of warrants and options   — 
Denominator for diluted earnings per share - weighted average common shares outstanding and assumed conversions   48,714,099 

Basic loss per common share  $ (0.57)
Diluted loss per common share  $ (0.57)

 
Potential common shares issuable to employees, non-employees and directors upon exercise or conversion of shares are excluded from the computation of diluted

earnings per common share when the effect would be anti-dilutive. All potential common shares are dilutive in periods of net loss available to common shareholders. Stock options
are anti-dilutive when the exercise price of these instruments is greater than the average market price of the Company’s common stock for the period, regardless of whether the
Company is in a period of net loss available to common shareholders. The following weighted-average potential common shares were excluded from the diluted loss per common
share as their effect was anti-dilutive: stock options of 837,479, restricted stock units of 156,091 and warrants of 48,498.
 
Reportable Segments
 

U.S. GAAP establishes standards for reporting financial and descriptive information about a company’s reportable segments. Operating segments are defined as
components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker, or decision-making group, in
deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Our chief operating decision maker is our Chief Executive Officer, who currently reviews the financial
performance and the results of operations of our operating subsidiaries on a consolidated basis when making decisions about allocating resources and assessing performance of
our company. Accordingly, we currently consider ourselves to be in a single reporting segment for reporting purposes focused on the North American development,
manufacturing and production of products and services for the telecom infrastructure market.
 

As we are still in the early stages of developing our company, we have historically managed our subsidiaries within this single operating segment and do not assess the
performance of our product lines or geographic regions or other measures of income or expense, such as product expense, operating income or net income. Each of our subsidiaries
is operated under the same senior management of our company, and we view the operations of our subsidiaries as a whole for making business decisions. Employees of one
subsidiary, particularly mechanical engineers, are often called upon to assist in the operations of another subsidiary. As the development of our company matures and we move
toward full scale production with increased marketing efforts, we will continue to evaluate additional segment disclosure requirements.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

Management believes there have not been any recently issued, but not effective, accounting standards which, if currently adopted, would have a material effect on the
Company’s financial statements.
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3. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS
 

The Company’s acquisitions are accounted for such that the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recognized at their acquisition date fair values, with any excess of
the consideration transferred over the estimated fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired recorded as goodwill.
 

For fiscal 2019, the Company recorded the following acquisitions.
 
VEO, Inc.
 

On January 31, 2019, ComSovereign entered a stock-for-stock exchange with the stockholder of VEO. At the effective date of the acquisition, all of the outstanding capital
stock of VEO that was issued and outstanding at such time was exchanged for 1,500,000 unregistered Preferred Series A shares of ComSovereign.
 

Purchase consideration has been evaluated based on the business enterprise valuation of VEO. The shares of Preferred Series A issued to acquire VEO were valued at
$8.81 per share (non-marketable basis).
 
VEO Purchase Price
 
(Amounts in US$’s, except share data)  Consideration  
Number of Preferred Series A paid   1,500,000 
Per share value  $ 8.81 
Purchase price  $ 13,215,000 

 
The allocation of the total preliminary estimated purchase price to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed by ComSovereign based on the

estimated fair values as of January 31, 2019 was as follows:
 

(Amounts in US$’s)  Fair Value  
Cash  $ 55,261 
Fixed and other long-term assets   4,000 
Assumed liabilities   (40,531)
Intangible assets and goodwill:     

Technology   6,410,000 
Goodwill   6,786,270 

Total intangible assets and goodwill   13,196,270 
Total Consideration  $ 13,215,000 

 
InduraPower, Inc.
 

On January 31, 2019, ComSovereign entered a stock-for-stock exchange with the stockholders of InduraPower. At the effective date of the acquisition, all of the
outstanding capital stock of InduraPower that was issued and outstanding at such time was exchanged for 800,000 unregistered shares of Preferred Series A of ComSovereign.
 

Purchase consideration has been evaluated based on the business enterprise valuation of InduraPower. The shares of Preferred Series A issued to acquire InduraPower
were valued at $8.81 per share (non-marketable basis).
 
InduraPower Purchase Price
 
(Amounts in US$’s, except share data)  Consideration  
Number of Preferred Series A paid   800,000 
Per share value  $ 8.81 
Purchase price  $ 7,048,000 
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The allocation of the total preliminary estimated purchase price to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed by ComSovereign based on the

estimated fair values as of January 31, 2019 was as follows:
 

(Amounts in US$’s)  Fair Value  
Cash  $ 18,791 
Debt-free net working capital (excluding cash)   263,459 
Fixed and other long-term assets   97,384 
Assumed liabilities   (1,240,097)
Intangible assets and goodwill:     

Technology   1,000,000 
Goodwill estimate   6,908,463 

Total intangible assets and goodwill   7,908,463 
Total Consideration  $ 7,048,000 

 
Silver Bullet Technology, Inc.
 

On March 4, 2019, ComSovereign entered a stock-for-stock exchange with the stockholder of Silver Bullet. At the effective date of the acquisition, all of the outstanding
capital stock of Silver Bullet that was issued and outstanding at such time was exchanged for 300,000 unregistered shares of Preferred Series A of ComSovereign.
 

Purchase consideration has been evaluated based on the business enterprise valuation of Silver Bullet. The shares of Preferred Series A issued to acquire Silver Bullet
were valued at $8.81 per share (non-marketable basis).
 
Silver Bullet Purchase Price
 
(Amounts in US$’s, except share data)  Consideration  
Number of Preferred Series A paid   300,000 
Per share value  $ 8.81 
Purchase price  $ 2,643,000 

 
The allocation of the total preliminary estimated purchase price to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed by ComSovereign based on the

estimated fair values as of March 4, 2019 was as follows:
 

(Amounts in US$’s)  Fair Value  
Cash  $ 273,290 
Debt-free net working capital (excluding cash)   103,537 
Fixed and other long-term assets   21,000 
Liabilities assumed   (84,382)
Intangible assets and goodwill:     

Technology   210,000 
Trade name   200,000 
Customer relationships   400,000 
Goodwill estimate   1,519,555 

Total intangible assets and goodwill   2,329,555 
Total Consideration  $ 2,643,000 

 
DragonWave-X LLC and Lextrum, Inc.

 
On April 1, 2019, ComSovereign entered into a stock-for-stock exchange with the owner of DragonWave and Lextrum. At the effective date of the acquisition, all of the

equity interests of DragonWave and Lextrum were exchanged for an aggregate of 13,237,149 shares of ComSovereign’s restricted common stock.
 
Purchase consideration has been evaluated based on the business enterprise valuation of DragonWave and Lextrum. The shares of common stock issued to acquire

DragonWave and Lextrum were valued at $4.40 per share (non-marketable basis).
 

DragonWave and Lextrum Purchase Price
 
(Amounts in US$’s, except share data)  Consideration  
Number of common stock paid   13,237,149 
Per share value  $ 4.40 
Purchase price  $ 58,243,456 

DragonWave  $ 42,081,392 
Lextrum  $ 16,162,064 
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DragonWave
 

The allocation of the total preliminary estimated purchase price to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed by ComSovereign based on the
estimated fair values as of April 1, 2019 was as follows:

 
(Amounts in US$’s)  Fair Value  
Cash  $ 1,274,072 
Debt-free net working capital (excluding cash)   (1,099,194)
Note payable   (5,690,000)
Fixed and other long-term assets   2,455,714 
Intangible assets:     

Technology   13,750,000 
Trade name   4,210,000 
Customer relationships   13,080,000 
Goodwill estimate   14,100,800 

Total intangible assets and goodwill   45,140,800 
Total Consideration  $ 42,081,392 

 
Lextrum
 

The allocation of the total preliminary estimated purchase price to the acquired tangible and intangibleassets and liabilities assumed by ComSovereign based on the
estimated fair values as of April 1, 2019 was as follows:

 
(Amounts in US$’s)  Fair Value  
Cash  $ 8,105 
Debt-free net working capital (excluding cash)   (103,611)
Fixed and other long-term assets   — 
Intangible assets:     

Technology   11,430,000 
Goodwill estimate   4,827,570 

Total intangible assets   16,257,570 
Total Consideration  $ 16,162,064 

 
Historical Drone Aviation Holding Corp
 

The allocation of the total preliminary estimated purchase price to Drone Aviation Holding Corp’s acquired tangible and intangible assets and assumed liabilities based on
the estimated fair values as of November 27, 2019 was as follows:

 
(Amounts in US$’s)  Fair Value  
Working capital  $ 2,399,800 
Other assets   220,672 
Intangible assets and goodwill:     

Intellectual property   3,729,537 
Trade name   1,233,204 
Customer relationships   1,630,792 
Noncompete   937,249 
Goodwill estimate   18,106,237 

Total intangible assets and goodwill   25,637,019 
Total Consideration  $ 28,257,491 

  
4. GOING CONCERN
 

On August 27, 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-05, Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern , which requires management
to assess a company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year from the financial statement issuance and to provide related note disclosures in certain
circumstances.

 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern. For fiscal 2019, the

Company generated negative cash flows from operations of $6,853,247 and had an accumulated deficit of $27,545,255 and negative working capital of $6,477,230.
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Management anticipates that the Company will be dependent, for the near future, on additional investment capital to fund growth initiatives. The Company intends to

position itself so that it will be able to raise additional funds through the capital markets and secure lines of credit. The Company is in discussion with its investment bankers
regarding the sale of approximately $13,000,000 of equity in the third quarter of 2020.

 
The Company’s fiscal operating results, accumulated deficit and negative working capital, among other factors, raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to

continue as a going concern. However, the Company believes the fundraising actions outlined above, and its future operating cash flows, will enable it to meet its liquidity
requirements through June 2021. There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in any capital-raising efforts that it may undertake, and the failure of the Company
to raise additional capital could adversely affect its future operations and viability.
 
5. INVENTORY
 

Inventory consisted of the following as of December 31, 2019:
 

(Amounts in US$’s)  
December 31,

2019  
Raw materials  $ 1,041,256 
Work in progress   1,566,147 
Finished goods   3,060,518 

Total production inventory   5,667,921 
Inventory held for customer service/warranty   56,409 

Total inventory   5,724,330 
Reserve   (1,052,934)

Total inventory, net  $ 4,671,396 

 
6. PREPAID EXPENSES
 

Prepaid expenses consisted of the following as of December 31, 2019:
 

(Amounts in US$’s)  
December 31,

2019  
Prepaid products and services  $ 873,617 
Prepaid rent and security deposit   43,112 
  $ 916,729 

 
7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
 

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following as of December 31, 2019:
 

(Amounts in US$’s)  
December 31,

2019  
Shop machinery and equipment  $ 8,100,667 
Computers and electronics   558,561 
Office furniture and fixtures   341,214 
Leasehold improvements   222,332 
   9,222,774 
Less - accumulated depreciation   (7,764,668)

  $ 1,458,106 

 
For fiscal 2019, the Company invested $87,038 in capital expenditures.

 
The Company recognized $623,884 of depreciation expense for fiscal 2019.
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8. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 

The following table sets forth the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for fiscal 2019:
 
(Amounts in US$’s)  Total  
Balance at January 10, 2019 (inception)  $ — 
Acquisitions   56,386,796 
Balance at December 31, 2019  $ 56,386,796 

 
The following table sets forth the gross carrying amounts and accumulated amortization of the Company’s intangible assets as of December 31, 2019:

 

(Amounts in US$’s)  

Gross
Carrying
Amount   

Accumulated
Amortization   

Net
Carrying
Amount  

Definite-lived intangible assets:          
Trade names  $ 5,643,204  $ (489,222)  $ 5,153,982 
Technology   32,800,000   (4,308,333)   28,491,667 
Customer relationships   15,110,792   (2,054,894)   13,055,898 
Intellectual property   3,729,537   (51,799)   3,677,738 
Noncompete   937,249   (39,052)   898,197 

Total definite-lived intangible assets  $ 58,220,782  $ (6,943,300)  $ 51,277,482 

 
The following table sets forth the amortization expense (actual and estimated) for intangible assets, assuming no additional amortizable intangible assets, for fiscal 2019

and each of the following five years:
 

  Actual   Estimated  
(Amounts in US$’s)  2019   2020   2021   2022   2023   2024  
Amortization expense  $ 6,943,300  $ 10,385,211  $ 10,346,159  $ 9,916,587  $ 9,916,587  $ 7,861,692 
 
9. REVOLVING LINE OF CREDIT AND NOTE PAYABLE
 
Revolving Line of Credit
 

In 2017, the Company issued a promissory note (the “CNB Note”) to City National Bank of Florida (“CNB”) in the principal amount of $2,000,000, with a maturity date of
August 2, 2018. In 2018, the maturity date of the CNB Note was extended to August 2, 2019. On August 29, 2019, the maturity date of the CNB Note was extended to August 2,
2020. The August 2019 modification was evaluated and it was determined that it did not qualify as an extinguishment of debt. The CNB Note allows for a CNB line of credit with
advances that may be requested by the Company until the maturity date of August 2, 2020 so long as no event of default exists under the CNB Note or certain other events.
 

The CNB Note bears an interest rate equal to the average of the interest rates per annum at which U.S. Dollars are offered in the London Interbank Borrowing Market
(“LIBOR”) for a 30-day period (the “Index”) plus 2.9% over the Index. The Company will pay to CNB a late charge of 5.0% of any monthly payment not received by CNB within 10
calendar days after its due date. The Company may prepay the CNB Note at any time without penalty. In the event of a default, the interest rate will increase to the highest lawful
rate. As of December 31, 2019, the interest rate on the CNB Note is 4.6% per annum.
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Under the terms of the CNB Note, the Company is obligated to maintain its primary operating account with CNB with a minimum average annual balance of $1,600,000. In

the event the Company does not maintain this account balance, CNB may charge the Company a fee equal to 2% of the deficiency as additional interest under the CNB Note.
Management believes that it was in compliance at all times during the year with this covenant and was never charged the 2% deficiency fee. The CNB Note is personally
guaranteed by the Company’s former Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Jay H. Nussbaum and his estate (“Guarantors”). The Company and the Guarantors are obligated to maintain
aggregate unencumbered liquidity of no less than $6,000,000 in accounts with recognized financial institutions or licensed brokerage firms during the term of the CNB Note.
Management believes that it was in compliance at all times during the year with this covenant. In addition, the CNB Note is secured by all of the Company’s accounts, inventory
and equipment, along with an assignment of a $120,000 bank account the Company maintains at CNB. The Company maintained the $120,000 bank account as of December 31,
2019. As of December 31, 2019, $2,000,000 had been drawn against the CNB line of credit.
 

See Note 20 – Subsequent Events for details regarding the payoff of the CNB Note.
 
Indemnification Agreement
 

On August 3, 2017, the Company entered into an Indemnification Agreement with Mr. Nussbaum in order to indemnify and defend him to the fullest extent permitted by
law for any claim, expense or obligation which might arise as a result of his guarantee of the CNB Note.
 
10. DEBT AGREEMENTS
 

Long-term debt consisted of the following as of December 31, 2019:
 
    December 31, 2019  

(Amounts in US$’s)  Maturity Date  
Amount

Outstanding   
Interest

Rate  
Secured Notes Payable           

Secured note payable  February 28, 2020  $ 788,709   8.5%
Secured note payable  March 1, 2022   224,288   9.0%
Secured note payable  September 1, 2021   21,571   7.9%
Secured note payable  November 26, 2021   2,000,000   9.0%

Total secured notes payable     3,034,568     
Notes Payable           

Equipment financing loan  September 15, 2020   3,828   8.8%
Note payable  July 9, 2019   200,000   18.0%
Note payable  September 1, 2019   200,000   18.0%
Note payable  September 30, 2020   500,000   10.0%
Note payable  September 30, 2020   175,000   10.0%
Note payable  March 30, 2020   5,000,000   10.0%
Note payable  July 9, 2019   200,000   18.0%
Notes payable  December 6, 2019   450,100   18.0%

Total notes payable     6,728,928     
Senior Convertible Debentures           

Senior convertible debenture  December 31, 2019   100,000   15.0%
Senior convertible debenture  December 31, 2019   25,000   15.0%
Senior convertible debenture  December 31, 2021   250,000   10.0%

Total senior convertible debentures     375,000     
Total long-term debt     10,138,496     

Less unamortized discounts and debt issuance costs     (4,749,004)     
Total long-term debt, less discounts and debt issuance costs     5,389,492     

Less current portion of long-term debt     (5,389,492)     
Debt classified as long-term debt    $ —     

 
Secured Notes Payable
  

In August 2016, InduraPower entered into a promissory note not to exceed the principal amount of $550,000 bearing interest at 8.5% per annum with a maturity date of
August 31, 2018. InduraPower could draw funds under the note through February 28, 2017. Interest on this note was payable monthly and the full principal balance was due at
maturity. On September 11, 2019, the note was amended with both parties agreeing that the outstanding balance of $813,709 would be due on February 28, 2020. As of December 31,
2019, an aggregate principal amount of $788,709 was outstanding under this note. This promissory note is currently past due. This promissory note is secured by substantially all
of the assets of InduraPower.
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In August 2016, InduraPower entered into a promissory note in the principal amount of $450,000 that bears interest at 9.0% per annum and matures on March 1, 2022.

Accrued interest only payments were due monthly beginning October 1, 2016 through March 1, 2017. Monthly payments of $9,341 for interest and principal are due on this note for
the following 60 consecutive months. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $224,288 was outstanding under this note. This promissory note is secured by all
assets, certain real estate and cash accounts of InduraPower and is guaranteed by certain officers of InduraPower. This promissory note is subjected to clauses, whereby
InduraPower is required to meet certain financial and non-financial terms. InduraPower did not fulfil the requirements to maintain a balance of at least $155,159 at J.P. Morgan while
the promissory note is outstanding and maintain a debt service coverage ratio of at least 1.25. Due to this breach of clauses, the promissory note holder is contractually entitled to
request immediate repayment of the outstanding promissory note, and/or increase the interest rate up to an additional 18% per annum. The outstanding balance is presented as a
current liability as of December 31, 2019. The promissory note holder had not requested early repayment of the loan as of the date when these financial statements were approved
by the Board of Directors.

 
In August 2016, InduraPower entered into a promissory note in the principal amount of $50,000 with an interest rate of 7.785% per annum and a maturity date of September

1, 2021. Beginning April 1, 2017, equal monthly payments of $1,011 for interest and principal are due on the note for 60 consecutive months. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate
principal amount of $21,571 was outstanding under this note. This promissory note is secured by business equipment, certain real estate and cash accounts of InduraPower and is
guaranteed by certain officers of InduraPower. This promissory note is subjected to clauses, whereby InduraPower is required to meet certain financial and non-financial terms.
InduraPower did not fulfil the requirements to maintain a balance of at least $155,159 at J.P. Morgan while the promissory note is outstanding and maintain a debt service coverage
ratio of at least 1.25. Due to this breach of clauses, the promissory note holder is contractually entitled to request immediate repayment of the outstanding promissory note, and/or
increase the interest rate up to an additional 18% per annum. The outstanding balance is presented as a current liability as of December 31, 2019. The promissory note holder had
not requested early repayment of the loan as of the date when these financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors.

 
In November 2019, DragonWave entered into a secured loan agreement with an individual lender pursuant to which DragonWave received a $2,000,000 loan that bears

interest at the rate of 9% per annum and matures on November 26, 2021. Accrued interest is calculated on a compound basis and is payable semi-annually in May and November of
each year. Principal is due in full at maturity but can be prepaid in full or in part without penalty. The loan is secured by all of the assets of DragonWave and is guaranteed by
ComSovereign. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $2,000,000 was outstanding under this note. In connection with this loan, DragonWave incurred $20,000
of debt discounts and $4,700,000  of debt issuance costs. The debt issuance costs were the result of the issuance of 1,050,000 shares of common stock of the Company and a cash
payment of $80,000. During fiscal 2019, $196,667 of these costs were amortized and recognized in interest expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. As of December 31,
2019, there were $19,167 of debt discounts and $4,504,167 of debt issuance costs remaining.

 
Notes Payable
  

InduraPower has a financing loan for certain of its equipment that bears interest at 8.775% per annum and is due on September 15, 2020. Principal and interest payments of
$1,872 are due quarterly. As of December 31, 2019, the loan had an outstanding balance of $3,828.

 
In September 2017, InduraPower entered into a promissory note in the principal amount of $137,500 that bore interest at a rate of 12% per annum and was due on October

17, 2017. The note was repaid during fiscal 2019. On June 10, 2019, InduraPower entered into a new promissory note with the same lender for $200,000 with an original issue
discount of $6,000 and a maturity date of July 9, 2019. The full $200,000 balance was due at maturity. Since this note was not repaid and is currently past due, interest is being
accrued at a rate of 18% per annum. Additionally, on August 14, 2019, InduraPower borrowed from the same lender an additional $200,000 promissory note that matured on
September 1, 2019. As this note is currently past due, interest is being accrued at a rate of 18% per annum. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $400,000 was
outstanding under these notes.
 

In connection with its acquisition of DragonWave and Lextrum in April 2019, ComSovereign assumed the obligations of the seller on a promissory note in the principal
amount of $500,000 bearing interest at 12.0% per annum with a maturity date of October 17, 2017. On October 1, 2019, the maturity date was extended until September 30, 2020 and
the interest rate was reduced to 10% per annum. All unpaid accrued interest from October 2017 through September 30, 2019 was converted into 150,000 shares of common stock of
ComSovereign. Accrued interest and the full principal balance are due at maturity. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $500,000 was outstanding under this
note. On April 30, 2020, the Company also issued 14,496 shares of common stock in lieu of an aggregate cash interest payment payable by ComSovereign through December 31,
2019 on this outstanding note payable.

 
In connection with its acquisition of DragonWave and Lextrum in April 2019, ComSovereign assumed the obligations of the seller of a promissory note in the principal

amount of $175,000 that bore interest at the rate of 15% per annum and was due on November 30, 2017. The interest rate increased to 18% per annum when the note became past
due. On October 1, 2019, ComSovereign amended the promissory note to extend the maturity date to September 30, 2020 and to change the interest rate to 10% per annum. Both
parties to the note also agreed to convert all unpaid accrued interest into 10,000 shares of common stock of ComSovereign, valued at $44,000. Accrued interest and principal are
due and payable at maturity. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $175,000 was outstanding under this note.
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In October 2017, DragonWave entered into a 90-day promissory note in the principal amount of $4,400,000 and received proceeds of $4,000,000. In January 2018, the

promissory note was amended to accrue interest at the rate of 8% per annum and to extend the maturity date another 90 days. In August 2018, the maturity date was extended to
December 31, 2018 with new payment terms. In September 2018, the maturity date was extended to February 28, 2019 with new payment terms. In October 2018, DragonWave
amended the promissory note to clarify the payment of interest. On September 3, 2019, the promissory note was increased to $5,000,000 as all unpaid accrued interest was added to
the principal balance. Additionally, the maturity date was extended to March 30, 2020 and the interest rate was changed to 10% per annum. Under this new amendment, principal
and interest payments are due and payable monthly. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $5,000,000 was outstanding under this note. On April 21, 2020, the
maturity date of this note was extended to August 31, 2020, and the interest rate was increased to 12% per annum.

 
On June 10, 2019, ComSovereign entered into a promissory note in the principal amount of $200,000 with an original issue discount of $6,000 and a maturity date of July 9,

2019. The full $200,000 balance was due at maturity. Since this note was not repaid and is currently past due, interest is being accrued at a rate of 18% per annum. As of December
31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $200,000 was outstanding under this note.

 
In September 2019, DragonWave entered into a $5,250,000 promissory note that was not fully funded and was guaranteed by ComSovereign. DragonWave received

$3,485,000 in proceeds. As incentive to enter into the promissory note, the noteholder was issued 500,000 shares of ComSovereign’s common stock for the total purchase price of
$4.40 per share, or $2,200,000, of which only $5,000 was paid in cash. The noteholder was later granted detachable warrants to purchase an aggregate of 2,442,500 shares of
ComSovereign’s common stock at a price of $0.01 per share. As of December 31, 2019, DragonWave had repaid the principal amount in full along with all accrued interest, and the
warrants had been converted into 2,442,500 shares of ComSovereign’s common stock at an exercise price of $0.01 per share or noncash proceeds $24,425.

 
On November 7, 2019, ComSovereign entered into several promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of $450,100 that bore an effective interest rate at 133% per

annum due to a single payment incentive, which matured on December 6, 2019. An aggregate principal amount of $200,100 was owed to three related parties out of the $450,100
promissory notes. Accrued interest and principal were due and payable at maturity. These notes are currently past due, and the Company is using an interest rate of 18% per
annum to accrue interest on these notes. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $450,100 was outstanding under these notes.

  
Senior Convertible Debentures
 

In connection with its acquisition of DragonWave and Lextrum in April 2019, ComSovereign assumed the obligations of the seller of $100,000 aggregate principal amount
of 8% Senior Convertible Debentures of the seller that bore interest at the rate of 8% per annum and matured on December 31, 2019. Interest was payable semi-annually in cash or,
at the seller’s option, in shares of the seller’s common stock at the conversion price that was equal to the lesser of (1) $8.00 or (2) 80% of the common stock price offered under the
next equity offering. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $100,000 was outstanding under these debentures. These debentures are past due and interest
accrues at a rate of 15% per annum. On April 30, 2020, these debentures were modified to remove the conversion feature and only have settlement through cash.

 
In connection with its acquisition of DragonWave and Lextrum in April 2019, ComSovereign assumed the obligations of the seller of $25,000 aggregate principal amount of

8% Senior Convertible Debentures of the seller that bore interest at the rate of 8% per annum and matured on December 31, 2019. Interest was payable semi-annually in cash or, at
the seller’s option, in shares of the seller’s common stock at the conversion price that was equal to the lesser of (1) $8.00 or (2) 80% of the common stock price offered under the
next equity offering. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $25,000 was outstanding under these debentures. These debentures are past due and interest
accrues at a rate of 15% per annum. On April 30, 2020, these debentures were modified to remove the conversion feature and only have settlement through cash.

 
In July and August 2019, ComSovereign sold $1,000,000 principal amount of 9% Senior Convertible Debentures that bore interest at the rate of 9% per annum and matured

on December 31, 2021. ComSovereign received $850,000 in cash. Interest was payable in arrears in June and December of each year in cash or, at ComSovereign’s option, in shares
of common stock at the conversion price that was equal to the lesser of (1) $8.00 or (2) 80% of the common stock price offered under the next equity offering. The noteholders were
also granted detachable warrants to purchase an aggregate of 100,000 shares of ComSovereign’s common stock at a price of $5.00 per share. ComSovereign allocated the note
proceeds based on relative fair value and recorded the warrants as a discount to the debt in the amount of $63,880. ComSovereign also recorded a $150,000 debt discount and
$786,549 for the BCF associated with the debentures. Prior to conversion, the warrants were cancelled and 132,500 warrants were issued for $1.50 per share. On November 15, 2019,
ComSovereign converted the outstanding warrants into 132,500 shares of ComSovereign’s common stock and the full principal amount of such debentures and accrued interest
into 1,100,000 shares of ComSovereign’s common stock.
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On September 24, 2019, ComSovereign sold $250,000 aggregate principal amount of 10% Senior Convertible Debentures that bear interest at a rate of 10% per annum and

mature on December 31, 2021. Interest is paid semi-annually in arrears in June and December of each year in cash or, at ComSovereign’s option, in shares of common stock at the
conversion price that was equal to the lesser of (1) $2.50 or (2) a future effective price per share of any common stock sold by ComSovereign. Upon an event of default, the interest
rate shall automatically increase to 15% per annum. As of December 31, 2019, an aggregate principal amount of $250,000 was outstanding under these debentures. In connection
with these debentures, ComSovereign recognized a BCF of $69,000 and a debt discount of $181,000 associated with the issuance of warrants, both of which are recorded as debt
discounts. During fiscal 2019, $25,000 of these costs were amortized and recognized in interest expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. As of December 31, 2019,
there were $225,000 of debt discounts remaining. On April 30, 2020, these debentures were amended to provide for the conversion of the debentures into shares of the Company’s
common stock instead of ComSovereign’s common stock. Additionally, the conversion price was changed from $2.50 per share to $0.756 per share. As a result, all the outstanding
warrants were exercised at $0.01 per share into 283,530 shares of the Company’s common stock. The Company also issued 6,700 shares of common stock on April 30, 2020 in lieu of
an aggregate cash interest payment payable by ComSovereign through December 31, 2019 on these outstanding convertible debentures.
 

The agreements governing the secured notes payable, notes payable and senior convertible debentures contain customary covenants, such as debt service coverage
ratios, limitations on liens, dispositions, mergers, entry into other lines of business, investments and the incurrence of additional indebtedness. As of December 31, 2019, the
various subsidiaries were in compliance with all debt covenants under the applicable agreements except as noted above.
 

All debt agreements are subject to customary events of default. If an event of default occurs with respect to the debt agreements and is continuing, the lenders may
accelerate the applicable amounts due.
 

Future maturities contractually required by the Company under long-term debt obligations are as follows for the years ending December 31:
  
(Amounts in US$’s)  Total  
2020  $ 7,888,496 
2021   2,250,000 
2022   — 
2023   — 
2024   — 
Thereafter   — 

Total  $ 10,138,496 

 
See Note 20 – Subsequent Events for details regarding additional debt incurred after December 31, 2019.

  
11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 
Receivable – Related Party

 
As of December 31, 2019, the receivables - related party balance was $1,595, which represented amounts owed by Dr. Dustin McIntire, the Company’s Chief Technology

Officer, for personal charges he incurred using his company credit card.
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Accrued Liabilities – Related Party

 
As of December 31, 2019, the accrued liabilities – related party balance was $461,254, which represented amounts owed to various contractors, officers and employees of

the Company as described below.
 
In August 2016, InduraPower entered into a promissory note in the principal amount of $50,000 that bears interest at 7.785% per annum and matures on September 1, 2021.

At the same time, InduraPower also entered into a promissory note in the principal amount of $450,000 with the same lender that bears interest at 9.0% per annum and matures on
March 1, 2022. A requirement of the promissory notes is to maintain a balance of at least $155,159 at J.P. Morgan while the promissory notes are outstanding. Sergei Begliarov,
Chief Executive Officer of InduraPower, provided cash of $153,761 to comply with the requirements of the promissory notes. The $153,761 was recorded in accrued liabilities –
related party as of December 31, 2019.

 
During 2019, Sergei Begliarov paid $71,199 worth of expense of behalf of InduraPower, and Daniel L. Hodges, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of ComSovereign at

the time, paid $6,588 of rent on behalf of InduraPower. Additionally, during 2019, TM Technologies, Inc. (“TM”), described below, paid $29,300 worth of expense of behalf of
InduraPower. These amounts were recorded in accrued liabilities – related party as of December 31, 2019.

 
During 2018 and 2019, Daniel L. Hodges paid $29,120 of rent on behalf of Lextrum. This amount was recorded in accrued liabilities – related party as of December 31, 2019.
  
On November 10, 2017, the Company and Global Security Innovative Strategies, LLC (“GSIS”), a company in which David Aguilar, a member of the Company’s Board of

Directors, is a principal, entered in an agreement (the “GSIS Agreement”) pursuant to which GSIS agreed to provide business development support and general consulting services
for sales opportunities with U.S. government agencies and other identified prospects and consulting support services for the Company. The GSIS Agreement had an initial term of
six months beginning on November 1, 2017. On September 26, 2018, the parties amended the GSIS Agreement to extend the period of service through September 2019 with monthly
automatic renewals thereafter. The Company also agreed to issue an option to purchase 100,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at a strike price of $1.00, or $100,000. This
option immediately vested and terminates on September 26, 2022. Pursuant to the GSIS Agreement, GSIS is paid a fee of $10,000 per month. In addition, GSIS is paid for the
expenses incurred in connection with the performance of its duties under the GSIS Agreement. Either party may terminate or renew the GSIS Agreement at any time, for any reason
or no reason, upon at least 30 days’ notice to the other party. GSIS was owed $23,036 for normal monthly retainers and expenses incurred as of December 31, 2019. This amount
was recorded in accrued liabilities – related party as of December 31, 2019.

 
On March 21, 2019, concurrent with the resignation of Kevin Hess, the Company’s former Chief Technology Officer, the Company and Cognitive Carbon Corporation

(“CCC”), entered into an agreement pursuant to which CCC agreed to provide Chief Technology Officer services, sales and marketing services and outsourced software and
platform development services which are to be provided personally by Kevin Hess or third-party development firms of his choosing for outsourced development. CCC will receive
$19,750 per month for one year for the Chief Technology Officer services and potential bonuses and an amount up to $120,000 for outsourced software and platform development.
Felicia Hess, the Company’s Chief Quality Officer, who is married to Kevin Hess, is the President and a director of CCC. CCC was owed $148,250 for normal monthly fees and the
2019 bonus as of December 31, 2019. This amount was recorded in accrued liabilities – related party as of December 31, 2019.
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Notes Payable – Related Party
 

On August 5, 2019, Mr. Hodges and his wife, loaned DragonWave $200,000 at an interest rate of 5.0% per annum and a maturity date of December 31, 2019. Interest was
payable monthly while the full principal balance was due at maturity. As of December 31, 2019, $200,000 plus accrued interest was outstanding under the loan, and the loan was
past due.

  
Mr. Hodges is also the founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of TM Technologies, Inc. (“TM”). Mr. Hodges also controls TM by virtue of his ownership and

control of a majority of the outstanding equity securities of TM. In October 2017, TM loaned $250,000 to DragonWave. On October 31, 2019, this loan was increased to $1,292,953
at an interest rate of 5% per annum with a maturity date of August 31, 2020. This loan was partially used to simulate and test emplacement of the modulation technology within one
of DragonWave’s Harmony line radios. Interest and principal are due at maturity. As of December 31, 2019, $1,292,953 plus accrued interest was outstanding under this loan.  

 
Stock Awards

 
In January 2019, Daniel L. Hodges, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of ComSovereign at such time, and John E. Howell, President of ComSovereign at such time, each

acquired 12,000,000 shares of common stock of ComSovereign at a value of $0.0001 per share of common stock with no cash paid to ComSovereign and no services required.
 
On January 22, 2019, three members of the Board of Directors of ComSovereign and an executive officer of ComSovereign acquired an aggregate of 2,150,000 shares of

common stock of ComSovereign at a value of $0.0001 per share of common stock with no cash paid to ComSovereign and no services required. Additionally, four executive officers
of InduraPower, Lextrum and VEO acquired an aggregate of 500,000 shares of common stock of ComSovereign at a value of $0.0001 per share of common stock with no cash paid to
ComSovereign and no services required.

 
On November 19, 2019, ComSovereign’s Board of Directors granted an aggregate of 24,000 restricted stock awards (“RSAs”) to three executives of DragonWave and

Silver Bullet at a grant date fair value of $4.40 per share of common stock for a total value of $105,600. The total value was recognized during fiscal 2019 in share-based
compensation expense.

 
On December 2, 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors granted an aggregate of 1,900,000 RSAs to eight officers and directors at a grant date fair value of $0.82 per share

of common stock for a total value of $1,558,000. The vesting period for these RSAs is as follows: 850,000 vest on the one-year anniversary of the grant date; 850,000 vest on the
two-year anniversary of the original grant date; and 200,000 vest on the three-year anniversary of the original grant date. During fiscal 2019, $54,667 was recognized in share-based
compensation expense after the ComSovereign Acquisition. See Note 14 – Share-Based Compensation for additional information.

 
See Note 20 – Subsequent Events for information regarding a new note payable with the Nussbaum estate.
 

12. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
 

ComSovereign had 5,000,000 Preferred Series A shares authorized for issuance and as of March 4, 2019 had 2,600,000 Preferred Series A shares issued and outstanding.
All the Preferred Series A shares issued were for the acquisitions of VEO, InduraPower and Silver Bullet during fiscal 2019. On November 15, 2019, each Preferred Series A share
was converted into one common share of ComSovereign. After the conversion, the Preferred Series A shares ceased to exist and were no longer authorized for issuance.
 

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized for issuance, none of which were issued and outstanding.
 
As of December 31, 2019, the Company had 300,000,000 shares of common stock authorized for issuance and 128,326,243 shares of common stock issued and outstanding.
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As of December 31, 2019, the Company had outstanding warrants to purchase an aggregate of 503,523 shares of common stock. Of those 503,523 warrants, 283,523 had an

exercise price of $0.01 per share; 70,000 had an exercise price of $5.00 per share; 100,000 had an exercise price of $1.00 per share; and the remaining 50,000 had an exercise price of
$0.50 per share.

 
On September 4, 2019, the Company entered into a Redemption Agreement with Robert Guerra, a former director of the Company, pursuant to which 100,000 shares of

common stock were redeemed for $0.50 per share, or an aggregate of $50,000. These redeemed shares were recorded as treasury stock on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of
December 31, 2019.
 
Dividends
 

The Company did not pay dividends to holders of its common stock during fiscal 2019. The determination to pay dividends on common stock will be at the discretion of
the Board of Directors and will depend on applicable laws and the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, cash requirements, prospects and such other factors as the
Board of Directors may deem relevant. In addition, current or future loan agreements may restrict the Company’s ability to pay dividends. The Company does not anticipate
declaring or paying any cash dividends on common stock in the foreseeable future.
 
13. REVENUE
 

The following table is a summary of the Company’s timing of revenue recognition for fiscal 2019:
 

(Amounts in US$’s)  

January 10,
2019 (Inception)
to December 31,

2019  
Timing of revenue recognition:    

Services and products transferred at a point in time  $ 2,803,026 
Services and products transferred over time   1,909,186 

Total revenue  $ 4,712,212 

  
The Company disaggregates revenue by source and geographic destination, to depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are

affected by economic factors.
 
Revenue by source consisted of the following for fiscal 2019:
 

(Amounts in US$’s)  

January 10,
2019 (Inception)
to December 31,

2019  
Revenue by products and services:    

Products  $ 2,702,410 
Services   2,009,802 

Total revenue  $ 4,712,212 

 
Revenue by geographic destination consisted of the following for fiscal 2019:
 

(Amounts in US$’s)  

January 10,
2019 (Inception)
to December 31,

2019  
Revenue by geography:    

North America  $ 3,476,977 
International   1,235,235 

Total revenue  $ 4,712,212 

  
See Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for the Company’s policies on revenue recognition.
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14. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
 
Stock Options
 

The following information relates to the stock option activity of the Company prior to the ComSovereign Acquisition.
 
During 2017, the Company granted the following options outside of any equity plan with the attributes described below to purchase the Company’s common stock

(amounts in US$’s, except share data):
 

Grant Date  Underlying Shares   Option Price   Full Vesting Date  Expiration Date
January 9, 2017   100,000  $ 2.90  January 9, 2019  January 7, 2021
August 3, 2017   5,130,000  $ 0.50  August 3, 2017  August 3, 2021

November 9, 2017   2,000,000  $ 0.50  November 9, 2017  November 9, 2021
December 13, 2017   200,000  $ 1.00  November 13, 2019  December 13, 2021

 
During 2018, the Company granted the following options outside of any equity plan with the attributes described below to purchase the Company’s common stock

(amounts in US$’s, except share data):
 

Grant Date  
Underlying

Shares   Vesting  Option Price   Full Vesting Date  Expiration Date
March 28, 2018   100,000  50% in one year; 50% in two years from grant date  $ 1.00  March 28, 2020  March 28, 2022
May 16, 2018   330,000  Immediate vesting  $ 1.00  May 16, 2018  May 16, 2022
May 16, 2018   130,000  50% in one year; 50% in two years from grant date  $ 1.00  May 16, 2020  May 16, 2022

September 26, 2018   6,000,000  $4,000,000 new government orders  $ 0.65  December 21, 2018  September 26, 2022
 

All of the above options were outstanding as of January 10, 2019.
 
On March 20, 2019, the Company granted options outside of any equity plan to two employees and one non-employee for the purchase of an aggregate of 180,000 shares

of the Company’s common stock. All the options have an exercise price of $1.06 per share and expire on March 20, 2023. Under the Black-Scholes option pricing model, the fair
value of the 180,000 options on the date of grant was estimated at $123,130.

 
The following table summarizes the assumptions used to estimate the fair value of stock options granted during fiscal 2019:
 

  2019  
Expected dividend yield   0%
Expected volatility   90%
Risk-free interest rate   2.40-2.47%
Expected life of options   4.0 years 
 

Total recognized compensation expense related to the Company’s stock options was $157,441 for fiscal 2019. All options granted by the Company vested upon the
change of control resulting from the completion of the ComSovereign Acquisition on November 27, 2019.

 
The following table represents stock option activity of ComSovereign and the Company as of and for fiscal 2019:

 

  
Number of

Options   

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price per

Share   

Weighted-
Average

Contractual
Life in
Years   

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value  
Outstanding – January 10, 2019   13,990,000  $ 0.61   3.15  $ — 
Granted   180,000   1.06         
Exercised   (5,250,000)   0.57         
Cancelled or Expired   (225,000)   0.72         
Outstanding – December 31, 2019   8,695,000  $ 0.63   1.34  $ 2,264,760 
Exercisable – December 31, 2019   8,695,000  $ 0.63   1.34  $ 2,264,760 
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As of December 31, 2019, there were no unvested stock options.

 
The Company did not record any compensation expense for the period from November 27, 2019, the date of the ComSovereign Acquisition, to December 31, 2019.

Compensation expense related to stock options would be recorded in general and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. As of December 31, 2019,
there was no unrecognized compensation expense related to stock options.

 
Restricted Stock Awards
 

On March 25, 2019, ComSovereign’s Board of Directors granted an aggregate of 80,000 RSAs to a non-employee for consulting services, of which 60,000 RSAs
immediately vested and 20,000 RSAs vested upon the change in control of ComSovereign in connection with the ComSovereign Acquisition. The grant date fair value of these
RSAs was $4.40 per share of common stock for a total value of $352,000.

 
On November 12, 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors granted an aggregate of 2,300,000 RSAs to eight employees. The RSAs vested upon the change of control upon

the completion of the ComSovereign Acquisition on November 27, 2019. The Company recorded $1,495,000 in share-based compensation expense related to these RSAs during
fiscal 2019, prior to the ComSovereign Acquisition. No compensation expense was recognized for the period November 27, 2019, the date of the ComSovereign Acquisition,
through December 31, 2019. 

 
On November 14, 2019, ComSovereign’s Board of Directors granted an aggregate of 40,000 RSAs to a non-employee for consulting services that vested immediately. The

grant date fair value of these RSAs was $4.40 per share of common stock for a total value of $176,000.
 
On November 19, 2019, ComSovereign’s Board of Directors granted an aggregate of 270,800 RSAs to noteholders, employees, non-employees and an officer with a grant

date fair value of $4.40 per share of common stock that vested immediately for a total value of $1,191,520.
 
On November 27, 2019, ComSovereign’s Board of Directors granted an aggregate of 50,000 RSAs that immediately vested to a non-employee for assistance in negotiating

a secured loan agreement on ComSovereign’s behalf. The grant date fair value of these RSAs was $4.40 per share of common stock for a total value of $220,000.
 
On December 2, 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors granted an aggregate of 1,900,000 RSAs to nine officers and directors. The vesting period for these RSAs is as

follows: 850,000 vest on the one-year anniversary of the grant date; 850,000 vest on the two-year anniversary of the original grant date; and 200,000 vest on the three-year
anniversary of the original grant date. The Company recognized $54,667 in share-based compensation expense for these RSAs during fiscal 2019 which was recognized after the
ComSovereign Acquisition.

 
Total recognized compensation expense related to the RSAs was $258,256 which was recorded in general and administration expense in the Consolidated Statement of

Operations. See Note 1 – Description of Business and Basis of Presentation for information about the shares issued in connection with the formation of ComSovereign.
 
See Note 20 – Subsequent Events for information related to the adoption of the 2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan.
 

15. WARRANTS
  

The following warrants were issued by the Company prior to the ComSovereign Acquisition with the attributes described below to purchase the Company’s common
stock (amounts in US$’s, except share data):

 
Issuance Date  Warrants Issued   Exercise Price   Full Vesting Date  Expiration Date

November 20, 2015   70,000  $ 5.00  November 20, 2015  November 20, 2020
April 27, 2016   60,000  $ 2.91  April 27, 2016  April 27, 2019

August 3, 2017   30,000  $ 0.50  August 3, 2017  August 3, 2021
August 3, 2017   2,000,000  $ 0.50  August 3, 2017  August 3, 2022

November 9, 2017   20,000  $ 0.50  November 9, 2017  November 9, 2021
September 26, 2018   100,000  $ 1.00  September 26, 2018  September 26, 2022
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During the third quarter of 2019, ComSovereign issued eight warrants to purchase an aggregate of 100,000 shares of ComSovereign’s common stock. The warrants were

issued in conjunction with the sale of the ComSovereign’s 9% Senior Convertible Debentures. The warrants had an exercise price of $5.00 per share and an expiration date of
December 31, 2021. Prior to conversion of the related debentures, ComSovereign cancelled warrants to purchase 80,000 shares of common stock at $5.00 per share, and reissued
warrants to purchase 112,500 shares of common stock at $1.50 per share. ComSovereign valued the new warrants at $250,835 using the Black-Scholes pricing model, which is
included in interest expense on the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Warrants to purchase all 132,500 shares of common stock were exercised in November 2019 prior to the
ComSovereign Acquisition.

 
On September 24, 2019, ComSovereign issued a warrant to purchase 150,000 shares of the ComSovereign’s common stock, which was converted into the ability to

purchase 283,530 shares of the Company’s common stock as a result of the ComSovereign Merger. The warrant was issued in conjunction with the sale of ComSovereign’s 10%
Senior Convertible Debentures. The warrant has an exercise price of $0.01 per share and an expiration date of December 31, 2021. No warrants were exercised during fiscal 2019. On
April 21, 2020, these warrants were exercised and exchanged for 283,530 shares of the Company’s common stock.

 
During September 2019, ComSovereign issued two warrants to purchase 2,000,000 shares of ComSovereign’s common stock. The warrants were issued in conjunction with

the sale by ComSovereign of a promissory note. The warrants had an exercise price of $0.01 per share and an expiration date of December 31, 2021. Warrants to purchase the full
2,000,000 shares of ComSovereign’s common stock were exercised in November 2019 prior to the ComSovereign Acquisition.
 

On October 15, 2019, ComSovereign issued a warrant to purchase 442,500 shares of ComSovereign’s common stock. The warrant was issued in conjunction with the sale
by ComSovereign of a promissory note. The warrant had an exercise price of $0.01 per share and an expiration date of December 31, 2021. Warrants to purchase the full 442,500
shares of ComSovereign’s common stock were exercised in November 2019 prior to the ComSovereign Acquisition.
 

On November 26, 2019, ComSovereign issued warrants to purchase 930,000 shares of ComSovereign’s common stock to non-employees for consulting services in
connection with the ComSovereign Acquisition. The warrants had an exercise price of $0.01 per share and an expiration date of November 26, 2024. Warrants to purchase the full
930,000 shares of ComSovereign’s common stock were exercised on November 27, 2019.
 

The following table summarizes the assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the warrants granted during fiscal 2019:
 
Expected dividend yield  0%
Expected volatility   32-33%
Risk-free interest rate   1.38-1.82%
Expected life of warrants   2.27-3.0 years
 

Under the Black-Scholes option pricing model, the fair value of the warrants issued was estimated at $3,138,667 on the date of grant, which was recognized as interest
expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. As of December 31, 2019, there was no unrecognized expense related to the warrants as all of the warrants were fully vested.
 

The following table represents warrant activity of ComSovereign and the Company as of and for fiscal 2019:
 

  
Number of
Warrants   

Weighted-
Average Exercise

Price   

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual Life

in Years   
Aggregate

Intrinsic Value  
Outstanding – January 10, 2019   2,280,000  $ 0.72   3.44  $ — 
Exercisable – January 10, 2019   2,280,000  $ 0.72   3.44  $ — 
Granted   3,868,523   0.18         
Exercised   (5,472,500)   0.23         
Forfeited or Expired   (172,500)   3.61         
Outstanding – December 31, 2019   503,523  $ 0.95   1.96  $ 258,328 
Exercisable – December 31, 2019   503,523  $ 0.95   1.96  $ 258,328 
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16. INCOME TAXES
 

Deferred taxes are provided on the liability method whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for deductible temporary differences and operating loss and
tax credit carryforwards and deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences. Temporary differences are the differences between the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion
or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax law and rates on the date of enactment. The Tax
Cut and Jobs Act was enacted on December 22, 2017, which reduced the U.S. corporate statutory income tax rate from 35% to 21% beginning January 1, 2018.
 

Net deferred tax liabilities consisted of the following as of December 31, 2019:
 

(Amounts in US$’s)  
December 31,

2019  
Deferred tax assets:    

Share-based compensation  $ 13,700 
Inventory reserve   137,000 
Allowance for bad debt   172,700 
Net operating loss carryover   11,867,800 
Foreign losses   4,130,000 
General business credits   256,400 
Valuation allowance   (3,762,800)

Total deferred tax assets   12,814,800 
Deferred tax liabilities:     

Depreciation   (43,000)
Amortization   (12,771,800)
Total deferred tax liabilities   (12,814,800)

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)  $ — 

 
The income tax provision differs from the amount of income tax determined by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate to income (loss) from continuing operations before

tax for fiscal 2019 due to the following:
 
  December 31, 2019  
  US$’s   Rates  
Income tax benefit at statutory federal income tax rate  $ (6,653,400)   21.00%

State tax expense, net of federal benefit   (1,267,300)   4.00%
Permanent items   20,000   (0.06)%
Valuation allowance   3,762,800   (11.88)%

Income tax benefit  $ (4,137,900)   13.06%

 
As of December 31, 2019, the Company had domestic net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $47,472,000, of which approximately $13,615,000 was generated

pre-2018 that may be carried forward 20 years to offset against future taxable income from the year 2019 through 2039, and approximately $33,857,000 that may offset future taxable
income with no definite expiration date.

 
Due to the change in the ownership provisions of the Tax Reform Act of 1986, net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax reporting purposes are subject to

annual limitations. Should a change in ownership occur, net operating loss carryforwards may be limited as to use in future years.
 
The Company records uncertain tax positions in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes, on the basis of a two-step process in which (1) the Company determines

whether it is more likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the technical merits of the position and (2) for those tax positions that meet the more-likely-
than-not recognition threshold, the Company recognizes the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon the ultimate settlement with the related
tax authority. The Company did not record any liabilities related to uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2019.

 
The Company records valuation allowances to reduce its deferred tax assets to an amount the its believes is more likely than not to be realized. In assessing the

realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers all positive and negative evidence to determine whether future taxable income will be generated during the periods in
which those temporary differences become deductible. As a result, the Company recorded a valuation allowance on the portion of the deferred tax assets, including current year
losses, deemed not to have enough sources of income to utilize the future benefits.
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17. LEASES
 

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had six operating leases for office and manufacturing space and no financial leases. The impact of ASU 2016-02 on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheet beginning January 10, 2019 was from the recognition of ROU assets and lease liabilities for operating leases. Amounts recognized as of January 10,
2019 and December 31, 2019 for operating leases were as follows:
 

(Amounts in US$’s)  
January 10,

2019  
ROU assets  $ 116,876 
Lease liability  $ 116,876 
 

(Amounts in US$’s)  
December 31,

2019  
ROU assets  $ 2,199,682 
Lease liability  $ 2,212,548 
 

The Company elected the practical expedient under ASU 2018-11, which allows the Company to apply the transition provision for Topic 842 at the Company’s adoption
date. Therefore, the Company recognized and measured leases existing at January 10, 2019 (inception date). In addition, the Company elected the optional practical expedient
permitted under the transition guidance which allows the Company to carry forward the historical accounting treatment for existing leases upon adoption. No impact was recorded
to the Consolidated Statement of Operations or beginning retained earnings resulting from the adoption of Topic 842.

 
Beginning January 10, 2019, operating ROU assets and operating lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of lease payments, including annual rent

increases, over the lease term at commencement date. Operating leases in effect prior to January 10, 2019 were recognized at the present value of the remaining payments on the
remaining lease term as of January 10, 2019. As none of the Company’s leases included an implicit rate of return, the Company used its incremental secured borrowing rate based
on lease term information available as of the adoption date or lease commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments.

 
On January 10, 2019, the Company had one operating lease for office space. The Company is leasing 5,533 square feet of office space with monthly payments of $6,316

and an incremental borrowing rate of 5.90%. As of December 31, 2019, the Company had seven months remaining on the lease with a lease liability of $44,588.
 
During fiscal 2019, the Company entered into the following leases which the Company identified as operating leases:
 
On March 1, 2019, the Company entered into a 37-month lease for 2,390 square feet of office space. On December 31, 2019, the remaining liability under this agreement was

$54,852, payable in amounts ranging from $2,091 to $2,188 per month through March 2022. The lease did not include an implicit rate of return, so the Company used an incremental
borrowing rate of 5.5%.

 
On June 1, 2018, InduraPower entered into a one-year lease on its executive office located at 1668 S. Research Loop in Tucson, Arizona. InduraPower leases 7,432 square

feet of a business park. On February 1, 2019, the date InduraPower was acquired, there were five months remaining on the original lease. On June 7, 2019, InduraPower entered into
a two-year lease renewal. On December 31, 2019, the remaining liability under this lease was $89,482 payable in amounts ranging from $5,351 to $5,717 per month until June 2021.
The lease did not include an implicit rate of return; therefore, the Company used the average interest rate of InduraPower’s debt financings, which is 8.46%. The lease does not
have a renewal option.
 

On June 1, 2019, VEO entered into a five-year lease on its executive office located at 10509 Vista Sorrento Parkway in San Diego, California. VEO leases 3,031 square feet of
a business park. On December 31, 2019, the remaining liability under this agreement was $341,200 payable in amounts from $6,800 to $7,654 per month until May 2024. The lease did
not include an implicit rate of return and VEO did not have any outstanding debt financing. Therefore, the Company used the average rate of the first two outstanding leases
mentioned above, which is 5.70%. The lease has a renewal option of two additional periods of five years each.
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On June 12, 2019, DragonWave entered into a two-year lease on office space located at 362 Terry Fox Drive, Ottawa Canada. DragonWave leases 13,541 square feet of a

business park with monthly payments of $10,708, in Canadian dollars. On December 31, 2019, the remaining liability under this lease was $173,792. The lease is effective as of July 1,
2019 through June 2021. DragonWave used a 15% interest rate and there is no renewal option.

 
On December 13, 2019, the Company entered into a 63-month lease on its executive office located at 5000 Quorum Drive, Dallas, TX 75254. The Company is leasing 15,289

square feet of a business park. The lease began on April 1, 2020 and will expire on July 31, 2025. A right-of-use asset and lease liability for $1,540,142 was recorded as of December
13, 2019. Monthly payments will range from $27,074 to $29,622 during the life of the lease. The lease did not include an implicit rate of return; therefore, the Company used the
average rate of the first two outstanding leases mentioned above, which is 5.70%. The lease has a renewal option of two additional periods of five years each.

 
The renewal periods were not included in the analysis of the right-to-use asset and lease liability as the Company does not consider them to be reasonably certain of

being exercised, as comparable locations could generally be identified for comparable lease rates, without the Company incurring significant costs.
 
Other information related to the Company’s operating leases are as follows:

 

(Amounts in US$’s)  
December 31,

2019  
ROU Asset – January 10, 2019  $ 116,876 

Increase   2,300,580 
Amortization   (217,774)

ROU Asset – December 31, 2019  $ 2,199,682 

     
Lease liability – January 10, 2019  $ 116,876 

Increase   2,300,580 
Amortization   (204,908)

Lease liability – December 31, 2019  $ 2,212,548 

     
Lease liability – short term  $ 467,979 
Lease liability – long term   1,744,569 
Lease liability – total  $ 2,212,548 

 
As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s operating leases had a weighted-average remaining lease term of 4.56 years and a weighted average discount rate of 6.50%.

 
The table below reconciles the fixed component of the undiscounted cash flows for each of the first five years and the total remaining years to the lease liabilities recorded

on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2019:
 

(Amounts in US$’s)  
Operating

Leases  
Amounts due within twelve months of December 31,     
2020  $ 557,200 
2021   521,067 
2022   431,146 
2023   434,736 
2024   389,917 
Thereafter   177,735 
Total minimum lease payments   2,511,801 

Less: effect of discounting   (299,253)
Present value of future minimum lease payments   2,212,548 

Less: current obligations under leases   (467,979)
Long-term lease obligations  $ 1,744,569 
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18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
  

From time to time, the Company may become involved in various lawsuits and legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business. Management does not
believe that after the final disposition any of these matters is likely to have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows,
except as follows.

 
On May 22, 2020, Michael Powell filed suit against DragonWave-X, LLC, DragonWave-X, Inc., Transform-X, Inc., ComSovereign Corp, and the Company in the Pima

County Arizona Superior Court, Case No. C20202216. Mr. Powell has alleged that he entered into an employment agreement with DragonWave-X, Inc. in July 2018, was terminated
without cause in May 2019, and is owed approximately $182,000 in wages and $50,000 in bonuses. Mr. Powell is seeking approximately $697,000 in treble damages, punitive
damages, consequential damages, interest and attorneys’ fees and costs. The Company disputes Mr. Powell’s allegations and intends to vigorously defend the lawsuit.

 
On February 7, 2020, DragonWave agreed to repurchase inventory held by Tessco Technologies Incorporated (“Tessco”), one of DragonWave’s customers and note

holders. Upon receipt of the inventory, which is valued at $121,482, DragonWave agreed to reimburse Tessco $56,766, representing the balance due after making the initial payment
of $60,000. The return of inventory and payment to Tessco of $56,776 was required by February 28, 2020, but has not yet been made. On June 5, 2020, Tessco filed a complaint for
confessed judgment against DragonWave in the Circuit Court for Baltimore, Maryland, Case No. 5539212, for approximately $60,000, which it claims is the reimbursement amount.
The Company does not intend to oppose the entry of this judgment.

 
19. CONCENTRATIONS
 

Financial instruments, which potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of trade accounts receivable. The Company performs
ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and generally does not require collateral related to its trade accounts receivable. At December 31, 2019, accounts receivable from one
customer comprised 84% of the Company’s total trade accounts receivable, and none of this balance has been characterized as uncollectible as of December 31, 2019.
 
20. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
 

Management evaluated for subsequent events requiring disclosure within the financial statements through the date of the filing of this report and noted the following
items.
 
Pending Corporate Transaction
 
Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization
 

On May 21, 2020, the Company signed an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization to acquire Virtual Network Communications, Inc. (“VNC”), a developer of
fixed and mobile broadband communications solutions for wireless networks operated by commercial, enterprise, government and defense customers. The acquisition is expected
to be completed on or before July 6, 2020, subject to satisfactory completion of closing conditions.

 
Acquisitions
 

On March 6, 2020, the Company’s subsidiary, Sovereign Plastics, LLC (“Sovereign Plastics”), entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement to acquire 100% of the shares of
common stock of Spring Creek Manufacturing, Inc. for a purchase price of $500,000. The acquisition closed on March 6, 2020 with Sovereign Plastics paying the purchase price
through the assumption of the obligations of the sellers under an outstanding promissory note in the principal amount of $90,000 and the delivery of short-term promissory notes
in the aggregate principal amount of $410,000. Additionally, Sovereign Plastics agreed to pay certain sales commissions on all sales to two specific customers.

 
On March 6, 2020, in a related transaction, Sovereign Plastics also entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with Fast Plastics Parts, LLC (“Fast Plastics”) to acquire

certain assets, consisting primarily of machinery, equipment and furniture of Fast Plastics. The acquisition also closed on March 6, 2020 with Sovereign Plastics providing the
purchase price of approximately $1,464,000 by the payment of approximately $66,000 in cash, the repayment of outstanding indebtedness of Fast Plastics in the aggregate amount
of $250,000 and the assumption of an outstanding term loan of Fast Plastics in the amount of approximately $979,000. Sovereign Plastics also assumed equipment leases.

 
The cash portions of the purchase prices were funded by the sale to unaffiliated lenders of promissory notes in the principal amount of $500,000 that mature on September

4, 2020 and 50,000 shares of common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $450,000.
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2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan
 

On April 22, 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the 2020 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”) which was approved by the stockholders on or about
May 6, 2020. Employees, officers, directors and consultants that provide services to the Company or one of its subsidiaries may be selected to receive awards under the 2020 Plan.
Awards under the 2020 Plan may be in the form of incentive or nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock bonuses, restricted stock, stock units and other forms of
awards including cash awards and performance-based awards.

 
A total of 10,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock are authorized for issuance with respect to awards granted under the 2020 Plan. Any shares subject to

awards that are not paid, delivered or exercised before they expire or are cancelled or terminated, or fail to vest, as well as shares used to pay the purchase or exercise price of
awards or related tax withholding obligations, will become available for other award grants under the 2020 Plan. No stock grants have been issued under the 2020 Plan, and
10,000,000 shares authorized under the 2020 Plan remained available for award purposes.

 
The 2020 Plan will terminate on May 1, 2030. The maximum term of options, stock appreciation rights and other rights to acquire common stock under the 2020 Plan is ten

years after the initial date of the award.
 
Debt Agreements

 
On February 26, 2020, the Company entered into a $600,000 secured business loan bearing interest at 81.74% per annum that matures on December 26, 2020. Principal and

interest payments of $19,429 are due weekly. The loan is secured by the assets of the Company.
 
On March 19, 2020, the Company entered into a note payable with the Nussbaum estate in the amount of $2,022,722 bearing interest at 5% per annum with a maturity date

of August 31, 2020. Interest payments of $8,428 are due monthly while the full principal amount is due at maturity. The proceeds of the note payable were used to repay the balance
of the CNB Note.
 

On April 29, 2020, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement pursuant to which it issued a convertible promissory note in the principal amount of $285,714
with an original issue discount of $35,714 and warrants to purchase 158,730 shares of the Company’s common stock for proceeds of $250,000. The note bears interest at a rate of
12.5% per annum and matures on January 29, 2021. Within three business days of filing the Annual Report for fiscal 2019, the investor is required to issue, and the Company is
required accept, an additional convertible promissory note in the principal amount of $285,714 with an original issue discount of $35,714 along with warrants to purchase an
additional 158,730 shares of the Company’s common stock for proceeds of $250,000. This note will bear interest at 12.5% per annum and mature on January 29, 2021. The investor
will not be required to purchase the additional securities if the Company is in default under the outstanding notes or if certain other conditions are not met.

 
On May 29, 2020, DragonWave issued a promissory note in the principal amount of $290,000 with an original issue discount of $40,000 for proceeds of $250,000. The note

matures on September 30, 2020 and will bear interest at the rate of 12% per annum on any principal balance not paid from the maturity date until paid in full. The promissory note is
guaranteed by the Company and Mr. Hodges.

 
Payroll Protection Program of the CARES Act

 
During April and May 2020, the Company and its subsidiaries received an aggregate of $455,185 under the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) of the Coronavirus Aid,

Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) of 2020. These loans are to cover 24 weeks of payroll expenses and may be used for a variety of other needs such as: payroll
costs, salaries or commissions, rent, utilities and interest on other outstanding debt. Management believes it is complying with the rules for forgiveness of these funds received
under the PPP of the CARES Act.

 
Consulting Agreement

 
On January 31, 2020, the Company entered into an agreement with a consultant to its subsidiary, Lextrum, to amend a consulting agreement between the consultant and

Lextrum to allow the consultant to elect to take from 50% to 100% of his compensation in the form of common stock of the Company. Common stock to be issued to the consultant
will be paid on a quarterly basis. On March 12, 2020, the Company issued 165,095 shares of its common stock in satisfaction of $106,238 that was owed by Lextrum to the
consultant for services previously rendered and the additional $106,238 that was owed by Lextrum was partially paid in cash of $55,000 on March 6, 2020. The remaining $51,238 is
still outstanding. To date, no additional shares of common stock have been issued pursuant to this agreement.
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Exhibit 3.1
 

RESTATED ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION
OF

COMSOVEREIGN HOLDING CORP.
a Nevada Corporation

 
May 12, 2020

 
Pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 78.403 of the Nevada Revised Statutes (the “Nevada Corporations Act”), the undersigned corporation adopts the following

Restated Articles of Incorporation of COMSovereign Holding Corp (previously Drone Aviation Holding Corp.) The original Articles of Incorporation of the Corporation (as
amended or restated, the “Articles of Incorporation”) was filed by the Secretary of State of the State of Nevada on April 17, 2014.

 
This certificate correctly sets forth the text of the Articles of Incorporation to the date first written above. The Articles of Incorporation are being restated only and are

signed by an officer of the corporation who has been authorized to execute the certificate by resolution of the board of directors and majority of the stockholders adopted on May
6, 2020.

 
The text of the Articles of Incorporation is hereby restated without any amendment or change to read in full as follows:

 
ARTICLE I

NAME
 

The name of the corporation is COMSovereign Holding Corp. (the “Corporation”).
 

ARTICLE II
RESIDENT AGENT AND REGISTERED OFFICE

 
The name of the Corporation’s resident agent for service of process is Registered Agent Solutions, Inc., whose registered office for service of process is located at 4625

West Nevso Drive Suite 2, Las Vegas, NV 89103.
 

ARTICLE III
CAPITAL STOCK

 
3.01       Authorized Capital Stock. The total number of shares of stock this Corporation is authorized to issue shall be four hundred million (400,000,000) shares,

par value $.0001 per share. This stock shall be divided into two classes to be designated as “Common Stock” and “Blank Check Preferred Stock” (“Preferred Stock”).

3.02       Common Stock The total number of authorized shares of Common Stock shall be three hundred million (300,000,000).
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3.03       Blank Check Preferred Stock The total number of authorized shares of Preferred Stock shall be one hundred million (100,000,000) shares. The board of
directors shall have the authority to authorize the issuance of the Preferred Stock from time to time in one or more classes or series, and to state in the resolution or
resolutions from time to time adopted providing for the issuance thereof the following:

(a)                Whether or not the class or series shall have voting rights, full or limited, the nature and qualifications, limitations and restrictions on those
rights, or whether the class or series will be without voting rights;

(c)                The number of shares to constitute the class or series and the designation thereof;

(d)               The preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights, if any, and the qualifications, limitations, or restrictions thereof; if
any, with respect to any class or series;

(e)                Whether or not the shares of any class or series shall be redeemable and if redeemable, the redemption price or prices, and the time or times
at which, and the terms and conditions upon which, such shares shall be redeemable and the manner of redemption;

(f)                 Whether or not the shares of a class or series shall be subject to the operation of retirement or sinking funds to be applied to the purchase
or redemption of such shares for retirement, and if such retirement or sinking funds be established, the amount and the terms and provisions thereof;

(g)               The dividend rate, whether dividends are payable in cash, stock of the Corporation, or other property, the conditions upon which and the
times when such dividends are payable, the preference to or the relation to the payment of dividends payable on any other class or classes or series of stock,
whether or not such dividend shall be cumulative or noncumulative, and if cumulative, the date or dates from which such dividends shall accumulate;

(h)               The preferences, if any, and the amounts thereof which the holders of any class or series thereof are entitled to receive upon the voluntary or
involuntary dissolution of, or upon any distribution of assets of, the Corporation;

(i)                 Whether or not the shares of any class or series are convertible into, or exchangeable for, the shares of any other class or classes or of any
other series of the same or any other class or classes of stock of the Corporation and the conversion price or prices or ratio or ratios or the rate or rates at which
such exchange may be made, with such adjustments, if any, as shall be stated and expressed or provided for in such resolution or resolutions; and

(j)                 Such other rights and provisions with respect to any class or series as may to the board of directors seem advisable.
 
The shares of each class or series of the Preferred Stock may vary from the shares of any other class or series thereof in any respect. The Board of Directors may increase

the number of shares of the Preferred Stock designated for any existing class or series by a resolution adding to such class or series authorized and unissued shares of the
Preferred Stock not designated for any existing class or series of the Preferred Stock and the shares so subtracted shall become authorized, unissued and undesignated shares of
the Preferred Stock.
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ARTICLE IV
DIRECTORS

 
The number of directors comprising the board of directors shall be fixed and may be increased or decreased from time to time in the manner provided in the bylaws of the

Corporation, except that at no time shall there be less than one director.
 

ARTICLE V
PURPOSE

 
The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the Nevada Corporation Act.
 

ARTICLE VI
DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY

 
The individual liability of the directors and officers of the Corporation is hereby eliminated to the fullest extent permitted by the Nevada Corporation Act, as the same may

be amended and supplemented. Any repeal or modification of this Article by the stockholders of the Corporation shall be prospective only, and shall not adversely affect any
limitation on the personal liability of a director or officer of the Corporation for acts or omissions prior to such repeal or modification.

 
ARTICLE VII
INDEMNITY

 
Every person who was or is a party to, or is threatened to be made a party to, or is involved in any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or

investigative, by reason of the fact that he, or a person of whom he is the legal representative, is or was a director or officer of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of
the Corporation as a director or officer of another corporation, or as its representative in a partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, shall be indemnified and held
harmless to the fullest extent legally permissible under the laws of the State of Nevada from time to time against all expenses, liability and loss (including attorneys’ fees,
judgments, fines and amounts paid or to be paid in settlement) reasonably incurred or suffered by him in connection therewith. Such right of indemnification shall be a contract
right which may be enforced in any manner desired by such person. The expenses of officers and directors incurred in defending a civil or criminal action, suit or proceeding must
be paid by the Corporation as they are incurred and in advance of the final disposition of the action, suit or proceeding, upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the
director or officer to repay the amount if it is ultimately determined by a court of competent jurisdiction that he is not entitled to be indemnified by the Corporation. Such right of
indemnification shall not be exclusive of any other right which such directors, officers or representatives may have or hereafter acquire, and, without limiting the generality of such
statement, they shall be entitled to their respective rights of indemnification under any bylaw, agreement, vote of stockholders, provision of law, or otherwise, as well as their rights
under this Article.

 
Without limiting the application of the foregoing, the board of directors may adopt bylaws from time to time with respect to indemnification, to provide at all times the

fullest indemnification permitted by the laws of the State of Nevada, and may cause the Corporation to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a
director or officer of the Corporation, or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as director or officer of another corporation, or as its representative in a partnership,
joint venture, trust or other enterprises against any liability asserted against such person and incurred in any such capacity or arising out of such status, whether or not the
Corporation would have the power to indemnify such person.

 
The indemnification provided in this Article shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent, and shall inure to the benefit of the

heirs, executors and administrators of such person.
 
 

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS HEREOF, the undersigned has executed these Restated Articles of Incorporation as of the date first written above.
 
 By: /s/ Kevin M. Sherlock
  Name: Kevin M. Sherlock

Title: Secretary
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ARTICLE I
OFFICES

 
Section 1.1. Registered Office. The registered office and registered agent of COMSovereign Holding Corp. (the “Corporation”) shall be as from time to time set forth in the

Corporation’s Articles of Incorporation.
 

Section 1.2. Other Offices. The Corporation may also have offices at such other places, both within and without the State of Nevada, as the Board of Directors may from
time to time determine or the business of the Corporation may require.
 

ARTICLE II
STOCKHOLDERS

 
Section 2.1. Place of Meetings. All meetings of the stockholders for the election of Directors shall be held at such place, within or without the State of Nevada, as may be

fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors. Meetings of stockholders for any other purpose may be held at such time and place, within or without the State of Nevada, as
shall be stated in the notice of the meeting or in a duly executed waiver of notice thereof.
 

Section 2.2. Annual Meeting. An annual meeting of the stockholders shall be held at such time as may be determined by the Board of Directors, at which meeting the
stockholders shall elect a Board of Directors and transact such other business as may properly be brought before the meeting.
 

Section 2.3. List of Stockholders. At least ten days before each meeting of stockholders, a complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at such meeting, arranged in
alphabetical order, with the address of and the number of voting shares registered in the name of each, shall be prepared by the officer or agent having charge of the stock transfer
books. Such list shall be kept on file at the registered office of the Corporation for a period of ten days prior to such meeting and shall be subject to inspection by any stockholder
at any time during usual business hours. Such list shall be produced and kept open at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof, and shall be subject to the
inspection of any stockholder who may be present.
 

Section 2.4. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the stockholders, for any purpose or purposes, unless otherwise prescribed by law, by the Articles of Incorporation or
by these Bylaws, may be called by the Chief Executive Officer (if any) or the President or the Board of Directors. Business transacted at all special meetings shall be confined to the
purposes stated in the notice of the meeting unless all stockholders entitled to vote are present and consent.
 

Section 2.5. Notice. Written or printed notice stating the place, day and hour of any meeting of the stockholders and, in case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes
for which the meeting is called, shall be delivered not less than ten nor more than sixty days before the date of the meeting, either personally or by mail, by or at the direction of the
Chief Executive Officer (if any), the President, the Secretary, or the officer or person calling the meeting, to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting. If mailed, such
notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the mail, addressed to the stockholder at his address as it appears on the stock transfer books and records of the
Corporation or its transfer agent, with postage thereon prepaid.
 

Section 2.6. Quorum. At all meetings of the stockholders, the presence in person or by proxy of the holders of a majority of the shares issued and outstanding and entitled
to vote shall be necessary and sufficient to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business except as otherwise provided by law, by the Articles of Incorporation or by these
Bylaws. If, however, such quorum shall not be present or represented at any meeting of the stockholders, the stockholders entitled to vote thereat, present in person or
represented by proxy, shall have power to adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present or
represented. If the adjournment is for more than 30 days, or if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the adjourned meeting, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be
given to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting. At such adjourned meeting at which a quorum shall be present or represented, any business may be transacted
which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally notified.
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Section 2.7. Voting. When a quorum is present at any meeting of the Corporation’s stockholders, the vote of the holders of a majority of the shares having voting power
present in person or represented by proxy at such meeting shall decide any questions brought before such meeting, unless the question is one upon which, by express provision
of law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, a different vote is required, in which case such express provision shall govern and control the decision of such question. The
stockholders present at a duly organized meeting may continue to transact business until adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough stockholders to leave less than
a quorum.
 

Section 2.8. Method of Voting. Each outstanding share of the Corporation’s capital stock shall be entitled to one vote on each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of
stockholders, except to the extent that the voting rights of the shares of any class or classes are otherwise provided by applicable law or the Articles of Incorporation, as amended
from time to time. At any meeting of the stockholders, every stockholder having the right to vote shall be entitled to vote in person or by proxy appointed by an instrument in
writing subscribed by such stockholder or by his duly authorized attorney-in-fact and bearing a date not more than 6 months prior to such meeting, unless such instrument
provides for a longer period. Each proxy shall be revocable unless expressly provided therein to be irrevocable and if, and only so long as, it is coupled with an interest sufficient in
law to support an irrevocable power. Such proxy shall be filed with the Secretary of the Corporation prior to or at the time of the meeting. Voting for directors shall be in accordance
with Article III of these Bylaws. Voting on any question or in any election may be by voice vote or show of hands unless the presiding officer shall order or any stockholder shall
demand that voting be by written ballot.
 

Section 2.9. Record Date; Closing Transfer Books. The Board of Directors may fix in advance a record date for the purpose of determining stockholders entitled to notice
of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders, such record date to be not less than ten nor more than sixty days prior to such meeting, or the Board of Directors may close the stock
transfer books for such purpose for a period of not less than ten nor more than sixty days prior to such meeting. In the absence of any action by the Board of Directors, the date
upon which the notice of the meeting is mailed shall be the record date.
 

Section 2.10. Action By Written Consent. Any action required or permitted by law, the Articles of Incorporation, or these Bylaws to be taken at a meeting of the
stockholders of the Corporation may be taken without a meeting if a consent or consents in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by stockholders holding at
least a majority of the voting power; provided that if a different proportion of voting power is required for such an action at a meeting, then that proportion of written consents is
required. Such signed consent shall be delivered to the Secretary for inclusion in the Minute Book of the Corporation.
 

ARTICLE III
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

 
Section 3.1. Management. The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board of Directors, who may exercise all such

powers of the Corporation and do all such lawful acts and things as are not by law, the Articles of Incorporation, a stockholders’ agreement or these Bylaws directed or required to
be exercised or done by the stockholders.
 

Section 3.2. Qualification; Election; Term. None of the directors need be a stockholder of the Corporation or a resident of the State of Nevada. The directors shall be
elected by plurality vote at the annual meeting of the stockholders, except as hereinafter provided, and each director elected shall hold office until his successor shall be elected
and qualified.
 

Section 3.3. Number. The number of directors of the Corporation shall be fixed as the Board of Directors may from time to time designate. No decrease in the number of
directors shall have the effect of shortening the term of any incumbent director.
 

Section 3.4. Removal. Any director may be removed either for or without cause at any special meeting of stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the
voting power of the issued and outstanding stock entitled to vote; provided, however, that notice of intention to act upon such matter shall have been given in the notice calling
such meeting.
 

Section 3.5. Vacancies. Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors by death, resignation, removal or otherwise may be filled by an affirmative vote of at least a
majority of the remaining directors though less than a quorum of the Board of Directors. A director elected to fill a vacancy shall be elected for the unexpired term of his
predecessor in office. A directorship to be filled by reason of an increase in the number of directors may be filled by the Board of Directors for a term of office only until the next
election of one or more directors by the stockholders.
 

Section 3.6. Place of Meetings. Meetings of the Board of Directors, regular or special, may be held at such place within or without the State of Nevada as may be fixed from
time to time by the Board of Directors.
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Section 3.7. Annual Meeting. The first meeting of each newly elected Board of Directors shall be held without further notice immediately following the annual meeting of
stockholders and at the same place, unless by unanimous consent or unless the directors then elected and serving shall change such time or place.
 

Section 3.8. Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the Board of Directors may be held without notice at such time and place as shall from time to time be determined by
resolution of the Board of Directors.
 

Section 3.9. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the Chief Executive Officer (if any) or President on oral or written notice to each
director, given either personally, by telephone, by telegram or by mail, given at least forty-eight hours prior to the time of the meeting. Special meetings shall be called by the Chief
Executive Officer, President or the Secretary in like manner and on like notice on the written request of a majority of directors. Except as may be otherwise expressly provided by
law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any special meeting need to be specified in a notice or waiver of
notice.
 

Section 3.10. Quorum. At all meetings of the Board of Directors the presence of a majority of the number of directors shall be necessary and sufficient to constitute a
quorum for the transaction of business, and the affirmative vote of at least a majority of the directors present at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the Board
of Directors, except as may be otherwise specifically provided by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws. If a quorum shall not be present at any meeting of directors,
the directors present thereat may adjourn the meeting from time to time without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present.
 

Section 3.11. Interested Directors. No contract or transaction between the Corporation and one or more of its directors or officers, or between the Corporation and any
other corporation, partnership, association, or other organization in which one or more of its directors or officers are directors or officers or have a financial interest, shall be void or
voidable solely for this reason, solely because the director or officer is present at or participates in the meeting of the Board of Directors or committee thereof which authorizes the
contract or transaction, or solely because his or their votes are counted for such purpose, if: (1) the fact as to his relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction is
known to the Board of Directors or the committee, and the Board of Directors or committee in good faith authorizes the contract or transaction by the affirmative vote of a majority
of the disinterested directors, even though the disinterested directors be less than a quorum; or (2) the fact as to his relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction is
known to the stockholders entitled to vote thereon, and the contract or transaction is specifically approved in good faith by vote of the stockholders; or (3) the contract or
transaction is fair as to the Corporation as of the time it is authorized, approved, or ratified by the Board of Directors, a committee thereof, or the stockholders. Common or
interested directors may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Board of Directors or of a committee which authorizes the contract or transaction.
 

Section 3.12. Committees. The Board of Directors may, by resolution passed by a majority of the whole Board of Directors, designate committees, each committee to
consist of two or more directors of the Corporation, which committees shall have such power and authority and shall perform such functions as may be provided in such
resolution. Such committee or committees shall have such name or names as may be designated by the Board of Directors and shall keep regular minutes of their proceedings and
report the same to the Board of Directors when required.
 

Section 3.13. Action by Written Consent. Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee of the Board of Directors
may be taken without such a meeting if a consent or consents in writing, setting forth the action so taken, is signed by all the members of the Board of Directors or such other
committee, as the case may be.
 

Section 3.14. Compensation of Directors. Directors shall receive such compensation for their services, and reimbursement for their expenses as the Board of Directors, by
resolution, shall establish; provided that nothing herein contained shall be construed to preclude any director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving
compensation therefor.
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ARTICLE IV
NOTICE

 
 

Section 4.1. Form of Notice. Whenever required by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, notice is to be given to any director or stockholder, and no
provision is made as to how such notice shall be given, such notice may be given: (a) in writing, by mail, postage prepaid, addressed to such director or stockholder at such
address as appears on the books and records of the Corporation or its transfer agent; or (b) in any other method permitted by law. Any notice required or permitted to be given by
mail shall be deemed to be given at the time when the same shall be deposited in the United States mail.
 

Section 4.2. Waiver. Whenever any notice is required to be given to any stockholder or director of the Corporation as required by law, the Articles of Incorporation or
these Bylaws, a waiver thereof in writing signed by the person or persons entitled to such notice, whether before or after the time stated in such notice, shall be equivalent to the
giving of such notice. Attendance of a stockholder or director at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where such stockholder or director attends
for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the ground that the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.
 

ARTICLE V
OFFICERS AND AGENTS

 
Section 5.1. In General. The officers of the Corporation shall be elected by the Board of Directors and shall be a President, a Treasurer, and a Secretary. The Board of

Directors may also elect a Chairman of the Board of Directors, a Chief Executive Officer, a Chief Operating Officer, a Chief Financial Officer, and one or more Vice Presidents,
Assistant Vice Presidents, Assistant Secretaries and Assistant Treasurers. Any two or more offices may be held by the same person.
 

Section 5.2. Election. The Board of Directors, at its first meeting after each annual meeting of stockholders, shall elect the officers, none of whom need be a member of the
Board of Directors.
 

Section 5.3. Other Officers and Agents. The Board of Directors may also elect and appoint such other officers and agents as it shall deem necessary, who shall be elected
and appointed for such terms and shall exercise such powers and perform such duties as shall be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors.
 

Section 5.4. Salaries. The salaries of all officers and agents of the Corporation shall be fixed by the Board of Directors or any committee of the Board of Directors, if so
authorized by the Board of Directors.
 

Section 5.5. Term of Office and Removal. Each officer of the Corporation shall hold office until his death, or his resignation or removal from office, or the election and
qualification of his successor, whichever shall first occur. Any officer or agent elected or appointed by the Board of Directors may be removed at any time, for or without cause, by
the affirmative vote of a majority of the whole Board of Directors, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed. If the office
of any officer becomes vacant for any reason, the vacancy may be filled by the Board of Directors.
 

Section 5.6. Employment and Other Contracts. The Board of Directors may authorize any officer or officers or agent or agents to enter into any contract or execute and
deliver any instrument in the name or on behalf of the Corporation, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances. The Board of Directors may, when it
believes the interest of the Corporation will best be served thereby, authorize executive employment contracts which will contain such terms and conditions as the Board of
Directors deems appropriate.
 

Section 5.7. Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Chairman of the Board of Directors, subject to the direction of the Board of Directors, shall perform such executive,
supervisory and management functions and duties as from time to time may be assigned to him or her by the Board of Directors. The Chairman of the Board of Directors shall
preside at all meetings of the stockholders of the Corporation and all meetings of the Board of Directors.
 

Section 5.8. Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer shall have general and active management of the business of the Corporation and shall see that all orders
and resolutions of the Board of Directors are carried into effect. The Chief Executive Officer shall preside at all meetings of the stockholders of the Corporation and all meetings of
the Board of Directors in the absence of the Chairman of the Board of Directors.
 

Section 5.9. President. The President shall be subject to the direction of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer (if any), and shall have general charge of the
business, affairs and property of the Corporation and general supervision over its other officers and agents. The President shall see that the officers carry all orders and
resolutions of the Board of Directors into effect. The President shall execute all authorized conveyances, contracts, or other obligations in the name of the Corporation except
where required by law to be otherwise signed and executed and except where the signing and execution shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Directors to another officer or
agent of the Corporation or reserved to the Board of Directors or any committee thereof. The President shall preside at all meetings of the stockholders of the Corporation and all
meetings of the Board of Directors in the absence of the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer. The President shall perform all duties incident to the
office of the President and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time.
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Section 5.10. Chief Operating Officer. The Chief Operating Officer shall be subject to the direction of the Chief Executive Officer (if any), the President and the Board of
Directors and shall have day-to-day managerial responsibility for the operation of the Corporation.
 

Section 5.11. Chief Financial Officer. The Chief Financial Officer shall be subject to the direction of the Chief Executive Officer (if any), the President and the Board of
Directors and shall have day-to-day managerial responsibility for the finances of the Corporation.
 

Section 5.12. Vice Presidents. Each Vice President shall have such powers and perform such duties as the Board of Directors or any committee thereof may from time to
time prescribe, or as the President may from time to time delegate to him. In the absence or disability of the President, any Vice President may perform the duties and exercise the
powers of the President.
 

Section 5.13. Secretary. The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the stockholders and record all votes and the minutes of all proceedings in a book to be kept for that
purpose. The Secretary shall perform like duties for the Board of Directors when required. He shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of the stockholders and special
meetings of the Board of Directors and shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors under whose supervision he shall be. He shall keep in safe
custody the seal of the Corporation. He shall be under the supervision of the President. He shall perform such other duties and have such other authority and powers as the Board
of Directors may from time to time prescribe or as the President may from time to time delegate.
 

Section 5.14. Assistant Secretaries. Each Assistant Secretary shall have such powers and perform such duties as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe or
as the President may from time to time delegate to him.
 

Section 5.15. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall have the custody of all corporate funds and securities, shall keep full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements of
the Corporation, and shall deposit all moneys and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Corporation in such depositories as may be designated by the Board of
Directors. He shall disburse the funds of the Corporation as may be ordered by the Board of Directors, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, shall render to the
Directors, at the regular meetings of the Board of Directors, or whenever they may require it, an account of all his transactions as Treasurer and of the financial condition of the
Corporation, and shall perform such other duties as the Board of Directors may prescribe or the President may from time to time delegate.
 

Section 5.16. Assistant Treasurers. Each Assistant Treasurer shall have such powers and perform such duties as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe or
as the President may from time to time delegate to him.
 

Section 5.17. Bonding. If required by the Board of Directors, all or certain of the officers shall give the Corporation a bond, in such form, in such sum, and with such surety
or sureties as shall be satisfactory to the Board of Directors, for the faithful performance of the duties of their office and for the restoration to the Corporation, in case of their
death, resignation, retirement or removal from office, of all books, papers, vouchers, money and other property of whatever kind in their possession or under their control
belonging to the Corporation.
 

ARTICLE VI
CERTIFICATES OF SHARES

 
Section 6.1. Form of Certificates. The Corporation may, but is not required to, deliver to each stockholder a certificate or certificates, in such form as may be determined by

the Board of Directors, representing shares to which the stockholder is entitled. Such certificates shall be consecutively numbered and shall be registered on the books and records
the Corporation or its transfer agent as they are issued. Each certificate shall state on the face thereof the holder’s name, the number, class of shares, and the par value of such
shares or a statement that such shares are without par value.
 

Section 6.2. Shares without Certificates. The Board of Directors may authorize the issuance of uncertificated shares of some or all of the shares of any or all of its classes
or series. The issuance of uncertificated shares has no effect on existing certificates for shares until surrendered to the Corporation, or on the respective rights and obligations of
the stockholders. Unless otherwise provided by the Nevada Revised Statutes, the rights and obligations of stockholders are identical whether or not their shares of stock are
represented by certificates. Within a reasonable time after the issuance or transfer of uncertificated shares, the Corporation shall send the stockholder a written statement
containing the information required on the certificates pursuant to Section 6.1.
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Section 6.3. Lost Certificates. The Board of Directors may direct that a new certificate be issued, or that uncertificated shares be issued, in place of any certificate
theretofore issued by the Corporation alleged to have been lost or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming the certificate to be lost or
destroyed. When authorizing such issue of a new certificate or uncertificated shares, the Board of Directors, in its discretion and as a condition precedent to the issuance thereof,
may require the owner of such lost or destroyed certificate, or his legal representative, to advertise the same in such manner as it shall require and/or to give the Corporation a
bond, in such form, in such sum, and with such surety or sureties as it may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against the Corporation with respect to the
certificate alleged to have been lost or destroyed. When a certificate has been lost, apparently destroyed or wrongfully taken, and the holder of record fails to notify the
Corporation within a reasonable time after he has notice of it, and the Corporation registers a transfer of the shares represented by the certificate before receiving such notification,
the holder of record is precluded from making any claim against the Corporation for the transfer or a new certificate or uncertificated shares.
 

Section 6.4. Transfer of Shares. Shares of stock shall be transferable only on the books of the Corporation or its transfer agent by the holder thereof in person or by his
duly authorized attorney. Upon surrender to the Corporation or the transfer agent of the Corporation of a certificate representing shares duly endorsed or accompanied by proper
evidence of succession, assignment or authority to transfer, it shall be the duty of the Corporation or the transfer agent of the Corporation to issue a new certificate to the person
entitled thereto, cancel the old certificate and record the transaction upon its books.
 

Section 6.5. Registered Stockholders. The Corporation shall be entitled to treat the holder of record of any share or shares of stock as the holder in fact thereof and,
accordingly, shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in such share or shares on the part of any other person, whether or not it shall have express
or other notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by law.
 

ARTICLE VII
GENERAL PROVISIONS

 
Section 7.1. Dividends. Dividends upon the outstanding shares of the Corporation, subject to the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation, if any, may be declared by

the Board of Directors at any regular or special meeting. Dividends may be declared and paid in cash, in property, or in shares of the Corporation, subject to the provisions of the
Nevada Revised Statutes and the Articles of Incorporation. The Board of Directors may fix in advance a record date for the purpose of determining stockholders entitled to receive
payment of any dividend, such record date to be not more than sixty days prior to the payment date of such dividend, or the Board of Directors may close the stock transfer books
for such purpose for a period of not more than sixty days prior to the payment date of such dividend. In the absence of any action by the Board of Directors, the date upon which
the Board of Directors adopts the resolution declaring such dividend shall be the record date.
 

Section 7.2. Reserves. There may be created by resolution of the Board of Directors out of the surplus of the Corporation such reserve or reserves as the directors from
time to time, in their discretion, think proper to provide for contingencies, or to equalize dividends, or to repair or maintain any property of the Corporation, or for such other
purpose as the directors shall think beneficial to the Corporation, and the directors may modify or abolish any such reserve in the manner in which it was created. Surplus of the
Corporation to the extent so reserved shall not be available for the payment of dividends or other distributions by the Corporation.
 

Section 7.3. Telephone and Similar Meetings. Stockholders, directors and committee members may participate in and hold a meeting by means of conference telephone or
similar communications equipment by which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other. Participation in such a meeting shall constitute presence in person at the
meeting, except where a person participates in the meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the ground that the meeting is not lawfully
called or convened.
 

Section 7.4. Books and Records. The Corporation shall keep correct and complete books and records of account and minutes of the proceedings of its stockholders and
Board of Directors, and shall keep at its registered office or principal place of business, or at the office of its transfer agent or registrar, a record of its stockholders, giving the
names and addresses of all stockholders and the number and class of the shares held by each.
 

Section 7.5. Checks and Notes. All checks or demands for money and notes of the Corporation shall be signed by such officer or officers or such other person or persons
as the Board of Directors may from time to time designate.
 

Section 7.6. Loans. No loans shall be contracted on behalf of the Corporation and no evidence of indebtedness shall be issued in its name unless authorized by a
resolution of the Board of Directors. Such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.
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Section 7.7. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be fixed, and shall be subject to change, by the Board of Directors.
 

Section 7.8. Seal. The Corporation may have a seal, and such seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or affixed or reproduced or otherwise.
Any officer of the Corporation shall have authority to affix the seal to any document requiring it.
 

Section 7.9. Indemnification. The Corporation shall indemnify its directors to the fullest extent permitted by the Nevada Revised Statutes and may, if and to the extent
authorized by the Board of Directors, so indemnify its officers and any other person whom it has the power to indemnify against liability, reasonable expense or other matter
whatsoever.
 

Section 7.10. Insurance. The Corporation may at the discretion of the Board of Directors purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who holds or who has
held any position identified in Section 7.9 against any and all liability incurred by such person in any such position or arising out of his status as such.
 

Section 7.11. Resignation. Any director, officer or agent may resign by giving written notice to the President or the Secretary. Such resignation shall take effect at the time
specified therein or immediately if no time is specified therein. Unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.
 

Section 7.12. Amendment of Bylaws. These Bylaws may be altered, amended or repealed at any meeting of the Board of Directors at which a quorum is present, by the
affirmative vote of a majority of the Directors present at such meeting.
 

Section 7.13. Invalid Provisions. If any part of these Bylaws shall be held invalid or inoperative for any reason, the remaining parts, so far as possible and reasonable, shall
be valid and operative.
 

Section 7.14. Relation to Articles of Incorporation. These Bylaws are subject to, and governed by, the Articles of Incorporation.
 

***
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APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 6th day of May, 2020
 
 
/s/ Kevin M. Sherlock                        
Kevin M. Sherlock
General Counsel and Secretary
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Exhibit 4.10
 

OID PROMISSORY NOTE
 
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: $500,000 ISSUE DATE: March 5, 2020
PURCHASE PRICE: $450,000  
ORIGINAL ISSUE DISCOUNT: $50,000  
 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned, SOVEREIGN PLASTICS, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company, having an address at 5000 Quorum Drive STE 400,
Dallas, TX 75254 (the “Borrower”), hereby promises to pay to the order of MARK VANDERBEEK, a Canadian citizen, having an address at Unit 105 – Benton Street, Kitchener,
Ontario, Canada N2G 3H6 (the “Lender”), the principal sum of

 
FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS and 00/100 ($500,000.00)

 
Any amount of principal on this Note which is not paid on the or before the Maturity Date shall bear interest at the rate of fifteen percent (15%) per annum from the Maturity Date
until the same is paid (“Default Interest Rate”). All such payments shall be made in lawful money of the United States of America to the Lender at the address shown above in
immediately available funds.
 

In lieu of the accrual of interest on the outstanding principal amount hereof on any date prior to the Maturity Date, this Note carries an original issue discount of $50,000
(the “OID”) thus the purchase price of this Note shall be $450,000, computed as follow: $500,000 initial principal balance less the OID.

 
The occurrence of an Event of Default shall entitle the Lender to accelerate the entire indebtedness hereunder and to take such action as may be provided for in any other

instrument or agreement evidencing and/or securing this Note.
 
The Borrower, for itself and its legal representatives, successors and assigns, to the extent it may lawfully do so, hereby expressly waives presentment, demand, protest,

notice of protest, presentment for the purpose of accelerating maturity, diligence in collection, and the benefit of any exemption under the homestead exemption laws, if any, any
other exemption or insolvency laws, and consents that the Lender may release or surrender, exchange or substitute any real or personal property or other collateral security now
held or which may hereafter be held as security for the payment of this Note, and may extend the time for payment or otherwise modify the terms of payment of any part or the
whole of the debt evidenced hereby without in any way affecting the liability of the Borrower hereunder.

 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in no event shall the amount of interest paid or agreed to be paid hereunder exceed the maximum amount of

interest, which the Lender is permitted to receive under applicable law. If, from any circumstances whatsoever, fulfillment of any provision hereof shall require a payment exceeding
such maximum amount, then the obligation to be fulfilled shall automatically be reduced to the limit of such validity and if, from any circumstances, the Lender should ever receive
as interest an amount which would exceed such maximum amount, such amount which would be excessive interest shall be applied to the reduction of the principal balance
evidenced hereby and not the payment of interest.
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No failure or delay on the part of the Lender in exercising any right, power or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of

any such right, power or remedy preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or remedy hereunder. The remedies of the Lender hereunder
are cumulative and not exclusive of any remedies provided by law or otherwise available to the Lender. This Note may not be amended, waived, discharged or terminated orally, but
only by a statement in writing signed by the party against whom enforcement of the amendment, waiver, discharge or termination is sought. Any waiver or consent shall be
effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which given.
 

The Borrower agrees to pay on demand all reasonable costs and expenses (including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and out-of-pocket expenses of legal counsel)
incurred by the Lender in connection with preserving, enforcing or exercising any rights or remedies under this Note, whether or not legal action is instituted. Any fees, expenses
or other charges which the Lender is entitled to receive from the Borrower hereunder shall constitute an obligation of the Borrower pursuant to this Note, and shall, to the extent
actually paid by the Lender, bear interest until paid at the applicable rate set forth herein.
 

The Borrower irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of any New York court or any federal court sitting within the State of New York over any suit, action or
proceeding arising out of or relating to this Note. The Borrower irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any objection which they may now or hereafter have to
the laying of venue of any such suit, action or proceeding brought in such a court and any claim that any such suit, action or proceeding has been brought in an inconvenient
forum.
 

This Note shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, without regard to its principles of conflicts of laws.
 

THE BORROWER HEREBY WAIVES TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY JUDICIAL PROCEEDING TO WHICH IT IS A PARTY INVOLVING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY,
ANY MATTER (WHETHER SOUNDING IN TORT, CONTRACT OR OTHERWISE) IN ANY MANNER ARISING OUT OF, RELATED TO, OR CONNECTED WITH THIS
NOTE OR THE RELATIONSHIP ESTABLISHED HEREUNDER.

 
[Signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower and Guarantors have caused this Note to be executed under their seal by duly authorized officers as of the date first above written.
 

Witness: SOVEREIGN PLASTICS, LLC
 A Colorado limited liability company

 
/s/ Khayal Algosaibi-Jones  By: /s/ Daniel L. Hodges
Name: Khayal Algosaibi-Jones   Name: Daniel L. Hodges
    Its: Executive Chairman
 
 COMSOVEREIGN HOLDING CORP.,

a Nevada corporation
   
 By: /s/ Daniel L. Hodges
  Name: Daniel L. Hodges
  Its: CEO & Chairman
 
 GUARANTOR
   
 By: /s/ Daniel L. Hodges
  Name: Daniel L. Hodges
 
 AGREED:

MARK VANDERBEEK
 Lender
   
 By: /s/ Mark Vanderbeek
  Name: Mark Vanderbeek

 
[Signature Page to Promissory Note dated March 5, 2020]
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Exhibit 10.32
 

STOCK AGREEMENT
 

This STOCK AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is entered into as of March 5, 2020, by and among COMSOVEREIGN HOLDING CORP., a Nevada corporation
(“COMSovereign”) and Mark Vanderbeek, a Canadian resident and citizen, (“Lender”).
 

WHEREAS, COMSovereign has arranged and will benefit directly and indirectly from a loan being provided to COMSovereign’s subsidiary, Sovereign Plastics LLC, by
the Lender in the principal amount of up to FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND DOLLARS and 00/100 ($500,000.00) pursuant to that certain OID Promissory Note of even date herewith
by and between COMSovereign, as parent, Sovereign Plastics, LLC, as borrower, and the Lender, as lender (hereinafter the “Note”); and
 

WHEREAS, as a condition to the agreement of the Lender entering into the Note and the making of the requested Term Loan thereunder, as further consideration for
Lender making the Term Loan, COMSovereign, agreed, on the day of the closing of the Term Loan pursuant to the Note, to sell and issue to Lender Fifty-Thousand (50,000) shares
of the common stock of COMSovereign for the purchase price of One Cent ($0.01) per share (the “Shares”).
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and as further consideration for Lender making the Term Loan and for other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, COMSovereign and Lender agree as follows:
 
1. Delivery of Shares. Upon the date of the closing of the Term Loan contemplated by the Note, Lender shall pay COMSovereign the amount of $500.00 as payment for the Shares.
COMSovereign shall issue and deliver the shares in electronic form into the Lenders book-entry account at the transfer agency. The Shares shall be validly issued, unencumbered
and non-assessable.
 
2. Representations and Warranties of COMsovereign. COMSovereign represents and warrants to Lender that COMSovereign is duly authorized and has obtained all necessary
consents and approvals required by its corporate governance documents, required by applicable law, or, necessary to be obtained from any governmental authorities and third
parties which are required for the valid and binding issuance and delivery of the Shares by COMSovereign to Lender.
 
3. Acknowledgments. COMSovereign hereby acknowledges that (i) a breach of this Agreement shall be a breach of and an event of default under the Note, and, (ii) the Shares
shall be consideration earned by Lender upon Lender entering into the Note.
 
4. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the internal laws of the State of New York, without regard to principles of conflicts of
law. Jurisdiction shall lie in New York with respect to all disputes, controversies, claims, actions and similar proceedings arising under this Agreement and the performance hereof
by either party.

 
SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS

 

 



 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each COMSovereign and Lender have each caused their duly authorized officer, member or manager, as applicable, to be duly executed as of the

date first above written.
 

 COMSOVEREIGN HOLDING CORP.
  
 By: /s/ Daniel L. Hodges
  Name: Daniel L. Hodges
  Title: Chairman and CEO

 
 MARK VANDERBEEK
  
 By: /s/ Mark Vanderbeek
  Name: Mark Vanderbeek

 
 
 

 

 



Exhibit 10.37 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 



 
Exhibit 21.1

 
Direct or indirect subsidiaries of COMSovereign Holding Corp., with jurisdiction of incorporation or formation:

 
· Dragonwave Corp., a Delaware corporation.
· Dragonwave-X Canada, Inc., a British Columbia Canada corporation
· Dragonwave-X, LLC, an Arizona limited liability company.
· Drone AFS Corp., a Nevada corporation.
· ComSovereign Corp., a Delaware corporation.
· Elitise LLC, an Arizona limited liability company.
· InduraPower, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
· Lextrum, Inc., a California corporation.
· Lighter Than Air Systems Corp., d/b/a Drone Aviation Corp, a Florida corporation.
· Silver Bullet Technology, Inc., a Delaware corporation.
· Silver Bullet Technology, LLC, a Delaware LLC.
· Sovereign Plastics, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company.
· Spring Creek Manufacturing, Inc. a Colorado corporation.
· CHC Merger Sub 7, Inc. a Virginia corporation.
· VNC Acquisition, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company.
· VEO, a California corporation.

 



Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Daniel L. Hodges certify that:
 
(1) I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 of COMSovereign Holding Corp. (the “Registrant”);
 
(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light

of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects, the financial condition, results

of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
(4) The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:
 
 (a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material

information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

 
 (b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

 
 (c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
 (d) disclosed in the report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the

Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

 
(5) The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant’s

auditors and the audit committee of Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 (a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
 (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 
Dated: July 5, 2020 By: /s/ Daniel L. Hodges
  Daniel L. Hodges
  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)

 



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Brian T. Mihelich certify that:
 
(1) I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 of COMSovereign Holding Corp. (the “Registrant”);
 
(2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light

of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
(3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects, the financial condition, results

of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
(4) The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-

15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:
 
 (a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material

information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

 
 (b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide

reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

 
 (c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the

disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
 (d) disclosed in the report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the

Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting; and

 
(5) The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant’s

auditors and the audit committee of Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
 (a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely

affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
 (b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting.
 
Dated: July 5, 2020 By: /s/ Brian T. Mihelich
  Brian T. Mihelich
  Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial Officer)

 



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of COMSovereign Holding Corp. (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2019, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Daniel L. Hodges, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
 
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of, and for, the periods

presented in the Report.
 
Dated: July 5, 2020 By: /s/ Daniel L. Hodges
  Daniel L. Hodges
  Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)

 



Exhibit 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of COMSovereign Holding Corp. (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2019, as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Brian T. Mihelich, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
 
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of, and for, the periods

presented in the Report.
 
Dated: July 5, 2020 By: /s/ Brian T. Mihelich
  Brian T. Mihelich
  Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Financial Officer)




